
1  

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD 
FULL BOARD SPECIAL MEETING 

October 12, 2023 
6:00 P.M. 

CITY HALL, HEARING ROOM # 1 
ONE FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA  

OAKLAND, CA 94612 
 

AGENDA 
 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
The public may observe or participate in this meeting in many ways.  
 
OBSERVE: 
• To observe, the public may view the televised video conference by viewing KTOP 
channel 10 on Xfinity (Comcast) or ATT Channel 99 and locating City of Oakland 
KTOP – Channel 10 
• To observe the meeting by video conference, please click on the link below: 
When: Oct 12, 2023 06:00 PM Pacific Time (US and Canada) 
Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84908336316  
Or One tap mobile: +16694449171,,84908336316# US, +16699009128, 
84908336316# US (San Jose) 
Or Telephone: Dial(for higher quality, dial a number based on your current 
location): +1 669 444 9171 US, +1 669 900 9128 US (San Jose), +1 253 205 0468 
US, +1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma), +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston), +1 719 359 
4580 US, +1 689 278 1000 US, +1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC), +1 305 
224 1968 US, +1 309 205 3325 US, +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago), +1 360 209 
5623 US, +1 386 347 5053 US, +1 507 473 4847 US, +1 564 217 2000 US, +1 
646 558 8656 US (New York), +1 646 931 3860 US 
Webinar ID: 849 0833 6316 
International numbers available: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/k3YQEPRZY  
 
The Zoom link is to view/listen to the meeting only, not for participation.   
  
 
PARTICIPATION/COMMENT: 
There is one way to submit public comments: 
• To participate/comment during the meeting, you must attend in-person. 
Comments on all agenda items will be taken during public comment at the 
beginning of the meeting. Comments for items not on the agenda will be taken 
during open forum towards the end of the meeting.  
 
 
If you have any questions, please email hearingsunit@oaklandca.gov 

 

000001



2  

 
HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD MEETING 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
2. ROLL CALL 
3. PUBLIC COMMENT 

a. Comments on all agenda items will be taken at this time. Comments 
for items not on the agenda will be taken during open forum. 

4. CONSENT ITEMS 
a. Approval of Board Minutes, 9/28/2023 (pp. 3-7) 

5. APPEALS* 
a. T23-0019, Barragan et al. v. Mead Holding LLC (pp. 8-113) 
b. T22-0015, Fleurentin v. Meridian Management Group (pp. 

114-281) 
c. T23-0058, Brooks v. Campbell (pp. 282-348) 

6. INFORMATION AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
7. SCHEDULING AND REPORTS 
8. OPEN FORUM 
9.  ADJOURNMENT 

 
*Staff	appeal	summaries	will	be	available	on	the	Rent	Adjustment	Program’s	website	and	the	City	Clerk’s	
office	at	least	48	hours	prior	to	the	meeting	pursuant	to	O.M.C.	2.20.070.B	and	2.20.090	
 
As a reminder, alternates in attendance (other than those replacing an absent board 
member) will not be able to take any action, such as with regard to the consent calendar. 
 
Accessibility:  Contact us to request disability-related accommodations, American Sign 
Language (ASL), Spanish, Cantonese, Mandarin, or another language interpreter at least 
five (5) business days before the event. Rent Adjustment Program (RAP) staff can be 
contacted via email at RAP@oaklandca.gov or via phone at (510) 238-3721. California 
relay service at 711 can also be used for disability-related accommodations.  
  
Si desea solicitar adaptaciones relacionadas con discapacidades, o para pedir un 
intérprete de en Español, Cantones, Mandarín o de lenguaje de señas (ASL) por favor 
envié un correo electrónico a RAP@oaklandca.gov o llame al (510) 238-3721 o 711 por lo 
menos cinco días hábiles antes de la reunión.   
 
需要殘障輔助設施, 手語, 西班牙語, 粵語或國語翻譯服務, 請在會議前五個工作天電
郵  RAP@oaklandca.gov 或致電 (510) 238-3721 或711 California relay service.  
 

000002



 
1  

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD 
FULL BOARD SPECIAL MEETING 

September 28, 2023 
6:00 P.M. 

CITY HALL 
1 FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA, HEARING ROOM #1 

 OAKLAND, CA 94612 

MINUTES  

 1.  CALL TO ORDER 

The Board meeting was administered in-person by B. Lawrence-McGowan from 
the Rent Adjustment Program (RAP), Housing and Community Development 
Department. B. Lawrence-McGowan explained the procedure for conducting the 
meeting. The HRRRB meeting was called to order by Chair Ingram at 6:10 p.m. 
 

 2.  ROLL CALL 

MEMBER STATUS PRESENT ABSENT EXCUSED 
D. WILLIAMS  Tenant  X*   
Vacant Tenant    
J. DEBOER Tenant Alt. X   
M. GOOLSBY Tenant Alt.   X 
D. INGRAM Undesignated X            
C. OSHINUGA  Undesignated  X*            
M. ESCOBAR Undesignated  X   
Vacant Undesignated 

Alt. 
   

Vacant Undesignated 
Alt. 

   

 D. TAYLOR   Landlord            X 
 K. BRODFUEHRER    Landlord X   
 C. JACKSON Landlord Alt. X   
 Vacant Landlord Alt.        
*Vice Chair Oshinuga joined the meeting at 6:12 p.m. 
*Member D. Williams joined the meeting at 6:15 p.m. 

 
Staff Present 

 Kent Qian    Deputy City Attorney 
 Marguerita Fa-Kaji   Senior  Hearing Officer (RAP) 
 Briana Lawrence-McGowan Administrative Analyst II (RAP) 

000003



 
2  

 3.  PUBLIC COMMENT 

a. No members of the public spoke during public comment. 

 4.  CONSENT ITEMS 

a. Approval of Board Minutes, 8/24/2023: Chair Ingram moved to approve 
the Board Minutes from 8/24/2023. Member M. Escobar seconded the 
motion. 

 
The Board voted as follows:  
 

Aye:  D. Ingram, M. Escobar, J. deBoer, K. Brodfuehrer, C. Jackson 
Nay:   None 
Abstain:  None 
 
The minutes were approved. 

 

5. APPEALS* 

a. T22-0113, Reyes Santiago et al. v. Hernandez 

Appearances:  Rafael Hernandez  Owner    
    Alexis Reyes   Tenant Representative 
      
 
This case involved an owner appeal of a tenant petition. The tenant filed a 
petition on June 30, 2022, contesting a series of rent increases from May 
2015 to May 2022 on the basis that the rent increases were unlawful. The 
owner filed an untimely response on September 5, 2022, more than two 
months after petition was filed—claiming the reasons for the rent increases 
were due to costs of labor. The hearing was held on January 17, 2023, and 
the hearing decision was issued in June 2023. The Hearing Officer first 
ruled that the owner did not have good cause for the untimely response—
and therefore, was not allowed to introduce evidence at the hearing. 
However, the owner was allowed to testify and cross examine. 
 
Regarding the RAP notice, the Hearing Officer credited the tenant’s 
testimony that they had never received the RAP notice—despite the 
owner’s claim that the RAP notice was served in February 2016. Since the 
Hearing Officer determined that the RAP notice was never served, all prior 
rent increases were invalidated, and restitution was awarded to the tenant. 
The owner appealed the hearing decision on two grounds. First, the owner 
had good cause for the late response because the tenant never served the 

000004



 
3  

petition. Second, the hearing decision contained inaccuracy that could 
have been corrected if the owner was able to present evidence at the 
hearing.  
 
The owner contended that the reason he did not respond to the tenant’s 
petition is because it was not received. The owner argued that the tenants 
claimed that they dropped the petition in the mail—but he did not get it. The 
owner contended that he has never raised the rent above the CPI. The 
owner argued that regarding the RAP notice, it was served, and that the 
tenants never complained about not receiving it. 
 
The owner argued that when he previously provided the RAP notice, he 
requested for the tenants to sign it—but they refused. The owner 
contended that when he increased the rent and asked for the tenants to 
pay half of the RAP fee they never complained. The owner argued that the 
tenants are only paying $1702 for a full house, that he has completed 
multiple repairs on the property, and that the tenants are paying less than 
what they're supposed to pay. 
 
The tenant representative contended that the petition was mailed to the 
owner’s address in San Francisco and that they have receipts as proof. 
The tenant representative argued that the petition was sent to the same 
address where rent payments are submitted, and that the owner never 
complained about not getting their rent checks. The tenant representative 
contended that regarding the RAP notices, they only received a written 
document from the owner and not the official RAP notice from the City of 
Oakland. The tenant representative contended that when they received the 
most recent rent increase notice, they reached out for legal assistance and 
found out that the previous rent increases were invalid, that the rent was 
being increased incorrectly, and that they weren’t receiving the correct RAP 
notice. 
 
The tenant representative argued that they never questioned the owner 
previously because they thought he knew what he was doing and how to 
handle the rent increase process properly. The tenant representative 
contended that when they saw the official RAP notice from the City of 
Oakland, they realized that what the owner had been giving them was not 
the official RAP notice and that the official RAP notice was different from 
what he had been providing. The tenant representative argued that they 
have resided at the property for ten years but did not feel comfortable 
seeking assistance for this matter because the owner stated that he has 
done this before and because he always gets his way.  
 
 
 

000005



 
4  

The tenant representative contended that the owner has only done repairs 
to half of the house, that he paints over mold, and that there are a lot of 
things wrong with the property. The tenant representative argued that her 
parents did not feel safe enough to try and take the owner to court or to 
reach out to RAP because they were afraid of their residency status being 
exposed and were fearful of being deported. The tenant representative 
contended that she urged her parents to get help because the situation 
was not okay and that she offered to help and support them through the 
process. 

 
After parties’ arguments, questions to the parties, and Board discussion, 
Vice Chair Oshinuga moved to affirm the Hearing Officer’s decision based 
upon substantial evidence. Member C. Jackson seconded the motion.  
 
The Board voted as follows:  

 
Aye:  D. Ingram, C. Oshinuga, M. Escobar, D. Williams, J. deBoer,  

K. Brodfuehrer, C. Jackson 
Nay:   None 
Abstain:  None 
 
The motion was approved. 

 

6. SERVICE BY MAIL REQUIREMENT DISCUSSION 

a. Vice Chair Oshinuga and fellow Board members discussed the current 
service by mail requirement and potentially bringing forth a resolution to 
recommend changes to City Council. 

 
7. INFORMATION AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

a. Chair Ingram asked for a status update on the Board’s tree pins and 
asked if all fellow Board members have completed their doodle poll for 
their availability for the next quarter. 

b. Member K. Brodfuehrer announced that there is a monthly training 
series on fair housing being administered by her day job at the 
California Civil Rights Department and mentioned that this is a resource 
available to the public. 

c. Chair Ingram announced that there is a new program that was 
announced by the county for small property owners to provide mortgage 

000006



 
5  

assistance and foreclosure prevention. The program’s application 
website is www.a1chs.org/fpp .  

8. SCHEDULING AND REPORTS 

a. None 

9. OPEN FORUM 

a. No members of the public spoke during open forum. 

10. ADJOURMENT 

a. The meeting was adjourned at 7:30 p.m. 

000007



CHRONOLOGICAL CASE REPORT 

 

Case No.:      T23-0019   

Case Name:      Barragan et al v. Mead Holding LLC   

Property Address:     2031 69th Avenue, Oakland, CA 94621   

Parties:               Ahmed Said, Mead Holding LLC (Owner) 
      Reyes Ornelas (Tenant) 
      Maria Barragan (Tenant) 
      Gregory Ching (Tenant Representative)    
  
 
 
OWNER APPEAL: 

Activity        Date 

Tenant Petition filed      January 23, 2023  

Property Owner Response filed     February 1, 2023 

Tenant Evidence Submission     February 28, 2023 

Notice of Incomplete Owner Response mailed  February 28, 2023  

Property Owner Email Correspondences   March 3 & 8, 2023 

Administrative Decision mailed     April 6, 2023 

Property Owner Appeal filed     April 18, 2023 

000008



Tenant Brief in Support of Petition submitted  May 2, 2023  

Owner Appeal Supporting Document submitted  May 25, 2023 

000009



000010



000011



000012



000013



000014



000015



000016



000017



000018



000019



000020



000021



000022



000023



000024



000025



000026



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

Exhibit Document Description                   Page Numbers 

T1 Rent Increase Notice (9/24/2022) 2-3

T2 Rent Increase Notice (12/1/2019) 4-10

T3 Rent Payment Receipts 

T4 Property Owner-Tenant Communications 

11-19

20-22

Page 1 of 22 000027



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

 

Exhibit T1 

Page 2 of 22 000028



Page 3 of 22 000029



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

 

Exhibit T2 

Page 4 of 22 000030



Page 5 of 22 000031



Page 6 of 22 000032



Page 7 of 22

000033



Page 8 of 22 000034



Page 9 of 22 000035



Page 10 of 22 000036



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

 

Exhibit T3 

Page 11 of 22 000037



Page 12 of 22 000038



Page 13 of 22 000039



Page 14 of 22

000040



Page 15 of 22

000041



Page 16 of 22 000042



Page 17 of 22 000043



Page 18 of 22 000044



Page 19 of 22 000045



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

Exhibit T� 

Page 20 of 22 000046



Page 21 of 22
000047



Page 22 of 22 000048



 

City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 
 

CITY OF OAKLAND 
RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 
(510) 238-3721 
CA Relay Service 711 
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP 

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 
 
 

 

PROOF OF SERVICE 
 
NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR PETITION OR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY ADDITIONAL 
DOCUMENTS) ON THE OPPOSING PARTIES. 
 

➢ Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner in which service took place, as well as 
the person(s) served.  

➢ Provide a copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the opposing parties together with the document(s) 
served.  

➢ File the completed PROOF OF SERVICE form with the Rent Adjustment Program together with the document 
you are filing and any attachments you are serving. 

➢ Please number sequentially all additional documents provided to the RAP. 
 
PETITIONS FILED WITHOUT A PROOF OF SERVICE WILL BE CONSIDERED INCOMPLETE AND MAY BE 
DISMISSED. 

 
 
I served a copy of:      ____________________________ 

(insert name of document served) 
 And Additional Documents 

 
and (write number of attached pages) __________ attached pages (not counting the Petition or 
Response served or the Proof of Service) to each opposing party, whose name(s) and address(es) are 
listed below, by one of the following means (check one): 
 

❑ a. United States mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package 
addressed to the person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the 
sealed envelope with the United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid. 

❑ b.   Deposited it with a commercial carrier, using a service at least as expeditious as first 
class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid, addressed to each opposing party as 
listed below. 

❑ c. Personal Service. (1) By Hand Delivery: I personally delivered the document(s) to the 
person(s) at the address(es) listed below; or (2) I left the document(s) at the address(es) with 
some person not younger than 18 years of age. 

 
 
PERSON(S) SERVED: 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 
 
 

Tenant Evidence Submission (Case No. T23-0019)

22

Ahmed Said

2400 Market St., Suite B

Oakland, CA 94607

000049



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 
 
 

-2- 

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 
 
To serve more than 8 people, copy this page as many times as necessary and insert in your proof of service document. If you are 
only serving one person, you can use just the first and last page. 
  

000050



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

-3- 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct and the documents were served on __/__/____ (insert date served).

_______________________________
PRINT YOUR NAME 

_______________________________        _______________ 
SIGNATURE  DATE 

2  28 2023

Gregory Ching

February 28, 2023

000051



CITY OF OAKLAND

NOTICE OF INCOMPLETE OWNER RESPONSE 

CASE NUMBER:  

CASE NAME:  

PROPERTY ADDRESS: 

T23-0019 

 

031 9  Avenue, Unit  Oakland, CA 9 1 

The Rent Adjustment Program (hereinafter “RAP”) received a Property Owner Response from 
you on e ruar  1, 2023 

To be complete and considered filed, a response by a property owner must include:1 

a. Proof of payment of the City of Oakland Business License Tax;

b. proof of payment of the Rent Program Service Fee;2

c. Evidence that the Owner has provided the RAP Notice to all Tenants affected by the
petition or response.3

d. A substantially completed petition on the form prescribed by the RAP signed under
oath;

e. For a rent increase, organized documentation clearly showing the rent increase
justification and detailing the calculations to which the documentation pertains. For an
exemption, organized documentation showing your right to the exemption.

f. For all owner responses, the Owner must provide proof of service by first class mail or
in person of the response and any supporting documents on the tenants of all units
affected by the petition. (Note that if the supporting documents exceed 25 pages, the
Owner is not required to serve the supporting documents on the affected tenants provided
that the owner petition was served as required and the petition or attachment indicates

1 See O.M.C. § 8.22.090 (B). 
2 See O.M.C. § 8.22.500. 
3 This can be done initially by affirming that all notices have been sent but may require additional evidence if the 
statement is contested. 

000052



2 | P a g e

that the additional documents are or will be available at the RAP and that the Owner will 
provide copies of the supporting documents to the tenant upon written request within 10 
days.)  

The response that you attempted to file was incomplete. The chart below indicates what is 
missing from your filing: 

Name of Document Needed 
Proof of service of the response (and attachments where 
required) by first class mail or in person on all tenants in 
units affected by the response 

 X 

Proof of payment of Business License Tax.  X 

Proof of payment of the RAP Fee.  X 

   

You have 30 days from the date of the mailing of this letter to provide a completed response. If 
you do not do so, your response will be dismissed. Since your response is incomplete, the RAP 
cannot accept the response, and any scheduled hearing will be postponed, if scheduled to occur 
in less than 30 days.  

If you have any questions or concerns, consult RAP by email or phone. The email address is 
lothlen@oakalndca.gov, and the telephone number is 510-238-3721. 

Dated:  e ruar  2 , 2023 City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 

000053



PROOF OF SERVICE 
Case Number: T23-0019
Case Name: 

I am a resident of the State of California at least eighteen years of age. I am not a party to the 
Residential Rent Adjustment Program case listed above. I am employed in Alameda County, 
California. My business address is 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th Floor, Oakland, 
California 94612.   

Today, I served the attached documents listed below by placing a true copy in a City of 
Oakland mail collection receptacle for mailing on the below date at 250 Frank H. Ogawa 
Plaza, Oakland, California, addressed to: 

Documents Included 
Notice of Incomplete Owner Response

Owner 
Ahmed Said
Mead Holding LLC
2400 Market Street, Suite B  
Oakland, CA 94607

Tenant             
Reyes Ornelas            
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C         
Oakland, CA 94621

Tenant 
Maria Barragan
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C
Oakland, CA 94621

I am readily familiar with the City of Oakland’s practice of collection and processing 
correspondence for mailing. Under that practice an envelope placed in the mail collection 
receptacle described above would be deposited in the United States mail with the U.S. Postal 
Service on that same day with first class postage thereon fully prepaid in the ordinary course of 
business. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true 
and correct. Executed on  , 2023 in Oakland, California.

______________________________ 
Brittni Lothlen 
Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

000054



From: Lothlen, Brittni
To: Ahmed Said
Bcc: Lambert, Elan
Subject: Re: T23-0019, Barragan v. Mead Holding LLC
Date: Friday, March 3, 2023 2:47:54 PM
Attachments: Notice of Incomplete Owner Response T23-0019 2023.02.28.pdf

Respondent Said:
 
Thank you for your email.
 
Your email correspondence has been saved to the case file and forwarded to the assigned hearing
officer.
 
Please note there are no amendments allowed to a property owners response. Additionally,

your property owner response received on February 1st, 2023 remains incomplete.
 
Please find a copy of the Notice of Incomplete Owner Response that was mailed from our
office on February 28, 2023, attached to this email.
 
Best regards,
 
 
Brittni Lothlen
Rent Adjustment Program Assistant
City of Oakland
Department of Housing and Community Development
Rent Adjustment Program
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313
Oakland, CA  94612
Blothlen@oaklandca.gov             
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP
 
 

From: Ahmed Said <ahmedmead@gmail.com>
Date: Friday, March 3, 2023 at 9:52 AM
To: Lothlen, Brittni <BLothlen@oaklandca.gov>
Subject: Case No. T23-0019 Barragan v. Mead Holding LLC

[EXTERNAL] This email originated outside of the City of Oakland. Please do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and expect the message.

Greetings, 
The following message is an addition to the response we previously submitted on January 31st. The

000055

mailto:BJackson@oaklandca.gov
mailto:ahmedmead@gmail.com
mailto:ELambert@oaklandca.gov
mailto:Blothlen@oaklandca.gov
http://www.oaklandca.gov/RAP



CITY OF OAKLAND


NOTICE OF INCOMPLETE OWNER RESPONSE 


CASE NUMBER:  


CASE NAME:  


PROPERTY ADDRESS: 


T23-0019 


Barragen et al v. Mead Holding LLC 


2031 69th Avenue, Unit C Oakland, CA 94621 


The Rent Adjustment Program (hereinafter “RAP”) received a Property Owner Response from 
you on February 1, 2023 


To be complete and considered filed, a response by a property owner must include:1 


a. Proof of payment of the City of Oakland Business License Tax;


b. proof of payment of the Rent Program Service Fee;2


c. Evidence that the Owner has provided the RAP Notice to all Tenants affected by the
petition or response.3


d. A substantially completed petition on the form prescribed by the RAP signed under
oath;


e. For a rent increase, organized documentation clearly showing the rent increase
justification and detailing the calculations to which the documentation pertains. For an
exemption, organized documentation showing your right to the exemption.


f. For all owner responses, the Owner must provide proof of service by first class mail or
in person of the response and any supporting documents on the tenants of all units
affected by the petition. (Note that if the supporting documents exceed 25 pages, the
Owner is not required to serve the supporting documents on the affected tenants provided
that the owner petition was served as required and the petition or attachment indicates


1 See O.M.C. § 8.22.090 (B). 
2 See O.M.C. § 8.22.500. 
3 This can be done initially by affirming that all notices have been sent but may require additional evidence if the 
statement is contested. 







2 | P a g e


that the additional documents are or will be available at the RAP and that the Owner will 
provide copies of the supporting documents to the tenant upon written request within 10 
days.)  


The response that you attempted to file was incomplete. The chart below indicates what is 
missing from your filing: 


Name of Document Needed 
Proof of service of the response (and attachments where 
required) by first class mail or in person on all tenants in 
units affected by the response 


 X 


Proof of payment of Business License Tax.  X 


Proof of payment of the RAP Fee.  X 


   


You have 30 days from the date of the mailing of this letter to provide a completed response. If 
you do not do so, your response will be dismissed. Since your response is incomplete, the RAP 
cannot accept the response, and any scheduled hearing will be postponed, if scheduled to occur 
in less than 30 days.  


If you have any questions or concerns, consult RAP by email or phone. The email address is 
blothlen@oakalndca.gov, and the telephone number is 510-238-3721. 


Dated:  February 28, 2023 City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 







PROOF OF SERVICE 


Case Number: T23-0019
Case Name: Barragen et al v. Mead Holding LLC 


I am a resident of the State of California at least eighteen years of age. I am not a party to the 


Residential Rent Adjustment Program case listed above. I am employed in Alameda County, 


California. My business address is 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th Floor, Oakland, 


California 94612.   


Today, I served the attached documents listed below by placing a true copy in a City of 


Oakland mail collection receptacle for mailing on the below date at 250 Frank H. Ogawa 


Plaza, Oakland, California, addressed to: 


Documents Included 


Notice of Incomplete Owner Response


Owner 


Ahmed Said
Mead Holding LLC
2400 Market Street, Suite B  
Oakland, CA 94607


Tenant             
Reyes Ornelas            
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C         
Oakland, CA 94621


Tenant 


Maria Barragan
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C
Oakland, CA 94621


I am readily familiar with the City of Oakland’s practice of collection and processing 


correspondence for mailing. Under that practice an envelope placed in the mail collection 


receptacle described above would be deposited in the United States mail with the U.S. Postal 


Service on that same day with first class postage thereon fully prepaid in the ordinary course of 


business. 


I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true 


and correct. Executed on February 28, 2023 in Oakland, California.


______________________________ 


Brittni Lothlen 


Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 





		Notice of Incomplete Owner Response.pdf

		1 Proof of Service_RAP1 (38).pdf









reason why the rent was $1,300 is because Reyes Ornelas and I had a verbal agreement for him to
pull out the garbage bins every Monday for all 6 units, and to keep the front and backyard clean. For
this purpose, he received discounted rent. When the service was no longer being provided as agreed
upon, we wrote to all tenants informing them to pull out their own garbage bins, and that we'd clean
around the property. Also, the tenant (Maria and Reyes) grew frustrated because we provided them
a storage room for free, and they had electricity attached (an extra refrigerator) attached to our
house meter, so we notified them through text that we were going to need that area to expand the
laundry room for all tenants, in which we did. We gave them a proper 60 day notice beforehand for
the rent increase. Additionally, they also had 7 people living in the unit which cost us more water,
but we never complained. Lastly, 10% of any upgrades to a building is supposed to be passed on to
the tenants as we put in a brand new roof, and provided them with a new balcony door. Therefore,
we increased the rent with fairness. Feel free to contact me if there are any questions
Thank you
 

000056



From: Lothlen, Brittni
To: Ahmed Said
Subject: Re: T23-0019, Barragan v. Mead Holding LLC
Date: Wednesday, March 8, 2023 2:17:41 PM
Attachments: Amended Notice of Remote Settlement Conference and Hearing_Zoom Link T23-0019 2023.03.07.pdf

Respondent Said:
 
Thank you for your email.
 
Answers to your questions:
 

1. Please re-submit the owner response  with the missing information.
2. An owner filing a response must submit evidence of a current business license and

payment of the RAP fee. If you do not have the documents requested, you may contact
the Business Tax Office by email at BTWebSupport@oaklandca.gov, or by phone at
(510) 238-3704, for further assistance. 

When paying online through the website, It has an option to print the Business License
Online payment receipt. We need a receipt of acknowledgement  showing proof that
you paid your 2023 Business License and Rap fee.

3. You may email me directly once the documentation is corrected.

4. The hearing has been rescheduled to April 12th, 2023. Please find the Amended Notice
of Remote Settlement and Conference attached to this email.

 
Best,
 

Brittni Lothlen
Rent Adjustment Program Assistant
City of Oakland
Department of Housing and Community Development
Rent Adjustment Program
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313
Oakland, CA  94612
Blothlen@oaklandca.gov             
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP
 
 
 

 
 
 

From: Ahmed Said <ahmedmead@gmail.com>
Date: Wednesday, March 8, 2023 at 10:04 AM

000057

mailto:BJackson@oaklandca.gov
mailto:ahmedmead@gmail.com
mailto:BTWebSupport@oaklandca.gov
mailto:Blothlen@oaklandca.gov
http://www.oaklandca.gov/RAP



Housing and Community Development Department TEL (510) 238-3721 
Rent Adjustment Program FAX (510) 238-6181 
250 Frank Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 CA Relay 711 
Oakland, CA 94612-2034 www.Oaklandca.gov/RAP 


AMENDED NOTICE OF REMOTE SETTLEMENT CONFERENCE AND HEARING 


File Name: Barragen et al v. Mead Holding LLC
Property Address: 2031 69th Avenue, Unit C, Oakland, CA 94621
Case Number: T23-0019 


Please take notice that in order to protect the health and welfare of the parties and City of 
Oakland employees, the Settlement Conference and Hearing will be held remotely, by audio or 
videoconferencing. 


The Settlement Conference and/or Hearing (if there is no settlement conference) will begin on: 


Date: 
Time: 
Place: 


April 12, 2023 
10:00 AM 
REMOTELY 


Settlement Conference 


The Hearing Officer will conduct a Settlement Conference to attempt to resolve this matter unless the 
owner is seeking an exemption or if not all parties are present. If the Settlement Conference is not 
successful, the Hearing will begin immediately after the Settlement Conference. 


Remote Hearings 


In the next few weeks, the program analyst assigned to your case will contact you by telephone or 
email to determine whether you have access to a computer or a phone with video technology and 
either cellular service or hi-speed internet, so that the Hearing could be conducted using 
videoconferencing through Zoom, a free videoconferencing application. If you do not have access to 
these services or if any party does not have access, the Hearing will be conducted by Zoom as an 
“audio only” Hearing, which allows parties to use a toll-free number on a telephone to participate. 
There is no charge to use Zoom. 


Please be sure that the Rent Adjustment Program has a working email address and telephone 
number for you so that we can contact you when necessary. 


Please note that if you do not have access to any of the necessary technology to be a participant in 
a remote Hearing, please call the analyst on your case (noted below.) 







Order to Produce Evidence/Submission of Additional Documents 


You must submit all additional proposed tangible evidence (including but not limited to documents 
and photographs) you wish to have considered at least seven days before the Hearing Please note 
that you may have been required to submit certain documents with your initial petition. Please number 
sequentially all documents sent to the RAP. If possible, please submit your evidence by email. Please 
note that most smart phones have scanning capability. If you do not have access to scan and email 
your documents you may submit them by mail. (If you are mailing, always send copies and keep the 
originals for yourself.) Please notify the analyst if you have submitted your documents by mail. Black 
out all sensitive information on the documents you submit, like bank or credit card account numbers 
and Social Security numbers. 


Proposed evidence presented late may be excluded from consideration unless there is good cause for 
the late filed evidence. The Hearing Officer can also use the official records of the City of Oakland and 
Alameda County Tax Assessor as evidence if provided by the parties for consideration. 


The analyst in your case is and his/her email address is . Submit all documents by email to the analyst 
in your case and, by mail to the opposing parties. Additionally, you must submit a document to the 
RAP entitled Proof of Service, establishing that you provided the same documents you submitted to the 
RAP to the opposing parties. 


Interpreter 
The Hearing must be conducted in English. The Rent Adjustment Program will provide an interpreter on 
request providing the request is made at least 14 days in advance of the scheduled Hearing, including ASL 
interpreters. If you wish to bring someone to help you understand the proceeding, in addition to the 
official interpreter provided by the RAP, you may, but only the official interpreter’s interpretation will be 
considered as a part of the record. 


Request to Change Date 
A request for a change in the date or time of Settlement Conference and Hearing ("continuance") 
must be made on a form provided by the Rent Adjustment Program. The party requesting the 
continuance must try to get an agreement for alternate dates from the opposing parties. If an 
agreement cannot be reached, check the appropriate box on the form. A continuance will be granted 
only for good cause. 


Hearing Record 
The Rent Adjustment Program makes an audio recording of the Hearing. Either party may bring a 
court reporter to record the hearing at their own expense. The Settlement Conference is not recorded. 
If the settlement is reached, the Hearing Officer will draft an Order listing the terms of the agreement. 


Inspections 
During the Hearing, the Hearing Officer may decide to conduct an inspection of the subject unit(s). 
The inspection may be conducted on the same day as the Hearing or scheduled for a later date selected 
by the Hearing Officer or mutually agreed upon by the parties present at the Hearing. No testimony 
will be taken at the inspection. 


-2-







Representatives 
Any party to a Hearing may designate a representative in writing prior to the Settlement Conference 
or on the record at the Hearing. 


Failure to Appear for Hearing 
If the petitioner fails to appear at the Hearing as scheduled, the Hearing Officer may either conduct 
the Hearing and render a decision without the petitioner’s participation, or dismiss the petition. If the 
respondent fails to appear at the Hearing as scheduled, the Hearing Officer may either issue an 
administrative decision without a Hearing, or conduct the Hearing and render a decision without the 
respondent’s participation. 


Accessibility 
To request disability-related accommodations, please email the analyst on your case or call or 
California relay service at 711 at least five working days before the meeting. 


-3-







Zoom Link 


Rent Adjustment Program - Hearings is inviting you to a scheduled Mediation Zoom meeting. 


Topic: T23-0019 Barragan et al v. Mead Holding LLC 


Time: April 12, 2023 10:00 AM Pacific Time (US and Canada) 


Join Zoom Meeting 


https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82525099506?pwd=eVc2aHR4Mm1xN1kzRGgrNWYzU2Fidz09 


Meeting ID: 825 2509 9506 


Passcode: 187712 


One tap mobile 


+16694449171,,82525099506#,,,,*187712# US


+16699009128,,82525099506#,,,,*187712# US (San Jose)


Dial by your location 


+1 669 444 9171 US


+1 669 900 9128 US (San Jose)


+1 346 248 7799 US (Houston)


+1 719 359 4580 US


+1 253 205 0468 US


+1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma)


+1 646 558 8656 US (New York)


+1 646 931 3860 US


+1 689 278 1000 US


+1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC)


+1 305 224 1968 US


+1 309 205 3325 US


+1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago)


+1 360 209 5623 US


+1 386 347 5053 US


+1 507 473 4847 US


+1 564 217 2000 US


Meeting ID: 825 2509 9506 


Passcode: 187712 


Find your local number: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kdBcwsh14s 



https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82525099506?pwd=eVc2aHR4Mm1xN1kzRGgrNWYzU2Fidz09

https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kdBcwsh14s









PROOF OF SERVICE 


Case Number: T23-0019
Case Name: Barragen et al v. Mead Holding LLC 


I am a resident of the State of California at least eighteen years of age. I am not a party to the 


Residential Rent Adjustment Program case listed above. I am employed in Alameda County, 


California. My business address is 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th Floor, Oakland, 


California 94612.   


Today, I served the attached documents listed below by placing a true copy in a City of 


Oakland mail collection receptacle for mailing on the below date at 250 Frank H. Ogawa 


Plaza, Oakland, California, addressed to: 


Documents Included 


Amended Notice of Remote Settlement Conference and Hearing     
Zoom Link


Owner 


Ahmed Said
Mead Holding LLC
2400 Market Street, Suite B  
Oakland, CA 94607


Tenant  
Reyes Ornelas 
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C 
Oakland, CA 94621


Tenant 


Maria Barragan
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C
Oakland, CA 94621


I am readily familiar with the City of Oakland’s practice of collection and processing 


correspondence for mailing. Under that practice an envelope placed in the mail collection 


receptacle described above would be deposited in the United States mail with the U.S. Postal 


Service on that same day with first class postage thereon fully prepaid in the ordinary course of 


business. 


I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true 


and correct. Executed on March 7, 2023 in Oakland, California.
______________________________ 


Brittni Lothlen 


Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 











To: Lothlen, Brittni <BLothlen@oaklandca.gov>
Subject: Re: T23-0019, Barragan v. Mead Holding LLC

Hello Brittni, 
Please confirm that these responses were received. We are awaiting your response.
Thank you 
 
On Sun, Mar 5, 2023 at 1:44 PM Ahmed Said <ahmedmead@gmail.com> wrote:

Attached is a screenshot of my bank account indicating proof of payment for the city business tax
at 2031 69th ave. Also the business tax certificate that I previously sent is attached

 
On Sat, Mar 4, 2023 at 11:36 AM Ahmed Said <ahmedmead@gmail.com> wrote:

We mailed the tenant a letter. Whether they received it or not, or act like they did not receive
it, we sent it
 
On Fri, Mar 3, 2023 at 3:46 PM Ahmed Said <ahmedmead@gmail.com> wrote:

Hi, 
I have a few questions that I wanted to ask for clarification
1. Do I need to submit a new response to the hearings unit, or can I re-submit the previous
one with the info I was missing?
2. The RAP fee is included with the business license tax when paying online through the

000058

mailto:ahmedmead@gmail.com
mailto:ahmedmead@gmail.com
mailto:ahmedmead@gmail.com


website. Can I just send a screenshot of my bank account (the payment method I used to pay
for the business tax in 2022)? Because there isn't a separate receipt showing the RAP fee of
$101 per unit.
3. Who do I email once all of the documentation is corrected? 
4.Will the hearing remain on March 13th, or will it get postponed because of the incomplete
response?
 
On Fri, Mar 3, 2023 at 2:47 PM Lothlen, Brittni <BLothlen@oaklandca.gov> wrote:

Respondent Said:
 
Thank you for your email.
 
Your email correspondence has been saved to the case file and forwarded to the assigned
hearing officer.
 
Please note there are no amendments allowed to a property owners response.

Additionally, your property owner response received on February 1st, 2023 remains
incomplete.
 
Please find a copy of the Notice of Incomplete Owner Response that was mailed
from our office on February 28, 2023, attached to this email.
 
Best regards,
 
 
Brittni Lothlen
Rent Adjustment Program Assistant
City of Oakland
Department of Housing and Community Development
Rent Adjustment Program
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313
Oakland, CA  94612
Blothlen@oaklandca.gov             
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP
 
 

From: Ahmed Said <ahmedmead@gmail.com>
Date: Friday, March 3, 2023 at 9:52 AM
To: Lothlen, Brittni <BLothlen@oaklandca.gov>
Subject: Case No. T23-0019 Barragan v. Mead Holding LLC

[EXTERNAL] This email originated outside of the City of Oakland. Please do not click links

000059

mailto:BLothlen@oaklandca.gov
mailto:Blothlen@oaklandca.gov
http://www.oaklandca.gov/RAP
mailto:ahmedmead@gmail.com
mailto:BLothlen@oaklandca.gov


or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and expect the message.

Greetings, 
The following message is an addition to the response we previously submitted on January
31st. The reason why the rent was $1,300 is because Reyes Ornelas and I had a verbal
agreement for him to pull out the garbage bins every Monday for all 6 units, and to keep
the front and backyard clean. For this purpose, he received discounted rent. When the
service was no longer being provided as agreed upon, we wrote to all tenants informing
them to pull out their own garbage bins, and that we'd clean around the property. Also,
the tenant (Maria and Reyes) grew frustrated because we provided them a storage room
for free, and they had electricity attached (an extra refrigerator) attached to our house
meter, so we notified them through text that we were going to need that area to expand
the laundry room for all tenants, in which we did. We gave them a proper 60 day notice
beforehand for the rent increase. Additionally, they also had 7 people living in the unit
which cost us more water, but we never complained. Lastly, 10% of any upgrades to a
building is supposed to be passed on to the tenants as we put in a brand new roof, and
provided them with a new balcony door. Therefore, we increased the rent with fairness.
Feel free to contact me if there are any questions
Thank you
 

000060



CITY OF OAKLAND  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

  
 

ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION 
 

CASE NUMBER    T23-0019 
 
CASE NAME:    Barragan et al v. Mead Holding LLC 
 
PROPERTY ADDRESS:  2031 69th Avenue, Unit C  
       Oakland, CA 
 
PARTIES:     Maria Barragan, Tenant 
 

 
SUMMARY OF DECISION 

 
The Tenant’s Petition is granted. 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
Reason for Administrative decision: An Administrative Decision is issued 
without a hearing. The purpose of a hearing is to allow the parties to present 
testimony and other evidence to allow the resolution of disputes of material fact. 
However, in this case, sufficient uncontested facts have been presented to issue a 
decision without a hearing, and no material facts are disputed. Therefore, an 
administrative decision, without a hearing, is being issued.  
 

BACKGROUND 
 
On January 23, 2023, the Tenant filed the petition herein. The petition contests rent 
increases alleged from $1,000.00 to $1,300.00, effective December 1, 2019, and 
from $1,300.00 to $1,500.00, effective December 2022, on the grounds that the 
rent increase exceeds the legally allowable amount. 

000061



2 | P a g e  
 

The petition, completed under penalty of perjury, indicates that that Tenant was 
never given a RAP Notice,1 including with the Notices of Rent Increase 
challenged. 
 
The Owner filed an Owner Response on February 1, 2023.  A Notice of 
Incomplete Owner Response was sent to the Respondent on February 28, 2023.2 
The Respondent was given 35 days to file the necessary documents and a proof of 
service of their petition. To date, no new documents were filed, no proof of service 
was filed, and the response was not completed.  Therefore, the response cannot be 
considered filed and complete. Accordingly, any documentation submitted with the 
response is inadmissible.3  
 

RATIONALE FOR ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION 
 
2019 Rent Increase 
 
The Rent Adjustment Ordinance (Ordinance) requires an owner to serve a RAP 
Notice at the start of a tenancy4 and with any notice of rent increase or change in 
any term of the tenancy.5   An owner may cure the failure to give notice at the start 
of the tenancy. However, a notice of rent increase is not valid if the effective date 
of increase is less than six months after the Tenant first receives the required RAP 
notice.6 
 
It is undisputed that the Tenant moved into the subject unit in 2013. The petition 
was filed under penalty of perjury and states that the Tenant was not given a RAP 
Notice including with the Notices of Rent Increase challenged.  Accordingly, there 
is no evidence that the Tenant received the RAP Notice at the inception of the 
tenancy or with the rent increases challenged.  Therefore, it is found that the 
Tenant has not been provided with a RAP Notice. Accordingly, the Notice of Rent 
Increase from $1,000.00 to $1,300.00, is invalid. Accordingly, the legal rent for the 
subject unit remained at $1,000.00. 
 
2022 Rent Increase 
 
Oakland City Council Ordinance 13589 CMS, adopted on March 27, 2020, states 
as follows at Section 4:  

 
1 Notice to Tenants of the Residential Rent Adjustment Program. 
2 O.M.C. Section 8.22.090(B) 
3 O.M.C. Section 8.22.070(C). Santiago v. Vega, Case 
4 O.M.C. Section 8.22.060. 
5 O.M.C. Section 8.22.070. 
6 O.M.C. Section 8.22.060(C) 

000062



3 | P a g e  
 

 
Rent Increase Moratorium.  
For rental units regulated by Oakland Municipal Code 
8.22.010 et seq, any notice of rent increase in excess of the 
CPI Rent Adjustment, as defined in Oakland Municipal 
Code Section 8.22.020, shall be void and unenforceable if 
the notice is served or has an effective date during the Local 
Emergency, unless required to provide a fair return. Any 
notice of rent increase served during the Local Emergency 
shall include the following statement in bold underlined 12-
point font: “During the Local Emergency declared by 
the City of Oakland in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic, your rent may not be increased in excess of 
the CPI Rent Adjustment (3-5% until June 30, 2020), 
unless required for the landlord to obtain a fair return. 
You may contact the Rent Adjustment Program at 
(510.) 238—37.21 for additional information and 
referrals.” 

 
When the Rent Increase Moratorium was enacted, the CPI Rent Adjustment was 3-
5%. The Moratorium clearly states that this CPI is in effect “until June 30, 2020.” 
As of July 1, 2022, the CPI Rent Adjustment is 3%. The Local Emergency remains 
in the City of Oakland. Therefore, increasing the Tenant’s base rent above 3%, or 
$30.00, violates the Moratorium. Therefore, the Owner’s Notice of Rent Increase 
of $200.00 is invalid.  Additionally, the Notice of Rent Increase did not include the 
required statement in bold, underlined 12-point font, and is likewise on this basis 
invalid as well.   
 
Notwithstanding, whether the Tenant was served the RAP Notice with the 2022 
Rent Increase, the increase would still be invalid since the amount of the increase 
violated the Moratorium.  Accordingly, the legal rent for the subject unit remained 
at $1,000.00. 
 

ORDER 

 
1. Petition T23-0019 is granted. 
 
2. The legal rent for the subject unit remains $1,000.00. 

 

000063



4 | P a g e

3. The 2019 and 2022 rent increases are not valid.  The legal rent for the
subject unit remains at $1,000.00.  If the Tenant paid an amount over the legal rent
for the subject unit, the parties are instructed to calculate the total rent
overpayment and deduct the credit amount in thirty or fewer monthly installments
from the Tenant’s monthly rent after this decision becomes final.  The decision
becomes final if no party files an appeal within 20 days after the decision is mailed
to the parties.

4. The Remote Settlement Conference and Hearing, scheduled for April 12,
2023, is canceled.

Right to Appeal:  This decision is the final decision of the Rent Adjustment 
Program Staff. Either party may appeal this decision by filing a properly 
completed appeal using the form provided by the Rent Adjustment Program. 
The appeal must be received within seventeen (17) calendar days of electronic 
service or twenty (20) days if served by first-class mail. If the last day to file is a 
weekend or holiday, the appeal may be filed on the next business day. The date and 
service method are shown on the attached Proof of Service.   

Dated:  April 5, 2023 Élan Consuella Lambert 
Hearing Officer 
Rent Adjustment Program 

000064



PROOF OF SERVICE 
Case Number: T23-0019
Case Name: 

I am a resident of the State of California at least eighteen years of age. I am not a party to the 
Residential Rent Adjustment Program case listed above. I am employed in Alameda County, 
California. My business address is 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th Floor, Oakland, 
California 94612.   

Today, I served the attached documents listed below by placing a true copy in a City of 
Oakland mail collection receptacle for mailing on the below date at 250 Frank H. Ogawa 
Plaza, Oakland, California, addressed to: 

Documents Included 
Administrative Decision

Owner 
Ahmed Said
Mead Holding LLC
2400 Market Street, Suite B  
Oakland, CA 94607

e e  Ornela  
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C 
Oakland, CA 94621

Tenant 
Maria Barragan
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C
Oakland, CA 94621

I am readily familiar with the City of Oakland’s practice of collection and processing 
correspondence for mailing. Under that practice an envelope placed in the mail collection 
receptacle described above would be deposited in the United States mail with the U.S. Postal 
Service on that same day with first class postage thereon fully prepaid in the ordinary course of 
business. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true 
and correct. Executed on Apirl 6, 2023 in Oakland, California.

______________________________ 
Brittni Lothlen 
Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

000065



000066



000067



000068



000069



000070



000071



000072



000073



000074



000075



000076



000077



000078



000079



000080



000081



000082



000083



000084



000085



000086



000087



000088



000089



000090



000091



000092



000093



000094



000095



 

1 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Gregory T. Ching (SBN 330719) 
gching@centrolegal.org 
CENTRO LEGAL DE LA RAZA 
3400 E. 12th Street 
Oakland, CA  94601 
Telephone:  (510) 437-1554 
Facsimile:    (510) 255-6069 
 
Attorney for Tenant-Respondent Maria Barragan 
 
 

OAKLAND RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
 

 
BARRAGAN, ET AL., 
 
  Tenant-Respondent, 
 
 vs. 
 
MEAD HOLDING LLC, 
 
  Property Owner-Appellant. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Case No.: T23-0019 
 
TENANT-RESPONDENT MARIA 
BARRAGAN'S REPLY BRIEF IN 
SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
 
 
 
 

 

Tenant-Respondent Maria Barragan hereby submits this brief in response to Appellant 

Mead Holding LLC’s appeal brief. 

I. FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

In notices dated September 12, 2019, and December 1, 2019, Tenant-Respondent Maria 

Barragan (“Tenant”) received a rent increase from Appellant Ahmed Said (doing business as 

Mead Holding LLC) (“Owner”), which imposed an increase from $1,000.00 per month to 

$1,300.00 per month (the “2019 Rent Increase”). On September 24, 2022, Tenant received 

another rent increase notice from Owner, raising Tenant’s rent from $1,300 per month to 

$1,500 per month (the “2022 Rent Increase”). Tenant has paid the corresponding demanded 

amounts for both the 2019 and 2022 Rent Increases, as demonstrated in the Tenant Evidence 

Submission in this action. Neither the 2019 Rent Increase nor the 2022 Rent Increase included 

proper notice, and both were in excess of the allowable CPI Rent Adjustment. 

000096



 

2 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Upon learning of the illegality of the rent increases, Tenant timely filed a Tenant 

Petition in the above-captioned action. Tenant served on Owner and timely filed with the Rent 

Adjustment Program the Tenant Evidence Submission on February 28, 2023. The Tenant 

Evidence Submission included copies of the 2019 Rent Increase Notice, the 2022 Rent Increase 

Notice, Tenant rent payment receipts, and signed correspondence from Owner. 

Owner filed two separate Owner Responses in this action prior to this appeal. The first 

submitted response was dated January 31, 2023. Analyst Brittni Lothlen sent a Notice of 

Incomplete Owner Response to Owner and to all affected Parties to this action on February 28, 

2023, noting that Owner did not provide proper proof of service, proof of payment of the 

Business License Tax, and proof of payment of the RAP fee. Owner filed a second Response, 

with proof of service dated March 31, 2023. 

On April 5, 2023, Hearing Officer Elan Consuella Lambert issued a decision granting 

the Tenant Petition. In coming to her decision, the Hearing Officer noted that there was no 

evidence that Tenant received the required RAP Notice either at the inception of her tenancy or 

with the 2019 Rent Increase. The Hearing Officer also noted that the 2022 Rent Increase did 

not abide by the requirements of Oakland City Council Ordinance 13589 C.M.S. (the “Oakland 

Moratorium” or “Rent Increase Moratorium”) because the 2022 Rent Increase Notice imposed 

an increase in excess of the relevant CPI Rent Adjustment of 3%, and because the Notice did 

not include the required moratorium statement. 

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

Owner has asserted a number of arguments that misunderstand the requirements for rent 

increases under the Oakland Municipal Code. Owner mischaracterizes the nature of the 2019 

Rent Increase, and premises such mischaracterization on false allegations. Owner also attempts 

to confuse the issues by raising arguments and allegations for the first time that should have 

been raised in Owner’s Responses and not on Appeal. These arguments and allegations go 

beyond the scope of the Petition and this Appeal. 

/ / / 

000097



 

3 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

A. Owner Was Not Denied a Sufficient Opportunity to Be Heard  

Owner argues that the decision was issued without giving Owner a sufficient 

opportunity to be heard. This argument is premised on an incorrect understanding of the law. 

First, Owner was not denied a sufficient opportunity to be heard because Owner had 

sufficient time to file an Owner Response and assert any defenses he may have had at that time. 

In fact, Owner filed two (2) separate Owner Responses: the first, on January 31, 2023; and, 

after receiving the Notice of Incomplete Owner Response, a second on March 31, 2023. Owner 

had over 60 days to present counterarguments, as the Tenant Petition was filed on January 20, 

2023. A property owner’s filed response to a tenant petition will be considered by the hearing 

officer. Owner’s two filed Owner Responses constitute an opportunity to be heard. The fact that 

Owner is unhappy that his two Responses were insufficient to defend against Tenant’s 

meritorious claims, and that the Hearing Officer held that the Petition could be decided by 

Administrative Decision, does not constitute a denial of a sufficient opportunity to be heard. 

Owner was heard through his Responses. 

Second, a hearing is not required in all RAP cases. The Oakland Municipal Code 

empowers Hearing Officers with the authority to issue a decision without a hearing. Oakland 

Mun. Code § 8.22.110(F). A Hearing Officer may issue such an administrative decision where, 

among other things: the petition or response forms have not been properly completed or 

submitted; the petition or response forms have not been filed in a timely manner; the required 

prerequisites to filing a petition or response have not been met; or when, “[t]he petition and 

response forms raise no genuine dispute as to any material fact, and the petition may be decided 

as a matter of law.” Id.: Oakland Rent Adjustment Program Mun. Regulations, § 8.22.110(G). 

In this case, Owner did not properly complete the Owner Response initially, did not file the 

second Response in a timely manner, did not include the required prerequisites to filing an 

Owner Response, and most importantly, failed to raise a genuine dispute as to any material fact, 

for all of the reasons that will be discussed below. As a result, the Hearing Officer was well 

within her authority to issue a decision without a hearing. 

000098



 

4 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Furthermore, the Rent Adjustment Program generally falls within those requirements of 

California civil law. There are a variety of well-established legal principles that allow a judge 

or fact finder to reach a decision without a hearing, and some even without evidence. Examples 

include decisions on motions for judgment on the pleadings, motions for summary judgment, 

and motions for summary adjudication. See, e.g., Cal. Code Civ. P. §§ 438, 437c. Merely filing 

a Response, especially one that fails to raise any genuine dispute over any material fact, does 

not guarantee either a tenant or a property owner a hearing. The Hearing Officer’s 

Administrative Decision does not constitute a denial of Owner’s opportunity to be heard. 

B. The 2022 Rent Increase 

The 2022 Rent Increase was plainly and facially unlawful, and properly invalidated by 

the Hearing Officer. The 2022 Rent Increase, which required an increase in Tenant’s rental 

payments from $1,300 per month to $1,500 per month, did not meet multiple requirements 

under the Oakland Municipal Code. 

First, the 2022 Rent Increase Notice did not include a RAP Notice, which is required 

under Oakland law. Oakland Mun. Code § 8.22.070(H). Tenant provided sufficient evidence to 

the Hearing Officer to demonstrate this deficiency. See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T1. 

Owner does not dispute this fact, and has not disputed this deficiency in either the first Owner 

Response; the second, delinquent, Owner Response, or in Owner’s Appeal. As such, the 2022 

Rent Increase Notice is invalid. 

Second, the 2022 Rent Increase Notice did not include the rent increase moratorium 

statement in bold, underlined, 12-point font as required by the Oakland Moratorium. See id. 

Owner contends that “According to page 3 of the Proof of Service from the tenant [sic], it is 

stated that the notice of rent increase is not in bold, or 12 point font, which is false. We 

specifically bolded the notice of rent increase statement, and used 12 point font on both letters.” 

See Owner Appeal, p. 3. Owner misunderstands the Administrative Decision and the Oakland 

Moratorium. Under the Oakland Moratorium, Owner is required to provide the following 

statement in bold, underlined, 12-point font: 

000099



 

5 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

“During the Local Emergency declared by the City of Oakland in response 
to the COVID-19 pandemic, your rent may not be increased in excess of the 
CPI Rent Adjustment (3-5% until June 30, 2020), unless required for the 
landlord to obtain a fair return. You may contact the Rent Adjustment 
Program at (510) 238-3721 [sic] for additional information and referrals.” 

Oakland Moratorium, § 4. Owner did not include this statement in the 2022 Rent Increase. 

Instead, the only text that were provided in bolded font were “Notice of Rent Increase,” 

“Address,” and “Mead Holding LLC” letterhead. See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T1. 

Third, the 2022 Rent Increase Notice provided for a $200 increase, which equates to an 

increase of over 15%. Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T1. This is well above the 3% CPI 

Rent Adjustment allowed by the City of Oakland for the relevant time period. 

Fourth, the 2022 Rent Increase Notice stated that the increase was justified “due to high 

inflation rates that include increasing property and city tax, water, PG&E, as well as 

maintenance in addition to other factors.” See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T1. Owner 

confirms such rationale in the Owner Appeal, stating that Tenant’s rent “would be increased 

from $1,300 to $1,500 due to increased operating expenses.” See Owner Appeal, p. 5. Owner 

argues that such an increase is justifiable, as the Oakland Municipal Code allows rent increases 

to exceed the CPI Rent Adjustment. Id. The Oakland Moratorium, however, prohibits rent 

increases in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment on the basis of increased operating expenses 

during the Local Emergency. Oakland Moratorium, § 4. Further analysis of Owner’s 

misinterpretation of rent increases in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment is discussed in Section 

D, infra. 

For the foregoing reasons, the 2022 Rent Increase was properly found invalid. 

C. The 2019 Rent Increase 

The 2019 Rent Increase was plainly and facially unlawful, and was properly held by the 

Hearing Officer to be invalid. The 2019 Rent Increase required an increase in Tenant’s rental 

payments from $1,000 per month to $1,300 per month, in excess of the allowable CPI Rent 

Adjustment; the rent increase did not meet requirements under the Oakland Municipal Code; 

and the rent increase was not a rent set back. 

000100



 

6 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 1. The 2019 Rent Increase Did Not Include the RAP Notice 

It is undisputed that the 2019 Rent Increase did not include the legally required RAP 

Notice. See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T2. Owner provided only the rent increase 

notice, itself, along with a printout from the Rent Adjustment Program website. Tenant has 

provided sufficient evidence to demonstrate this deficiency. Owner does not dispute the fact 

that no RAP notice was included with the 2019 Rent Increase, and has not disputed this fact in 

either the Owner Response; the second, delinquent, Owner Response; or in the Owner Appeal. 

In his Appeal filing, Owner states, “At the inception of their tenancy, we provided the 

tenants with a RAP notice. The tenants claiming that they were not able to retain the notice that 

was provided to them may be due to the fact that they moved in 10 years ago.” This statement 

is problematic for several reasons. 

First, the allegation that Owner provided Tenant with a RAP Notice at the inception of 

their tenancy is false. Tenant has stated in her Petition, under penalty of perjury, that she was 

never provided with a RAP Notice. See Tenant Petition, T23-0019. Tenant has not wavered 

from this assertion. Owner, on the other hand, has repeatedly changed his story, and has 

provided no evidence to support his false statement at any stage of this case. In the Owner 

Response dated January 31, 2023, Owner, under penalty of perjury, affirmatively checked the 

box stating: “I have never provided a RAP Notice.” See Owner Response (Jan. 31, 2023). In the 

second Owner Response, Owner, under penalty of perjury, affirmatively checked the box 

stating: “I do not know if a RAP Notice was ever provided.” See Owner Response (Mar. 31, 

2023). Owner now claims to have provided a RAP Notice at the inception of Tenant’s tenancy, 

contradicting Owner’s prior assertions and without providing any evidence to support his 

claim. Owner Appeal, p. 3. Owner has contradicted himself, under oath, and has not provided 

any evidence to support this claim. Accordingly, the Hearing Officer correctly found that 

Tenant was not given a RAP Notice at the beginning of her tenancy.  

Second, Owner misunderstands the notice requirement. While a RAP Notice is required 

to be provided at the inception of a tenancy, a RAP Notice is also required to be provided with 

000101



 

7 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

each rent increase notice. Oakland Mun. Code § 8.22.070(H). Even if Owner had provided 

Tenant with a RAP Notice at the inception of her tenancy, Owner would still be required to 

provide additional RAP Notices concurrently with rent increase notices. Owner did not provide 

the required RAP Notice with the 2019 Rent Increase and has not disputed this fact. Tenant 

Evidence Submission, Exh. T2. Tenant has provided sufficient evidence for the Hearing Officer 

to find that Owner failed in his duty to provide the required notice. 

 2. The Increase Amount Exceeded That Allowed by Law 

The 2019 Rent Increase imposed an increase from $1,000 per month to $1,300 per 

month, which equates to an increase of 30%. This rent increase is illegal on its face. The 2019 

CPI Rent Adjustment was 3.5%. Moreover, the Oakland Municipal Code restricts rent 

increases based on CPI Rent Adjustments to no more than 10% in any 12-month period, and no 

more than 30% over any period of five years. § 8.22.070(A)(2)-(3). A rent increase of 30% is 

clearly improper, and the 2019 Rent Increase was correctly held to be invalid. 

 3. The 2019 Rent Increase was an Increase and Not a Set Back 

Owner’s contention that the 2019 Rent Increase should be considered a rent “set back” 

is without merit. Tenant denies Owner’s account of an agreement of services in exchange for a 

rent reduction. Owner did not raise this issue in either of his two Owner Responses, and has 

provided no evidence to support such an allegation. In fact, Owner, himself, contradicts this 

characterization of the rent increase in the actual 2019 Rent Increase Notice. 

In his Appeal, Owner provides that “the tenants and I had an agreement when they first 

moved in that the monthly rent would be $1,300, but if they were to pull out the garbage bins 

every Monday for all 6 units, and keep the front and backyard clean, then they would pay 

$1,000.” Owner Appeal, p. 2. Owner states that such agreement was “verbal.” Id. at p. 3. 

Tenant denies the existence of such an agreement. Tenant’s rental rate when she moved 

into the property in 2013 was $1,000 per month. Tenant has never agreed to a reduced rental 

rate from $1,300 to $1,000 per month in exchange for services to Owner or at the subject 

property. Tenant has never agreed to a reduced rental rate in exchange for services to Owner or 

000102



 

8 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

at the subject property, either verbally or in writing. Owner has provided no evidence to 

support his claim that such an agreement existed, and Owner did not raise this argument at the 

proper time: in his Owner Response to the Tenant Petition. 

Owner also states that: “In 2019, we provided the tenants with a 60 day notice that the 

rent would return to its original amount of $1,300 because they were no longer providing their 

services.” See Owner Appeal, p. 3, ¶ 2. The 2019 Rent Increase Notice, however, includes no 

such language about the alleged services. Instead, the 2019 Rent Increase Notice states: “The 

rental increases will be applied due to high inflation rates that include the increase of property 

and city tax, water, garbage, and other maintenance in addition to many other factors.” Tenant 

Evidence Submission, Exh. T2 (emphasis added). The 2019 Rent Increase Notice does not 

include any mention of services, of an agreement, or of a set back. Moreover, the 2019 Rent 

Increase Notice uses almost the exact same language that Owner used in the 2022 Rent 

Increase. See id. at Exh. T1 (“The increase in rent will be applied due to high inflation rates that 

include increasing property and city tax, water, PG&E, as well as maintenance in addition to 

other factors”). Owner is attempting to characterize the 2019 Rent Increase as a rent set back, 

however all evidence demonstrates that the 2019 Rent Increase was merely an unlawful rent 

increase. 

Owner further contradicts his set back argument, stating in the 2019 Rent Increase 

Notice, “Please take into consideration that rent has been $1,000 for the past 10+ years with no 

increases. The California State Law allows property owners to defer applying annual rent 

increases for up to 10 years.” Id. at Exh. T2 (emphasis added). Owner was clearly attempting to 

bank multiple years’ worth of rent increases into a single, illegal rent increase. The fact that 

Owner could have increased rent lawfully during that time period does not allow Owner to do 

so illegally by increasing Tenant’s rent by an unlawful amount and without proper notice. 

Owner is either being misleading, or mischaracterizing the 2019 Rent Increase by asserting that 

it was based on a set back rather than what it actually was: an illegal rent increase. 

000103



 

9 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

D. Owner Is Not Allowed to Implement Rent Increases Over CPI and Banking 

Without Following Proper Procedure 

Owner contends that he should be allowed to increase rent beyond CPI for a number of 

ill-defined reasons. Owner reasons that “Capital improvements to a building shall be passed on 

to the tenant as a prorated charge. A landlord is able to increase the rent due to capital 

improvements to the building.” Owner Appeal, p. 2-3, ¶ 6. Owner later states that “[R]ent 

increases that exceed the CPI increase may be justified” for a series of reasons. Id. p. 5. Yet 

again, Owner misunderstands legal rent increases allowed under the Oakland Municipal Code 

and the Oakland Moratorium. 

The Oakland Municipal Code does allow for property owners to increase rent by an 

amount in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment for reasons including capital improvements, 

uninsured repair costs, and increased housing costs. Oakland Mun. Code § 8.22.070(C). A 

property owner who seeks an increase based on any ground other than the CPI Rent 

Adjustment or Banking, however, “must first petition the Rent Program and receive approval 

for the Rent Increase before the Rent Increase can be imposed.” Id. Property owners “may 

increase rents only for increases based on the CPI Rent Adjustment or Banking, or by filing a 

petition to increase rent in excess of that amount.” Id. at § 8.22.065(A). While a property owner 

is not prohibited from increasing a tenant’s rent in excess of the relevant CPI Rent Adjustment, 

the property owner must follow proper procedures in order to do so. “Any rent increase not 

based on the CPI Rent Adjustment or Banking that is not first approved by the Rent Adjustment 

Program is void and unenforceable.” Id. 

Furthermore, the Oakland Moratorium specifically prevents almost all types of rent 

increases in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment. See Oakland Moratorium, § 4 (“[A]ny rent 

increase in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment . . . shall be void and unenforceable if the notice 

is served or has an effective date during the Local Emergency, unless required to provide a fair 

return.”). 

000104



 

10 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

In the present case, Owner did not file a petition with the Oakland Rent Adjustment 

Program before either the 2019 or 2022 Rent Increases. Owner did not receive approval from 

the Rent Adjustment Program to impose a rent increase in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment 

before either the 2019 or 2022 Rent Increases. Owner instead took it upon himself to increase 

Tenant’s rent by an unconscionable amount on two separate occasions without following 

established and legally required procedures. 

E. Owner’s Appeal Includes Allegations and Arguments That Lie Beyond the 

Scope of the Underlying Petition and this Appeal 

Matters on appeal are limited in their scope. The Rent Adjustment Program Regulations 

contain an enumerated list of grounds for appeal. See, e.g., Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

Regulations; Oakland Municipal Code § 8.22.120. As a general rule, Appeals should not 

conduct evidentiary hearings or consider the introduction of new evidence. See Oakland Rent 

Adjustment Program Regulations. 

Here, Owner attempts to include a number of arguments and accompanying evidence 

that lie well beyond the scope of the underlying Petition, and bear no relevance to this case. 

Specifically, the following allegations are irrelevant with regard to whether or not the 2019 and 

2022 Rent Increases were proper and legal: whether or not Owner requested that tenants at the 

property pull out their own garbage bins, whether or not Owner decided to begin cleaning 

around the property, whether or not Tenant had an extra refrigerator, the number of persons 

living within the subject property, whether or not a fire department violation occurred, and 

whether or not Tenant’s family used multiple parking spaces. Owner Appeal, p. 2, ¶¶ 1-5. 

Tenant reserves the right to challenge or dispute Owner’s allegations. 

Additionally, Owner’s table of Increased Housing Service Costs is similarly irrelevant 

for the purposes of this appeal. The issue of whether or not Owner incurred increased costs falls 

outside of the scope of the Tenant Petition and of this Appeal. Furthermore, Owner has 

provided no evidence to support his claim that he incurred increased housing costs aside from 

000105



 

11 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

the table, itself. Owner Appeal, p. 4. Tenant reserves the right to challenge or dispute Owner’s 

contention regarding increased housing costs. 

Owner did not raise these allegations or arguments in either of his two Owner 

Responses, and they should not be considered in, and are not relevant to, this Appeal. 

F. Owner’s Allegation of Fraud Is False and Improper 

Tenant included in her Tenant Evidence Submission a letter, dated July 5, 2022 and 

signed by Owner. See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T4. The purpose of including the 

letter in the Tenant Evidence Submission was to provide further evidence that Tenant was 

current on her rental payments. 

In his Owner Appeal, Owner alleges that Tenant “fraudulently used immigration as an 

excuse to receive a recommendation letter from me, that is now being used against me.” Owner 

Appeal, p. 5. 

Tenant denies defrauding Owner. Tenant did not request the letter for any purposes 

other than those that Tenant made Owner aware of at the time of her request. Tenant was 

truthful in her request, and has been honest and consistent throughout the entirety of this action. 

Unless Owner is admitting to having committed fraud by lying in his letter, no fraud occurred. 

Tenant reserves the right to pursue Owner on any and all claims related to Owner’s baseless 

allegation of fraud. 

G. The April 12, 2023 Hearing Was Not Canceled Without Proper Notice 

Owner contends that the Hearing for the underlying Petition was “canceled without 

proper notice.” Owner Appeal, p. 5. As discussed in Section A, supra, the Hearing Officer did 

not act improperly in issuing a ruling by Administrative Decision. The cancelation of the 

Hearing was properly noticed in the Hearing Officer’s decision, served on the Parties on April 

6, 2023, by Analyst Brittni Lothlen. See T23-0019 Administrative Decision, p. 4, ¶ 4. 

III. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth herein, the Appeals Board should find affirm the Hearing 

Officer’s decision to grant the Tenant Petition. 

000106



12 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Dated: May 2, 2023 CENTRO LEGAL DE LA RAZA 

By: 
Gregory T. Ching
Attorney for Tenant-Respondent Maria Barragan

000107



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

CITY OF OAKLAND 
RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 
(510) 238-3721
CA Relay Service 711
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR PETITION OR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY ADDITIONAL 
DOCUMENTS) ON THE OPPOSING PARTIES. 

➢ Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner in which service took place, as well as
the person(s) served.

➢ Provide a copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the opposing parties together with the document(s)
served.

➢ File the completed PROOF OF SERVICE form with the Rent Adjustment Program together with the document
you are filing and any attachments you are serving.

➢ Please number sequentially all additional documents provided to the RAP.

PETITIONS FILED WITHOUT A PROOF OF SERVICE WILL BE CONSIDERED INCOMPLETE AND MAY BE 
DISMISSED. 

I served a copy of: 

TENANT-RESPONDENT MARIA BARRAGAN'S REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT 
OF TENANT PETITION IN
  PETITION CASE NO.:T23-0019    _______________________
(insert name of document served) 
 And Additional Documents

and (write number of attached pages) __________ attached pages (not counting the Petition or 
Response served or the Proof of Service) to each opposing party, whose name(s) and address(es) are 
listed below, by one of the following means (check one): 

❑ a. United States mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package
addressed to the person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the
sealed envelope with the United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid.

❑ b.   Deposited it with a commercial carrier, using a service at least as expeditious as first
class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid, addressed to each opposing party as
listed below.

❑ c. Personal Service. (1) By Hand Delivery: I personally delivered the document(s) to the
person(s) at the address(es) listed below; or (2) I left the document(s) at the address(es) with
some person not younger than 18 years of age.

PERSON(S) SERVED: 
Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

X

    0

Ahmed Said

2400 Market St. Suite B

Oakland, CA 94607

   (12 pages)

000108

http://www.oaklandca.gov/RAP


City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 
 
 

-2- 

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 
 
To serve more than 8 people, copy this page as many times as necessary and insert in your proof of service document. If you are 
only serving one person, you can use just the first and last page. 
  

000109



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

-3- 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct and the documents were served on _ / /  (insert date served).

_______________________________
PRINT YOUR NAME 

_______________________________        _______________ 
SIGNATURE  DATE 

  

Israel Lepiz

05/02/23

000110



05/24/2023 Barragan et al v. Mead Holding LLC

Att: Hearing of Appeal

Case Number: T23-0019

Notice of Appeal
I, the appealing party, would like to present to you why the appeal should be granted.

We are challenging the decision made by the rent board because at the inception of

their tenancy [2012], we agreed that the rent would be $1,300. However, we verbally

agreed that if they were to pull out all 6 garbage bins for weekly garbage pick up, keep

the front and backyards clean, and have the storage room, then they would pay $1,000

ONLY if they were able to hold up their end of the agreement.

1. Tenants built an extra structure without landlord approval, and the fire department

sent the landlord a notice of violation because the structure was unpermitted. We

were fined, and I, as the landlord, had to pay, and remove the structure.

2. We provided them with a free storage room, but they DID NOT notify us that they

would plug in refrigerators, and other equipment to the house meter using

extension cords [big fire hazard].

Also, the tenants exceeded the agreed occupancy of 5 people for a 2 bedroom

unit, as they had up to 7 people living in the unit. We never complained when

PG&E and EBMUD rates increased.

3. Each unit has ONE parking spot allocated to them for their use, but have

continued to park their vehicles in prohibited areas around the building.

4. We have made capital improvements to the building, and specifically their unit

such as: New roof, New windows, New balcony door, and other improvements to

ensure that our tenants have the best living space possible. These improvements

cost us over $40,000.

000111



According to the article titled “Learn More About Allowable Rent Increases” on

the City of Oakland Website, last updated May 19th, 2023, it states that Rent Increases

that exceed the CPI Increase may be valid for one or more of the reasons. Owners may

combine more than one justification to increase rent at the same time.

A. Owners can combine CPI, banking, and capital improvements for a rent

increase in one petition.

B. Increased housing service costs [Property taxes, Utility bills, Mortgage,

and many other expenses]

5. All in all, the rent was not increased for 7 years [2012 - 2018]. In 2019, the rent

was not increased, rather it was set back to its original amount because their

services were no longer provided. We gave the tenants a 60 day written notice

notifying them that their rent payable would be set back the amount that was

agreed upon initially, $1,300.

According to the article titled “Learn More About Allowable Rent Increases” on

the City of Oakland Website, last updated May 19th, 2023, it states that Rent Increases

that exceed the CPI Increase may be valid for one or more of the reasons. Owners may

combine more than one justification to increase rent at the same time.

A. Owners can combine CPI, banking, and capital improvements for a rent

increase in one petition.

B. Increased housing service costs [Property taxes, Utility bills, Mortgage,

and many other expenses]

Closing Statement: San Francisco, and Oakland always favor the tenants. We’re

asking since you are the judge and mediator of this hearing to PLEASE BE FAIR. When

we increased the rent, we increased fairly, not by thousands of dollars, or an

unreasonable amount. We ask that you please take our argument into consideration

and reason with us because living costs continue to increase, and the pandemic was an

uphill battle as mortgages and taxes were still due on a month to month basis, but

tenants were given the opportunity to withhold rent. Ultimately, we are very fair landlords

000112



to our tenants as they have been renting from us for over 10 years now, otherwise they

would not be paying $1,500 per month for a 2 bedroom with parking, and free water

(EBMUD).

000113



CHRONOLOGICAL CASE REPORT 

 

Case No.:      T22-0015   

Case Name:      Fleurentin v. Meridian Management Group   

Property Address:     315 Wayne Place, Unit 307, Oakland, CA 94606   

Parties:               Jennifer Weingand (Manager) 
      Greg & JR McConnell (Owner Representatives) 
      Laurie Fleurentin (Tenant) 
      Christa Conry (Tenant Representative) 
 

OWNER APPEAL: 

Activity       Date 

Tenant Petition filed     January 3, 2022 

Owner Response filed     February 9, 2022  

Business Tax Renewal & Receipt submitted  February 9, 2022 

Administrative Decision mailed    March 16, 2022  

Tenant Appeal filed     April 4, 2022 

Owner Response to Tenant Appeal submitted April 11, 2022 

Appeal Hearing Date     May 26, 2022 

000114



Appeal Decision mailed     June 30, 2022 

Owner Documentation submitted   September 5, 2022 

Remand Hearing Dates     September 27, 2022 
        January 11-13, 2023 
        January 18-19, 2023 
 
Tenant’s Closing Brief     January 25, 2023 
 
Owner’s Closing Brief     January 25, 2023 
 
Remand Hearing Decision mailed   August 4, 2023 

Owner Appeal filed     August 23, 2023 

Appeal Addendum submitted    September 7, 2023 

Tenant Response to Owner Appeal filed  September 7, 2023 

 

000115



000116



000117



000118



000119



000120



000121



000122



000123



000124



000125



000126



000127



000128



000129



000130



000131



000132



000133



000134



000135



000136



000137

brianalawrence
Text Box
A copy of this document is located on p. 219 of the packet



000138



000139



000140



000141



000142



000143



000144



000145



000146



000147



000148



000149



000150



000151



000152



000153



  

Page 1 of 4 
Property Owner Response to Tenant Petition   

Rev. 1/6/2021 

 

PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE 
TO TENANT PETITION 

  
Please fill out this form as completely as you can. Use this form to respond to the Tenant Petition you received. By 

completing this response form and submitting it in the required time for filing, you will be able to participate in the hearing. Failure to 
provide the required information may result in your response being rejected or delayed. See “Important Information Regarding Filing 
Your Response” on the last page of this packet for more information, including filing instructions and how to contact the Rent 
Adjustment Program (“RAP”) with questions. Additional information is also available on the RAP website. CONTACT A HOUSING 
COUNSELOR TO REVIEW YOUR RESPONSE BEFORE SUBMITTING. To make an appointment email RAP@oaklandca.gov .         

Rental Unit Information 

 

______________       ________________________________________       ___________      Oakland, CA  _____________  

Street Number            Street Name                                                                   Unit Number                              Zip Code               

Is there more than one street address on the parcel?    Yes 

 No 
If yes, list all addresses:______________________________ 

Type of unit(s) 
(check one): 

 Single family home 

 Condominium 

 Apartment, room, or live-work 

 
Number of units on property: _____________________ 

Date acquired property: _________________________ 

Case number(s) of any relevant prior Rent Adjustment case(s): _________________________________________________ 

Tenant Information   

Name of Tenant Petitioner(s): ______________________________________________________________________________    

Date tenant(s) moved into rental unit: ____________ Initial rent amount: $___________ 
Is/are tenant(s) 

current on rent? 

 Yes 

 No 

Property Owner Information 

_________________________________________         _______________________________________________________ 

First Name                                                                          Last Name 

Company/LLC/LP (if applicable): ____________________________________________________________________________  

Mailing address: _________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Primary Telephone: ____________________ Other Telephone: ____________________ Email: _________________________ 

Property Owner Representative  (Check one):  No Representative  Attorney  Non-attorney 

_____________________________       _________________________________         ________________________________ 

First Name                                                Last Name                                                         Firm/Organization (if any) 

Mailing Address: _________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Phone Number: ________________________________  Email: ___________________________________________________ 

 

 

CITY OF OAKLAND 

RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 

Oakland, CA 94612-0243 

(510) 238-3721 

CA Relay Service 711 

www.oaklandca.gov/RAP 

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 

 

 

 
 

 
 CASE NUMBER T   - ________ 22 0015

315 Wayne Place 307

9503/2013

94606

Laurie Fleurentin

Meridian Management / University President Associates

Jennifer Weingard (owner agent)

1717 Powell St. #300, San Francisco CA

jweingand@mmgprop.com415-470-8474

Greg / JR McConnell The McConnell Group

1Embarcadero W. #168 Oakland CA 94607

510-691-7365 jr@themcconnellgroup.com

36
October 2014

000154

mailto:RAP@oaklandca.gov
http://www.oaklandca.gov/RAP


  

Page 2 of 4 
Property Owner Response to Tenant Petition   

Rev. 1/6/2021 

GENERAL FILING REQUIREMENTS 

To file a Response to a Tenant Petition, the property owner must be current on the following requirements and submit 
supporting documentation of compliance. Property Owner Responses that are submitted without proof of compliance with the 
below requirements will be considered incomplete and may limit your participation in the hearing.  

Requirement Documentation 

 Current Oakland business license Attach proof of payment of your most recent Oakland business license. 

 Payment of Rent Adjustment Program 
service fee (“RAP Fee”) 

Attach proof of payment of the current year’s RAP Fee for the subject property. 

 Service of the required City form 
entitled “NOTICE TO TENANTS OF 
THE RESIDENTIAL RENT 
ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM” (“RAP 
Notice”) on all tenants  

Attach a signed and dated copy of the first RAP Notice provided to the 

petitioning tenant(s) or check the appropriate box below. 

 I first provided tenant(s) with the RAP Notice on (date):_______________. 

 I have never provided a RAP Notice. 

 I do not know if a RAP Notice was ever provided. 

 

PROPERTY OWNER CLAIM OF EXEMPTION 

If you believe that the subject property is exempt from the Rent Adjustment Ordinance (pursuant to O.M.C. § 8.22.030), check 
each box below that is the claimed basis of exemption. Attach supporting documentation together with your response form. If 
you do not claim any exemption, proceed to the “Response to Tenant Petition” section on the following page. 

 

 The unit is a single-family residence or condominium exempted by the Costa Hawkins Rental Housing Act (Civil Code 

1954.50, et seq.). If claiming this exemption, you must answer the following questions. Attach a separate sheet 

if necessary. 
 

1. Did the prior tenant leave after being given a notice to quit (Civil Code Section 1946)? 

2. Did the prior tenant leave after being given a notice of rent increase (Civil Code Section 827)? 

3. Was the prior tenant evicted for cause? 

4. At the time the prior tenant vacated were there any outstanding violations of building housing, fire or safety codes in 
the unit or building? 

5. Is the unit separately alienable, meaning it can be sold separately from any other unit on the parcel? 

6. Did the petitioning tenant have roommates when he/she moved in? 

7. If the unit is a condominium, did you purchase it? If so: 1) From whom? 2) Did you purchase the entire building? 

 

 The rent for the unit is controlled, regulated, or subsidized by a governmental unit, agency, or authority other than the City 
of Oakland Rent Adjustment Ordinance. (Attach documentation.) 

 The unit was newly constructed and issued a Certificate of Occupancy on or after January 1, 1983. (Attach copy of 
Certificate of Occupancy.) 

 The unit is located in a motel, hotel, or rooming/boarding house, which the tenant petitioner has occupied for less than 30 
days. 

 The unit is in a building that was previously issued a certificate of exemption from RAP based on substantial rehabilitation. 
(Attach copy of Certificate of Exemption.)  

 The unit is an accommodation in a hospital, convent, monastery, extended care facility, convalescent home, non-profit 
home for the aged, or dormitory owned and operated by an educational institution. (Attach documentation.) 

 

 
  

to be provided prior to hearing, per RAP regulations

Type text here

upon acquiring 
the building
and by prior owners.

to be provided prior to hearing, per RAP regulations

000155



  

Page 3 of 4 
Property Owner Response to Tenant Petition   

Rev. 1/6/2021 

RESPONSE TO TENANT PETITION 

Use the chart(s) below to respond to the grounds stated in the Tenant Petition. Enter your position on each claim in the 

appropriate section(s) below. You may attach any documents, photographs, or other tangible evidence that support your 

position together with your response form. If you need more space, attach additional copies of this page or state your response 

in a separate sheet attached to this form. 

A. 
Unlawful Rent Increase(s) 

Complete this section if any of the grounds for the Tenant Petition fall under Category A on the Tenant Petition.  

List all rent increases given within the past five years, starting with the most recent increase. 

Date tenant 

given notice of 
rent increase: 

Date rent 

increase went 
into effect: 

Amount of increase: Did you provide a 

RAP Notice with the 
notice of rent 
increase? 

Reason for increase 

(CPI, banking, or 
other): 

(mm/dd/yy) (mm/dd/yy) FROM TO YES NO  

  $                $                  

  $ $    

  $ $    

  $ $    

  $ $    

If the Tenant Petition is based on either of the following grounds, state your response in the space below or in a 

separate sheet attached to this form.  

Tenant Petition Grounds Owner Response 

(A2)   Tenant did not receive proper notice, was not 
properly served, and/or was not provided with 
the required RAP form with rent increase(s). 

 

(A3)   A government agency has cited the unit for 
serious health, safety, fire, or building code 
violations. 

 

B. 

Decreased Housing Services 

Complete this section if any of the grounds for the Tenant Petition fall under Category B on the Tenant Petition.  

Tenant Petition Grounds Owner Response 

(B1)   The owner is providing tenant(s) with fewer 

housing services and/or charging for services 
originally paid for by the owner. 

 

(B2)   Tenant(s) is/are being unlawfully charged for 
utilities. 

 

C. 
                                                Other 

Complete this section if any of the grounds for the Tenant Petition fall under Category C on the Tenant Petition. 

Tenant Petition Grounds Owner Response 

(C1)   Rent was not reduced after a prior rent increase 
period for capital improvements. 

 

(C2)   Owner exemption based on fraud or mistake.  

(C3) Tenant’s initial rent amount was unlawful 

because owner was not permitted to set initial 
rent without limitation (O.M.C. § 8.22.080 (C)).  

 

x Costa - Hawkins4/15/2020 1/1/21 1178 2800

Owner denies this claim and will provide testimony at 
hearing and evidentiary documentation prior  to hearing
per RAP regulations. - See Attachment A

Owner denies this claim and will provide testimony at 
hearing and evidentiary documentation prior  to hearing
per RAP regulations. - See Attachment A

000156



  

Page 4 of 4 
Property Owner Response to Tenant Petition   

Rev. 1/6/2021 

 

-END OF RESPONSE-

OWNER VERIFICATION 
(Required) 

I/We declare under penalty of perjury pursuant to the laws of the State of California that everything I/we said in 
this response is true and that all of the documents attached to the response are true copies of the originals. 

 
 

 

Property Owner 1 Signature 

 
 

 

Date 

 
 

 

Property Owner 2 Signature 

 
 

 

Date 

CONSENT TO ELECTRONIC SERVICE 
(Highly Recommended) 

 

Check the box below if you agree to have RAP staff send you documents related to your case electronically. If all 

parties agree to electronic service, the RAP will send certain documents only electronically and not by first class mail. 
 

 I/We consent to receiving notices and documents in this matter electronically at the email address(es) 
provided in this response. 

MEDIATION PROGRAM 

Mediation is an optional process offered by RAP to assist parties in settling the issues related to their Rent Adjustment 
case as an alternative to the formal hearing process. A trained third party will work with the parties prior to the hearing 

to see if a mutual agreement can be reached. If a settlement is reached, the parties will sign a binding agreement and 

there will not be a formal hearing. If no settlement is reached, the case will go to a formal hearing with a Rent 

Adjustment Hearing Officer, who will then issue a hearing decision. 

Mediation will only be scheduled if both parties agree to mediate. Sign below if you agree to mediation in your case. 
 

I agree to have the case mediated by a Rent Adjustment Program staff mediator. 
 

 

__________________________________________                                                                         __________________ 

Property Owner Signature                                                                                                                    Date 

INTERPRETATION SERVICES 

If English is not your primary language, you have the right to an interpreter in your primary language/dialect at the Rent 
Adjustment hearing and mediation session. You can request an interpreter by completing this section.                             

                                                                      

 I request an interpreter fluent in the following 

language at my Rent Adjustment proceeding: 

 Spanish (Español)  

 Cantonese  (廣東話) 

 Mandarin  (普通话) 

 Other: ____________________________ 

Owner Reprsentative 2/8/2022

000157



 

Page 1 of 2 
Proof of Service  

Rev. 1/5/2021 

CITY OF OAKLAND 

RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 

Oakland, CA 94612-0243 

(510) 238-3721 

CA Relay Service 711 

www.oaklandca.gov/RAP 

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 

 

 

 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

 

NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY 
ATTACHMENTS) ON THE TENANT(S) PRIOR TO FILING YOUR RESPONSE WITH RAP.  

1) Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner of service and the person(s) served.  
2) Provide a completed copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the person(s) being served together with the 

documents being served. 

3) File a completed copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form with RAP together with your Response. Your 
Response will not be considered complete until this form has been filed indicating that service has occurred. 

On the following date: _____/_____/_____ I served a copy of (check all that apply):    

 PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE TO TENANT PETITION plus ______ attached pages 
(number of pages attached to Response not counting the Response form or PROOF OF 
SERVICE) 

 Other: ___________________________________________ 

 
by the following means (check one):  

 United States Mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package addressed to the 
person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the sealed envelope with the 
United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid. 

 Commercial Carrier. I deposited the document(s) with a commercial carrier, using a service 
at least as expeditious as first-class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid, addressed 
to the person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below. 

 Personal Service. I personally delivered the document(s) to the person(s) at the 
address(es) listed below or I left the document(s) at the address(es) with some person not 
younger than 18 years of age. 

 

PERSON(S) SERVED: 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 

 

 

 

 

 

2 8 2022

 Electronic Service

Laurie Fleurentin

loyfle10@gmail.com

1

000158

http://www.oaklandca.gov/RAP


  

Page 2 of 2 
Proof of Service 

Rev. 1/5/2021 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct. 

 

_______________________________________________ 

           PRINTED NAME 

 

__________________________________________   __________________ 

SIGNATURE         DATE SIGNED

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

2/8/2022

JR McConnell, Owner Reprsentative

Johanna Kanes

jkanes@heraca.org

000159



 

Page 1 of 2 
Information Sheet 

Rev. 1/22/2021 

IMPORTANT INFORMATION 
___________REGARDING FILING YOUR RESPONSE________ 

TIME TO FILE YOUR RESPONSE 

Your Property Owner Response form must be received by the Rent Adjustment Program within 35 days after 
the Tenant Petition was mailed to you (30 days if the Petition was delivered in-person). RAP staff cannot grant 
an extension of time to file.  

CONTACT A HOUSING COUNSELOR TO REVIEW YOUR RESPONSE BEFORE SUBMITTING 

To make an appointment, email RAP@oaklandca.gov or call (510) 238-3721. Although the Housing Resource 
Center is temporarily closed for drop-in services, assistance is available by email or telephone.  

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED IN SUPPORT OF RESPONSE 

All attachments submitted together with your Response must be numbered sequentially. You may submit 
additional evidence in support of your Response up to seven days before your hearing. You must serve a 
copy of any documents filed with RAP on the other party and submit a PROOF OF SERVICE form.  

SERVICE ON TENANT(S) 

You are required to serve a copy of your Property Owner Response form (plus any attachments) on the tenant or 
the tenant’s representative and submit a PROOF OF SERVICE form together with your Response.  

(1) Serve a copy of your Response on the tenant by mail or personal delivery.  
(2) Complete a PROOF OF SERVICE form (included in this Response packet and available on RAP 

website) indicating the date and manner of service and the person(s) served.  
(3) Provide the tenant with a completed copy of the PROOF OF SERVICE form together with the 

document(s) being served.  
(4) File a completed copy of the PROOF OF SERVICE form together with your Response when 

submitting to RAP.  

Note: Your Response will not be considered complete until a PROOF OF SERVICE form has been filed 
indicating that the tenant has been served.  

FILING YOUR RESPONSE 

Although RAP normally does not accept filings by email or fax, RAP is temporarily accepting Responses via 
email during the COVID-19 local state of emergency. You may also fill out and submit your Response 
online through the RAP website or deliver the Response to the RAP office by mail. If the RAP office is 
closed on the last day to file, the time to file is extended to the next day the office is open. If you send your 
Response by mail, a postmark date does not count as the date it was received. Remember to file a PROOF 
OF SERVICE form together with your Response. 

 
Via email: hearingsunit@oaklandca.gov 

 
Mail to: City of Oakland 

Rent Adjustment Program 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Ste. 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 

 
File online: https://www.oaklandca.gov/services/respond-to-a-tenant-petition-for-the-rent-

adjustment-program 
 

000160

mailto:RAP@oaklandca.gov
mailto:hearingsunit@oaklandca.gov
https://www.oaklandca.gov/services/respond-to-a-tenant-petition-for-the-rent-adjustment-program
https://www.oaklandca.gov/services/respond-to-a-tenant-petition-for-the-rent-adjustment-program


  

Page 2 of 2 
Information Sheet 

Rev. 1/5/2021 

 

 
In person: TEMPORARILY CLOSED 

City of Oakland 
Dalziel Building, 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza Suite 
5313 Reception area 
Use Rent Adjustment date-stamp to stamp your documents to verify timely 
delivery and place them in RAP self-service drop box. 

 
 

AFTER RESPONSE IS FILED 

In most cases, RAP will schedule a hearing to determine whether the Tenant Petition should be granted 
or denied. You will be mailed a Notice of Hearing indicating the hearing date. If you are unable to attend 
the hearing, contact RAP as soon as possible. The hearing will only be postponed for good cause. 

FILE/DOCUMENT REVIEW 

Either party may contact RAP to review the case file and/or to request copies of any documents 
pertaining to the case at any time prior to the scheduled hearing.  

 FOR MORE INFORMATION  

Additional information on the petition and hearing process is located on the RAP website and in the Residential 
Rent Adjustment Program Ordinance and Regulations (see Oakland Municipal Code 8.22.010 et seq.). For more 
information on rent increases, including the list of the annual allowable CPI rates and calculators for certain 
justifications, see: https://www.oaklandca.gov/resources/learn-more-about-allowable-rent-increases, or you can 
refer to the Guide on Oakland Rental Housing Law at https://cao-94612.s3.amazonaws.com/documents/Guide-
to-Oakland-Rental-Housing-Law-1.pdf. You may also contact a RAP Housing Counselor with questions at any 
time by emailing RAP@oaklandca.gov or calling (510) 238-3721.  

000161

https://www.oaklandca.gov/resources/learn-more-about-allowable-rent-increases
https://cao-94612.s3.amazonaws.com/documents/Guide-to-Oakland-Rental-Housing-Law-1.pdf
https://cao-94612.s3.amazonaws.com/documents/Guide-to-Oakland-Rental-Housing-Law-1.pdf


Attachment A 

 

• The rent increase is authorized by Costa Hawkins rental housing act 

• The Petition is time barred 

• Owner  denies each and every allegation made by Tenant 

• Owner reserves the right to amend the response as more information becomes available 

 

 

 

000162



000163



Guest Report a ProblemHome
Find Account Registration Calculation Payment Receipt Account # 00206650

UNIVERSITY PRESIDENT ASSOCIATES LP
Business License Online Renewal 

PRINT THIS PAGE FOR YOUR RECORD
The business tax license renewal has been submitted. Business tax certificates will be emailed 2 to 5 days after sucessfully renewing
account. For questions, please contact the Business Tax office at (510) 238-3704 or btwebsupport@oaklandca.gov. Thank you, City
of Oakland - Business Tax

Submission Date 2/9/2022
Confirmation # 314102
 
Account Information
Account # 00206650
Expire Date 12/31/2022
Name UNIVERSITY PRESIDENT ASSOCIATES LP
Address 315 WAYNE PL
City OAKLAND
Phone (415) 733-0828
 
Summary 

Input Amount
Tax Calculation
Enter 2021 Gross Receipts *(Enter estimated 2022 Gross Receipts if business started in Oakland in 2021)* 874,191.47 $12,194.97
BT SB1186 (AB1379) 1 $4.00
BT Recordation and Tech 1 $4.50
Rent Adjustment Program (RAP) Calculation - only use whole numbers below
a. Total # of units per Alameda County Records: 46 $4,646.00
Total Due $16,849.47
 
Payment Information
Payment Amount $16,849.47

After printing or saving this page for your records, you may close this browser window/tab.

Select Language  ▼

OFFICIALSEVENTSDEPARTMENTSSERVICESNEWS

Elected Officials 
Departments
Boards and Commissions
Staff Directory

Services
News & Updates 
Events
Documents

#OaklandLoveLife
Oakland Library
Visit Oakland 
Oakland Museum

For Assistance 
Email: btwebsupport@oaklandca.go
Phone: (510) 238-3704

City of Oakland 
250 Frank H Ogawa Plaza, Suite 132
Oakland, CA 94612 

Type to chat now

Hey there! How can we help you
today?

000164

https://ltss.oaklandnet.com/Home/ReportProblem
https://ltss.oaklandnet.com/Home/Home/BusinessLicense
javascript:printPage();
javascript:void(0)
https://www.oaklandca.gov/officials
https://www.oaklandca.gov/events
https://www.oaklandca.gov/departments
https://www.oaklandca.gov/services
https://www.oaklandca.gov/departments/media-center
https://www.oaklandca.gov/officials
https://www.oaklandca.gov/departments
https://www.oaklandca.gov/boards-and-commissions
https://www.oaklandca.gov/staff-members
https://www.oaklandca.gov/services
https://www.oaklandca.gov/departments/media-center
https://www.oaklandca.gov/events
https://www.oaklandca.gov/documents
https://www.oaklandca.gov/issues/oaklandlovelife
https://www.oaklandlibrary.org/
https://www.visitoakland.com/
https://museumca.org/
mailto:btwebsupport@oaklandca.gov


 
Hours: 
8:00 AM-4:00 PM 
Monday, Tuesday, Thursday ,Friday 
 
9:30 AM-4:00 PM Wednesdays.

Type to chat now

Hey there! How can we help you
today?

000165



 

Page 1 of 2 
Proof of Service  

Rev. 1/5/2021 

CITY OF OAKLAND 

RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 

Oakland, CA 94612-0243 

(510) 238-3721 

CA Relay Service 711 

www.oaklandca.gov/RAP 

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 

 

 

 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

 

NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY 
ATTACHMENTS) ON THE TENANT(S) PRIOR TO FILING YOUR RESPONSE WITH RAP.  

1) Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner of service and the person(s) served.  
2) Provide a completed copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the person(s) being served together with the 

documents being served. 

3) File a completed copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form with RAP together with your Response. Your 
Response will not be considered complete until this form has been filed indicating that service has occurred. 

On the following date: _____/_____/_____ I served a copy of (check all that apply):    

 PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE TO TENANT PETITION plus ______ attached pages 
(number of pages attached to Response not counting the Response form or PROOF OF 
SERVICE) 

 Other: ___________________________________________ 

 
by the following means (check one):  

 United States Mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package addressed to the 
person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the sealed envelope with the 
United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid. 

 Commercial Carrier. I deposited the document(s) with a commercial carrier, using a service 
at least as expeditious as first-class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid, addressed 
to the person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below. 

 Personal Service. I personally delivered the document(s) to the person(s) at the 
address(es) listed below or I left the document(s) at the address(es) with some person not 
younger than 18 years of age. 

 

PERSON(S) SERVED: 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 

 

 

 

 

 

2 9 2022

Business License Renewal Receipt

Electronic Service

Laurie Fleurentin

loyfle10@gmail.com

000166

http://www.oaklandca.gov/RAP


  

Page 2 of 2 
Proof of Service 

Rev. 1/5/2021 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct. 

 

_______________________________________________ 

           PRINTED NAME 

 

__________________________________________   __________________ 

SIGNATURE         DATE SIGNED

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

Johanna Kanes

jkanes@heraca.org

JR McConnell, Owner Reprsentative

2/9/2022

000167



000168



000169



000170



000171



Revised January 10, 2022 

 

APPEAL 
 
Appellant’s Name  

☐ Owner    ☐ Tenant 

Property Address (Include Unit Number) 

Appellant’s Mailing Address (For receipt of notices) Case Number 

Date of Decision appealed 

Name of Representative (if any) Representative’s Mailing Address (For 
notices) 

 
Please select your ground(s) for appeal from the list below. As part of the appeal, an explanation must 
be provided responding to each ground for which you are appealing. Each ground for appeal listed 
below includes directions as to what should be included in the explanation.  
 
1) There are math/clerical errors that require the Hearing Decision to be updated. (Please clearly 

explain the math/clerical errors.) 
2) Appealing the decision for one of the grounds below (required):  

 
a) ☐ The decision is inconsistent with OMC Chapter 8.22, Rent Board Regulations, or prior 

decisions of the Board. (In your explanation, you must identify the Ordinance section, 
Regulation or prior Board decision(s) and describe how the description is inconsistent.) 

 
b) ☐ The decision is inconsistent with decisions issued by other Hearing Officers. (In your 

explanation, you must identify the prior inconsistent decision and explain how the decision is 
inconsistent.) 

 
c) ☐ The decision raises a new policy issue that has not been decided by the Board. (In your 

explanation, you must provide a detailed statement of the issue and why the issue should be 
decided in your favor.) 

 
d) ☐ The decision violates federal, state, or local law. (In your explanation, you must provide a 

detailed statement as to what law is violated.) 
 
e) ☐ The decision is not supported by substantial evidence. (In your explanation, you must 

explain why the decision is not supported by substantial evidence found in the case record.) 
 

CITY OF OAKLAND 
RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 
(510) 238-3721 
CA Relay Service 711 
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP 

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 
 
 

 

Laurie Fleurentin

315 Wayne Place, Unit 307, Oakland, CA 94606

Same as property address 
T22-0015

March 15, 2022

Christa Conry, Esq. 
Housing and Economic Rights Advocates (HERA) P.O. Box 29435

Oakland, CA 94604

000172



Revised January 10, 2022 

f) ☐ I was denied a sufficient opportunity to present my claim or respond to the petitioner’s 
claim. (In your explanation, you must describe how you were denied the chance to defend your 
claims and what evidence you would have presented. Note that a hearing is not required in every 
case. Staff may issue a decision without a hearing if sufficient facts to make the decision are not 
in dispute.) 

 
g) ☐ The decision denies the Owner a fair return on the Owner’s investment. (You may appeal on 

this ground only when your underlying petition was based on a fair return claim. You must specifically 
state why you have been denied a fair return and attach the calculations supporting your claim.)  

 
h) ☐ Other. (In your explanation, you must attach a detailed explanation of your grounds for appeal.) 
 

Supporting documents (in addition to this form) must not exceed 25 pages, and must be received by 
the Rent Adjustment Program, along with a proof of service on the opposing party, within 15 days of 
the filing of this document. Only the first 25 pages of submissions from each party will be considered by the 
Board, subject to Regulations 8.22.010(A)(4). Please number attached pages consecutively. Number of 
pages attached: _____.   
 
• You must serve a copy of your appeal on the opposing parties, or your appeal may be dismissed. ● 
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that on            , 20        , 
I placed a copy of this form, and all attached pages, in the United States mail or deposited it with a commercial 
carrier, using a service at least as expeditious as first-class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid, 
addressed to each opposing party as follows: 

 
Name  

Address  

City, State Zip  

 
Name  

Address  

City, State Zip  

 
 

  

 
SIGNATURE of APPELLANT or DESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVE 

 
DATE 

 
 
 
  

1 Embarcadero W. #168

Oakland, CA 94607

Greg/JR McConnell, The McConnell Group 

Jennifer Weingard, Meridian Management/ University President Associates

1717 Powell Street, Suite 300

San Francisco, CA 94133

04/02/22

3

April 4 22

000173



Revised January 10, 2022 

IMPORTANT INFORMATION: 
 
This Appeal must be received by the Rent Adjustment Program, 250 Frank Ogawa Plaza, Suite 
5313, Oakland, California 94612, not later than 5:00 P.M. on the 20th calendar day after the date 
the decision was mailed to you as shown on the proof of service attached to the decision. If the 
last day to file is a weekend or holiday, the time to file the document is extended to the next business 
day. 

 
• Appeals filed late without good cause will be dismissed. 
• You must provide all the information required, or your appeal cannot be processed and                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

may be dismissed. 
• Any response to the appeal by the responding party must be received by the Rent 

Adjustment Program, along with a proof of service on appealing party, within 15 days of 
service of the service of the appeal if the party was personally served. If the responding 
party was served the appeal by mail, the party must file the response within 20 days of the 
date the appeal was mailed to them.  

• There is no form for the response, but the entire response is limited to 25 pages or less. 
• The Board will not consider new claims.  All claims, except jurisdictional issues, must have been 

made in the petition, response, or at the hearing. 
• The Board will not consider new evidence at the appeal hearing without specific approval. 
• You must sign and date this form or your appeal will not be processed. 
• The entire case record is available to the Board, but sections of audio recordings that you want the 

Board to review must be pre-designated to Rent Adjustment Staff. 
 

000174



 

510.271.8443    |    510.868.4521 (fax)    |    inquiries@heraca.org    |    heraca.org    |    P.O. Box 29435 Oakland, CA 94604 

 

 

 

Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 

Oakland, California 94612 

hearingsunit@oaklandca.gov 

 

Sent via Email 

 

CC: David P. Wasserman 

Wasserman-Stern Law Offices 

2960 Van Ness Avenue 

San Francisco, CA 94109 

dwasserman@wassermanstern.com 

 

CC: Jennifer Weingand 

Property Supervisor 

Meridian Management Group 

614 Grand Ave. #206 

Oakland, CA 94610 

jweingand@mmgprop.com  

 

CC: Greg/JR McConnell 

The McConnell Group 

1 Embarcadero W. #168 

Oakland, CA 94607 

 

Sent via US Mail and Email 

 

April 4, 2022 

 

Re: Case Number T22-0015, 315 Wayne Place, Unit 307, Oakland  

  

To the Oakland Rent Adjustment Program: 

 

 My organization represents tenant Laurie Fleurentin regarding an invalid and 

unenforceable rent increase she received on April 15, 2020.  The rent increase attempts to 

increase Ms. Fleurentin’s rent at the aforementioned property by 137.7%, well above the 

allowable limits of Oakland and California law.  Ms. Fleurentin filed a petition for unlawful rent 

increase with the City of Oakland Residential Rent Adjustment Program on January 4, 2022.  On 

March 15, 2022, she received notice of cancellation of hearing and the Hearing Officer’s 

administrative decision dismissing her petition as untimely filed.      

 

 Ms. Fleurentin appeals the order dismissing her petition and cancelling her hearing on the 

following grounds:  

000175



 
 

510.271.8443    |    510.868.4521 (fax)    |    inquiries@heraca.org    |    heraca.org    |    P.O. Box 29435 Oakland, CA 94604 

 
2 

 

1) The decision is inconsistent with OMC Chapter 8.22 and Rent Board Rules and 

Regulations; 

 

Oakland Municipal Code section 8.22.090(2)(b) provides a tenant must file a 

petition contesting an illegal rent increase within ninety days “of the date the tenant first 

receives written notice of the existence and scope of [the Chapter of the Oakland 

Municipal Code titled Residential Rent Adjustments and Evictions] as required by 

Section 8.22.060.”  OAKLAND MUNICIPAL CODE § 8.22.090(2)(b).  Section 8.22.060 

requires an owner to give this initial written notice in a form prescribed by the Rent 

Adjustment Program and that the notice be in English, Spanish, and Chinese.  OAKLAND 

MUNICIPAL CODE § 8.22.060(A)(2).   

   

As outlined in her initial petition, Ms. Fleurentin never received a proper RAP 

Notice in English, Spanish, and Chinese, as required by Section 8.22.060, at the 

commencement of her tenancy.  Therefore, under Section 8.22.090(2)(b), there is no time 

limit by which Ms. Fleurentin is required to bring a petition contesting a rent increase.  

Only when the owner serves Ms. Fleurentin a proper RAP notice will the deadline to 

contest any rent increase, as outlined in Section 8.22.090, begin.  See OAKLAND 

MUNICIPAL CODE § 8.22.090(2)(b).  For this reason, the administrative decision 

dismissing Ms. Fleurentin’s petition as untimely filed is not consistent with Oakland Law.      

  

2) The decision violates local law;  
 

In response to the COVID-19 Pandemic, on March 27, 2020, Oakland Ordinance 

No. 13589 C.M.S. (as extended on July 21, 2020) (hereinafter the “Emergency 

Ordinance”), established a moratorium on rent increases above the consumer price index 

of 1.9%.  The Emergency Ordinance applies to units regulated by the Oakland Just Cause 

for Eviction and Oakland Rent Adjustment Ordinances.  The Emergency Ordinance 

provides as follows: “For rental units regulated by Oakland Municipal Code 8.22.010 et 

seq, any notice of rent increase in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment, as defined in 

Oakland Municipal Code Section 8.22.020, shall be void and unenforceable if the 

notice is served or has an effective date during the Local Emergency...”  OAKLAND 

ORDINANCE NO. 13589 C.M.S. § 4 (emphasis added).  The Emergency Ordinance does 

not require a tenant who receives a rent increase notice above the consumer price index 

of 1.9% to challenge the notice within a certain time.  Instead, it automatically invalidates 

a rent increase issued during its effective period.  Id.     

   

There is no dispute that Ms. Fleurentin’s unit is regulated by both the Oakland 

Just Cause for Eviction and Rent Adjustment Ordinances.  The unit is not exempt from 

those laws under any framework.  The proposed increase is well over the CPI Rent 

Adjustment and was served on April 15, 2020, while the Emergency Ordinance was in 

000176



 
 

510.271.8443    |    510.868.4521 (fax)    |    inquiries@heraca.org    |    heraca.org    |    P.O. Box 29435 Oakland, CA 94604 

 
3 

effect.  For these reasons, the increase is void and unenforceable as a matter of law.  The 

Oakland Rent Adjustment Program is charged with regulating rental units in the City of 

Oakland and should therefore use its powers to allow a hearing to determine, or 

alternatively issue an administrative decision, that rent increases in violation of local law 

are invalid.  For this reason, Ms. Fleurentin’s petition should not have been dismissed 

because the procedural requirements for bringing petitions outside the local emergency 

do not apply to this rent increase which was issued during the local emergency.      

 

3) The decision is not supported by substantial evidence.  

 

As described above, evidence found in the case record demonstrates that Ms. Fleurentin’s 

petition regarding an illegal rent increase should not be dismissed.  Because Ms. 

Fleurentin did not receive a proper RAP notice at the inception of her tenancy, the time 

requirements to bring a petition under Oakland Municipal Code section 8.22.090(A)(2)(a) 

do not apply.  Instead, the provisions of Section 8.22.090(2)(b) apply and Ms. Fleurentin 

is only required to bring a petition for unlawful rent increase within ninety days if and 

when she receives a valid RAP notice.  

 

Furthermore, the evidence found in the case record demonstrates that the owner’s 

attempted rent increase was served during the effective period of the Oakland Emergency 

Ordinance prohibiting rent increases above the CPI Rent Adjustment.  Ms. Fleurentin’s 

petition, therefore, should not be dismissed so the Rent Adjustment Program can issue a 

ruling reflecting that the owner’s rent increase notice violates this local emergency 

ordinance.   

 

For the foregoing reasons, Ms. Fleurentin respectfully appeals the Rent Adjustment 

Program’s Order of March 15, 2022 dismissing her petition and cancelling her hearing. 

 

I thank you for prompt attention to this matter.  Please let me know if I may provide any 

further documentation or information. 

 

Sincerely,  

 

Christa Conry  

Staff Attorney (She/Her) 

Housing and Economic Rights Advocates (HERA) 

Phone: (510) 775-1576 

Fax: (510) 225-3891 

Email: cconry@heraca.org 

 

 

 

000177



000178



000179



000180



000181



000182



000183



000184



000185



000186



000187



000188



1

McGowan, Briana

From: JR McConnell <jr@themcconnellgroup.com>
Sent: Monday, September 5, 2022 3:35 PM
To: Silveira, Ava; Hearings Unit
Cc: jkanes@heraca.org; loyfle10@gmail.com; Gregory McConnell; 

jweingand@mmgprop.com; inquiries@heraca.org
Subject: T22-0015  Supplemental Documentation in Support of Owner Position
Attachments: Proof of Payment 2022 Business license renewal and RAP fee.pdf; Tenant Ledger 

9-2-22.pdf; lease Oct 1996.pdf; Lease Addendum 1-28-2013.pdf; Lease Addendum 
12-9-13 A.pdf; Lease Addendum 12-9-13 B.pdf; Estoppel 8-28-18.pdf; Coleman Letter of 
Intent to Vacate 12-4-18.pdf; Guerrier letter  - 30 day intent to vacate 2-28-20.pdf; 
Guerrier Notice of Intent to Vacate 2-28-20.pdf; MoneyGram 3-31-20.pdf; Email - 
Fleurentin 3-10-21.pdf; PROOF-OF-SERVICE-9-5-22 electronic.pdf; PROOF-OF-
SERVICE-9-5-22 US Mail.pdf

[EXTERNAL] This email originated outside of the City of Oakland. Please do not click links or open attachments unless 
you recognize the sender and expect the message. 

 Ms. Silveira, 
 

Attached, please find the following documents in support of Owner’s position in case T22-0015: 
  

1. Proof of payment 2022 RAP fee and Business License Renewal. 

2. Ledger 9-2-22 

3. Lease Oct 1996 

4. Lease Addendum 1-28-13 

5. Lease Addendum 12-9-13 A 

6. Lease Addendum 12-9-13 B 

7. Estoppel 8-28-18 

8. Coleman Letter of Intent to Vacate 12-4-18 

9. Guerrier Letter  - 30day Intent to Vacate 2-28-20 

10. Guerrier Notice of Intent to Vacate 2-28-20 

11. MoneyGram 3-31-20 

12. Email from Fleurentin 3-10-21 

  
The Tenant and Tenant Representative are being served electronically via copy on this email, as well as via First Class US 
Mail, see attached Proofs of Service. 
 
 

000189



2

Please include these documents in the case file and forward them to the Hearing Officer; please confirm Receipt via 
return email. 
  
  
JR McConnell 
The McConnell Group 
(510) 691-7365  Mobile 

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This e-mail message, including any attachments, is for the sole use of the intended recipient(s) and may 
contain confidential and privileged information. Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure, or distribution is prohibited. If you are not the 
intended recipient, please contact the sender by reply e-mail and destroy all copies of the original message. 
  
  

000190



Exhibit A. Page 1 of 2
000191



Exhibit A. Page 2 of 2
000192



Exhibit AA000193



Exhibit AA000194



Exhibit B
000195



Exhibit BB-1 (Page 1 of 1)

000196



Exhibit AA000197



Exhibit BB-1 (Page 1 of 1)

000198



Exhibit AA000199



Exhibit CC000200



Exhibit D
000201



Exhibit DD (page 1 of 6)
000202



000203



000204



000205



000206



000207



Exhibit EE (page 1 of 3) 
000208



000209



000210



Exhibit F (Page 1 of 2)
000211



000212



Exhibit FF (Page 1 of 4)000213



000214



000215



000216



000217



Exhibit G (page 1 of 1)

000218



Exhibit H000219



510.271.8443    |    510.868.4521 (fax)    |    inquiries@heraca.org    |    heraca.org    |    P.O. Box 29435 Oakland, CA 94604 

Susan Ma, Hearing Officer  
C/o Ava Silveira, Administrative Analyst I 
OAKLAND RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, California 94612  

Email: asilveira@oaklandca.gov 

Sent via Email  

January 25, 2023 

Re: Closing Brief for Tenant Petition T22-0015 – Laurie Fleurentin – 315 Wayne Place, 
Unit 307, Oakland 

To Hearing Officer Ma, 

Please accept the following as the closing brief for Tenant-Petitioner Laurie Fleurentin in 
Case No. T22-0015.   

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

1. The Costa-Hawkins Rent Increase Is Invalid Because Laurie Fleurentin Is Neither
a Sub-Tenant nor Assignee but Rather a Co-Tenant

The Costa-Hawkins rent increase Tenant-Petitioner Laurie Fleurentin received, which is 
the centerpiece of her illegal rent increase petition, is invalid.  The Costa-Hawkins Rental 
Housing Act, Civil Code section 1954.53, et seq. allows for an unlimited rent increase if the 
original occupant no longer resides in the unit, only if the resident who is left in the unit is a 
subtenant or assignee who did not move in before January 1, 1996.  Cal. Civ. Code § 
1954.53(d)(2).  Section 1954.53(d)(3) provides that a Costa-Hawkins rent increase is not 
permissible in the case of partial changes in occupancy of a dwelling or unit where one or more 
of the occupants of the premises remains an occupant in lawful possession of the unit.  Cal. Civ. 
Code § 1954.53(d)(3).   

Courts have regularly held that a written agreement is not the only method of establishing 
a tenancy.  A person occupies the premises “pursuant to the rental agreement with the owner” if 
he or she does so with the owner’s permission.  DeZerega v. Meggs, 83 Cal. App. 4th 28, 30 
(2000).  “A tenancy may be created by consent and acceptance of rent, despite the absence of a 
lease.”  Cobb v. San Francisco Residential Rent Stabilization and Arbitration Board, 98 Cal. 
App. 4th 345, 352 (2002), citing Getz v. City of West Hollywood, 233 Cal. App. 3d 625, 629.  
The landlord’s conduct towards a resident can evidence the creation of a landlord-tenant 

000220



 
 
 

510.271.8443    |    510.868.4521 (fax)    |    inquiries@heraca.org    |    heraca.org    |    P.O. Box 29435 Oakland, CA 94604 
 2 

relationship and show that a tenancy, and not sub-tenancy or assignment, is established.  See 
generally id.    

 
In Cobb, the court held that a Costa-Hawkins rent increase was not permitted where the 

landlord knew a non-original occupant was residing in the property, interacted with that person 
directly and not through any original occupant, failed to take any action to confirm the non-
original occupant’s residency was only temporary, and accepted rent from the non-original 
occupant.  Id. at 349-350.  Using these factors, the court found that the non-original occupant had 
established his own landlord-tenant relationship, meaning he was not a sub-tenant or assignee, 
and thus an attempted Costa-Hawkins rent increase was invalid.  Id.   

 
In addition to the landlord’s conduct, the Cobb court also looked at the conduct of the 

original occupant, who had moved out of the premises, finding that there was no evidence in the 
former occupant’s actions to suggest the non-original occupant was a subtenant or assignee at the 
time the rent increase notice was served.  Id. at 353.  

 
“[The Original Occupant] performed no obligations under the lease after she moved out 
of the apartment. Nothing in her conduct or [the Non-Original Occupant]'s subsequent 
conduct implied that she retained any interest in the apartment. Likewise, there was an 
absence of evidence from which to find that [the Original Occupant] manifested an intent 
to transfer her right to occupy the apartment to [the Non-Original Occupant]. The Rent 
Board could reasonably infer that she moved out because her health demanded it, and she 
did so without regard to whether [the Non-Original Occupant] or anyone else remained in 
the apartment. On this evidence the Rent Board could find that [the Non-Original 
Occupant] was an existing tenant when [the Landlord] notified him in September 1999 
that his rent would be increased effective November 1, 1999. Therefore, the Costa-
Hawkins Act did not provide authority for the amount of the increase [the Landlord] 
sought.” 

 
Id. 

 
We see many of these same facts in Ms. Fleurentin’s case as in Cobb.  In both cases, the 

owners treated the non-original occupant as a tenant and not a subtenant or assignee.  We heard 
testimony that no owner ever took action to determine whether Ms. Fleurentin’s tenancy was 
only temporary and never told her she did not have permission to live at the property.  No owner 
ever sent any document besides the Costa-Hawkins rent increase notice declaring Ms. Fleurentin 
a subtenant, despite knowing of her existence.  The owners, through their agents, accepted and 
responded to repair requests made by Ms. Fleurentin or in her name and did not require her to 
have roommates on the lease report the problems before acting on them.  Contrary to the 
Landlord-Respondent’s allegation in its closing argument, the current owners’ agent Kevin 
Rivera did respond to repair requests made by Ms. Fleurentin and knew she was living in Unit 

000221



 
 
 

510.271.8443    |    510.868.4521 (fax)    |    inquiries@heraca.org    |    heraca.org    |    P.O. Box 29435 Oakland, CA 94604 
 3 

307 well before the landlord served the April 2020 rent increase.  Mr. Rivera even admitted that 
he had physical documents showing Ms. Fleurentin had made repair requests.  The owners also 
received and acknowledged notices from other tenants that relinquished all rights to any interest 
in the tenancy.  All of the other tenants gave unequivocal notices to the landlord that their 
tenancies were terminating, did nothing to imply to the landlord that they retained any interest in 
the apartment, and, as the owner representative Jennifer Weingand confirmed, they stopped 
paying rent.  They all took these steps without considering whether Ms. Fleurentin’s tenancy 
would continue.   

 
And, most important in showing the creation of a tenancy, the owners accepted rent for 

Ms. Fleurentin’s unit that she testified she paid.  The owners accepted this rent after receiving 
written notice that the last original occupant, Jean-Claude Guerrier, was vacating and confirming 
he had vacated.  The owners accepted this rent believing, as Ms. Weingand testified, that Ms. 
Fleurentin had paid it and that no other person who was ever on a lease was still residing in 
Unit 307.    
 

During its closing argument, Landlord-Respondent cited to Civil Code Section 
1954.53(d)(4) to justify its rent increase.  That section provides that “acceptance of rent by the 
owner does not operate as a waiver or otherwise prevent enforcement of a covenant that prohibits 
a sublease or assignment unless the owner has received written notice from the tenant that is a 
party to the agreement and thereafter accepts rent.”  Cal. Civ. Code § 1954.53(d)(4).  The Cobb 
court addressed this subsection in a way that the Oakland Rent Adjustment Program should 
follow.  Section 1954.53(d)(4) is not applicable here because (1) Ms. Fleurentin is not a 
subtenant or assignee, but rather was an existing tenant at the time she received the rent increase 
notice, and (2) even if she was a subtenant or assignee, the landlord accepted rent at the original 
rental rate that Ms. Fleurentin paid after receiving written notice that the last original occupant, 
Jean-Claude Guerrier, was moving out and in fact after confirming he had moved out.   

 
2. The Landlord Accepted Rent When It Failed to Return or Refuse Payment It 

Knew Ms. Fleurentin Made  
 

The Landlord-Respondent claims that even though it received rent for Unit 307 before 
serving the Costa-Hawkins rent increase, it did not cash the rent payment until June 2020, and 
therefore it did not waive its right to enforce a Costa-Hawkins rent increase.  It further argues 
that cashing payment is what constitutes acceptance.  Long-established case law demonstrates 
that this argument fails.   

 
In EDC Associates v. Gutierrez, the court found that a landlord had waived its right to 

obtain possession of leased premises by “accepting” the tenant’s late payment of rent after 
serving a notice to vacate.  153 Cal. App. 3d 167, 168 (1984).  The landlords accepted payment 
by receiving money orders that they neither returned nor refused.  Id.  Furthermore, it is well-

000222



510.271.8443    |    510.868.4521 (fax)    |    inquiries@heraca.org    |    heraca.org    |    P.O. Box 29435 Oakland, CA 94604 
 4

established that a landlord’s refusal to cash a rent payment after a tenant’s tender of rent is not 
enough to win an unlawful detainer for nonpayment of rent.  Boyd v. Carter, 227 Cal. App. 4th 
Supp. 1, 10-11 (2014).      

Even in non-landlord-tenant contexts, courts agree that a check that is delayed for cashing 
but never rejected by the recipient is deemed paid when the recipient receives it and not when it 
is finally cashed.  Gray1 CPB, LLC v. SCC Acquisitions, Inc., 233 Cal. App. 4th 882 (2015).  

The evidence is clear that the landlord accepted rent before serving the rent increase, 
regardless of when it deposited or cashed the payment.  The money changed hands from the 
tenant to the landlord on April 1, 2020, fifteen days before serving the rent increase.  The 
landlord received and retained that money.  It never returned the payments to Unit 307, to Ms. 
Fleurentin, or to the MoneyGram company that issued the payment.  Ms. Weingand even agreed 
that the landlord accepted the rent in April 2020.  She was not tricked into saying this, as the 
landlord’s representative alleged.  She undoubtedly used the common definition of accept and 
understood that the April 2020 rent was accepted the day the tenant no longer had possession of 
it, and the landlord did not refuse or return it.   

Importantly, Ms. Weingand also testified that if a tenant not on a current lease tries to pay 
rent, the landlord will not accept that payment and will return it.  The landlord did not follow its 
own policy in this case, further evidencing that it intended to accept rent from Ms. Fleurentin and, 
in part by doing so, created a relationship that prevents it from raising Ms. Fleurentin’s rent an 
unlimited amount.   

3. Ms. Fleurentin Did Not Hide Her Tenancy

Landlord-Respondent alleged that Ms. Fleurentin willfully sought to mislead and trick the 
landlord by hiding her residency at the property.  This could not be further from the truth.  Ms. 
Fleurentin testified that she wanted to be added to the formal, written lease and asked her older 
family member Antoine Bellot if she could be added.  We, unfortunately, do not know what Mr. 
Bellot did or did not do to fulfill Ms. Fleurentin’s requests, but what we know is that Ms. 
Fleurentin wanted her presence to be known.  Furthermore, Ms. Fleurentin testified that she 
made repair requests and interacted with past and present resident managers.  Kevin Rivera, the 
current landlord’s resident manager, confirmed this, saying he had met and spoken with Ms. 
Fleurentin multiple times, including coming to her unit to inspect issues she had raised.  
Engaging in such a way with agents of the landlord is not the behavior of someone hiding their 
residency at a property.   

Concerning the estoppel agreement, Ms. Fleurentin testified that she received this 
document pre-filled out by the landlord (likely the previous landlord in anticipation of the sale to 
the current landlord).  Ms. Fleurentin also testified that she signed the estoppel for Mr. Coleman, 

000223

https://plus.lexis.com/api/document/collection/cases/id/5F5K-K4P1-F04B-N001-00000-00?cite=233%20Cal.%20App.%204th%20882&context=1530671


510.271.8443    |    510.868.4521 (fax)    |    inquiries@heraca.org    |    heraca.org    |    P.O. Box 29435 Oakland, CA 94604 
 5

her elder uncle, since she did not see her name provided but only the names of Jean-Claude 
Guerrier and Hubert Coleman.  She testified that no one told her she could edit the estoppel or 
add her own name.  As an immigrant with limited proficiency in English, why would she know 
that this was her right without receiving any instructions about how to fill out this technical 
document?  Ms. Fleurentin also testified that in Haiti, where she is from, deference is given to 
elder family members, and that is, in part, why she listed Mr. Coleman’s name on the estoppel 
and the MoneyGram payments in April 2020.   

CONCLUSION 

Consent and acceptance of rent create a tenancy and invalidate a Costa-Hawkins rent 
increase.  Cobb, 98 Cal. App. 4th at 345.  Here, the important factors to consider are whether the 
landlord consented to Ms. Fleurentin’s tenancy and accepted her rent before serving a Costa-
Hawkins rent increase.  We know it consented to her tenancy as one of their agents, Mr. Rivera, 
testified that he knew Ms. Fleurentin was living in the unit, responded to her repair requests, and 
did nothing to indicate she did not have permission to live at the property.  The Rent Adjustment 
Program can also easily answer whether the landlord accepted rent from Ms. Fleurentin before 
serving the Costa-Hawkins rent increase.  Ms. Weingand, another landlord agent, testified that 
she received the April 2020 rent before the rent increase was served, believed Ms. Fleurentin 
paid it, retained it, and eventually cashed it.  This constitutes acceptance.  

This is not, as Landlord-Respondent alleged, a prototype case for a justifiable Costa-
Hawkins rent increase.  Ms. Fleurentin has continuously resided at the Wayne Place property for 
a decade now.  She has lived there longer than a tenant who was eventually put on a written lease, 
Jean-Claude Guerrier.  Why she was never added to a written lease is an issue we cannot resolve 
for this petition because we do not have all the parties involved in her tenancy to testify.  
However, we do know that inclusion on a written lease is not necessary to establish a tenancy.  
We also know that over Ms. Fleurentin’s decade residency, she created a landlord-tenant 
relationship, culminating in paying rent on her own on April 1, 2020, once all her roommates had 
moved out.  This case is a prime example of the limits of Costa-Hawkins, whose specific facts 
are mirrored in determinative cases that have held that the Costa-Hawkins Act did not authorize 
an unlimited rent increase.  Tenant-Petitioner Laurie Fleurentin respectfully asks the Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program adhere to this established law and rule in her favor that the rent 
increase at issue is above the allowable amount and is unlawful. 

/// 
/// 

000224



510.271.8443    |    510.868.4521 (fax)    |    inquiries@heraca.org    |    heraca.org    |    P.O. Box 29435 Oakland, CA 94604 
 6

Sincerely, 

Christa Conry  
Staff Attorney  
Housing and Economic Rights Advocates (HERA) 

Cc: Laurie Fleurentin, Greg McConnell, JR McConnell, Jennifer Weingand 

000225



 1 

LANDLORD’S CLOSING BRIEF 
T22-0015, 315 WAYNE, UNIT 307 

FLUERENTIN V MERIDIAN MANAGEMENT GROUP 
 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The facts of this case are clear.  The original occupants of the unit were Antoine Bellot and 
Willie Bellot who entered into a rental agreement with a prior landlord on October 2, 1996. 
(Exhibit A). Later, Hubert Coleman was added as a tenant and then Jean Claude Guerrier.  The 
lease was amended when Guerrier was added, and that amendment reflected that Coleman 
had been added to the lease. (Exhibit C). Petitioner Fleurentin was not named as a tenant in the 
original lease or as a remaining occupant of the unit in any of the addendums to the rental 
agreement. 
 
According to a letter prepared by Johanna Kanes, Petitioner’s Attorney, which is attached to her 
verified petition.   
 

“Ms. Fleurentin and her daughter moved into Unit 307 in March of 2013. 
Ms. Fleurentin rented a room in Unit 307 and paid rent to another tenant,  
Antoine Bellot who was already living in the apartment as the master tenant.  Ms. 
Fleurentin began paying rent to Jean Claude Guerrier in 2015, who then paid the 
landlord directly.” (Letter from Johanna Kanes, HERA, undated, p.2) 

 
On or about 8/28/2018, a Tenant Rental Estoppel (Estoppel, Exhibit B) was provided to the 
landlord.  It stated that the Occupant(s) of 315 Wayne, Apt 307 were Jean Guerrier and Hubert 
Coleman.  In a section of the Estoppel entitled “Additional Occupants?” the document was left 
blank.   
 
The Estoppel bore the signature of “Hubert Coleman.”  On cross examination, Petitioner 
testified that she, not Hubert Coleman, signed the document.  She further testified that she told 
Mr. Coleman that she signed the document in his name after it had been submitted to the 
landlord.  Petitioner was not mentioned in the Estoppel as an occupant of the property, 
although she was present at the time. On cross examination, Petitioner testified that she 
occupied the unit from 2013 to the present time.   
 
On February 28, 2020, Jean Claude Guerrier gave Property Supervisor, Jennifer Weingand, a 
letter (Exbibit BB1) stating that he was vacating the rental unit on or before 4/01/2020.  It is 
undisputed that he is the last original tenant on the lease and/or addendums to the lease. He 
also provided a copy of a letter he sent to Petitioner stating that he was leaving and “If you 
want to stay in the lease, You (sic) must contact the person in charge of the rental agreement.”  
(Exhibit AA).  
 

000226



 2 

Petitioner testified on cross examination that she did not contact Meridian Management or 
anyone in charge to say she wanted to stay in the lease. Ms. Weingand confirmed that fact 
during her testimony. 
 
Petitioner testified and the statement by her attorney confirmed that she was never added to 
the lease. “Despite repeated requests, Ms. Fleurentin was never added to the lease agreement.” 
(HERA letter, page 2.) Petitioner also testified that she always paid rent to the tenants in the 
unit and never paid rent directly to the landlord until, she alleges, she paid rent on April 1, 
2020.   
 
On cross examination, it was determined that the rent paid on April 1, 2020, was done in the 
form of Money Orders (Exhibit CC).  The Petitioner testified that just as she had done on the 
Estoppel, she wrote the name of Hubert Coleman as the purchaser.  Petitioner’s name was not 
on the Money Orders.   
 
When asked on cross examination, Petitioner testified that she did not provide any statement 
to landlord’s management Company, Meridian Management, that the payment was for her 
tenancy.  Instead, she dropped the Money Orders in a drop box and had no direct 
communication with the owner or management. 
 
On April 3, The Resident Manager, Kevin Rivera went to Unit 307 to check on the status of the 
moveout by Jean Claude Guerrier.  There he encountered Ms. Fleurentin and noticed that the 
unit was not vacant.   
 
Ms. Fleurentin testified that Kevin told her she must get out and when she refused, he left, but 
came back later that day and posted a notice of rent increase on her door.  Mr. Rivera testified 
that this was untrue.  He did not argue with her, nor did he post a rent increase notice.   
 
Mr. Rivera and Ms. Weingand testified that posting rent increase notices were not one of Mr. 
Rivera’s duties as a resident manager.  Moreover, Ms. Weingand testified that the rent increase 
notice to unit 307 was served on April 16, 2020, by a process server retained by Meridian’s 
Attorney, Dave Wasserman. 
 
Based upon the above uncontroverted evidence, Petitioner occupied the unit since 2013.  She 
was never added to the lease.  There is no evidence in the record that the landlord knew she 
was an occupant.  Petitioner may claim that she asked to be added to the lease many times, but 
she provided no documentation to support that claim. To the contrary, the evidence in the 
record demonstrates that she attempted to conceal her occupancy on several occasions.   
 
When addendums to the lease were created by Bellot, Coleman and Guerrier to show their 
coming and going, they listed who was leaving and who was remaining. Petitioner was never 
named as a resident or occupant. When petitioner forged Hubert Coleman’s name on the 
Estoppel, she did not indicate that she was an additional occupant.  When Guerrier was leaving, 
he told petitioner if she wanted to remain in the lease, she should contact the persons in 

000227



 3 

charge.  Based upon her testimony, she contacted no one.  Instead, on April 1, 2020, petitioner 
forged the name Hubert Coleman on Money Orders to pay the rent and now asserts that 
payment made her a tenant.   
 
Finally, when the resident manager approached her on April 3 and asked why the unit was not 
vacant, Petitioner concocted a claim of an argument between her and the resident manager 
and said he left her unit and came back later in the day and posted a rent increase notice.   
 
Petitioner also claimed that the Resident Manager sat on the stairs across from her unit for 
hours at a time staring at her door.  The testimony revealed that there are no stairs across from 
Petitioner’s front door and that Mr. Rivera never spent time staring into her unit. Clearly this 
was an attempt to present herself as a victim of aggressive management.  It was false. 
 
ISSUE 
 
The question that arises is whether the owner had a right to set the rent under the Costa 
Hawkins Rental Housing Act. (CA Civil Code Section 1954.53) We submit the owners had that 
right under two sections of Costa Hawkins.  She was a subtenant who remained after all original 
occupants had departed.  Alternatively, if, as Petitioner claims, she became a new tenant at 
some point, the owner had the right to set the rent when the new tenancy was established.  
Either way, the law is clear, notwithstanding any law to the contrary, an owner can set an initial 
rent to a remaining subtenant or a new tenant after all original occupants have departed.  
 
ARGUMENT 
 

Setting the Rent to the Subtenant  
Costa Hawkins Civil Code Section 1954.53 (d) (1) et. seq.  

 
Rent Board Regulation 8.22.025 defines subtenant as follows: 
 

“Subtenant,” for purposes of Regulation 8.22.025, means a tenant who resides with and 
pays rent to one or more primary tenants, rather than directly to the owner to whom 
the primary tenant(s) pay rent, for the housing services provided to the subtenant. 

 
Regulation 8.22.025 sets forth prohibitions against tenants charging more than the proportional 
share of rent on a unit based upon the amount of space they occupy.  The term subtenant is 
not defined anywhere else in the ordinance or regulations. This definition is sufficient to define 
subtenant for this case.   
 
In the attachment to the Tenant Petition, Petitioner’s Attorney wrote under the section entitled 
“Facts”  
 

Ms. Fleurentin rented a room in unit #307 and paid rent to another tenant, Antoine 
Bellot who was already living in the apartment as the master tenant.  (emphasis added). 

000228



 4 

 
Clearly, this statement proves Petitioner was a subtenant as defined in the Rent Stabilization 
Regulations.  She paid rent to the persons who were tenants under the lease with the owner 
rather than directly to the owner.  
 
In her closing, Petitioner’s Attorney offers several cases that she asserts prove that Petitioner 
was not a subtenant subject to resetting of the rent under Costa Hawkins.  She misreads those 
cases. 
 
The first case she mentions is Dezerega v Meggs, 83 Cal.App.4th 28 (Cal. Ct. App. 2000). That 
case decided whether the owners had the right to evict persons they claimed were subtenants.  
The court found they did not.  
 
After a detailed recitation of the underlying facts the Court ruled:  
 

“We hold only that where a landlord agrees to an occupancy, characterization of the 
occupancy as a subtenancy does not prevent application of the Ordinance's requirement 
of cause for eviction. Here the landlords expressly authorized, approved, and agreed to 
the very occupancy they now seek to terminate without cause. We hold only that they 
may not do so consistent with the terms of the Ordinance.” 

 
This instant case is about the right to increase the rent under Costa Hawkins.  No eviction has 
been attempted and none could have because during the relevant times involved in this case, 
County of Alameda and the city of Oakland Eviction Moratoriums prevented evictions. 
 
More important, there are no facts in this case remotely related to the facts in Dezerega.     
 

• There were no direct dealings between the landlord and the Petitioner   

• The tenant in Meggs was screened by the landlord, not so here 

• The landlord had correspondence from Meggs and therefore full knowledge of Meggs’ 
occupancy.  

• The Meggs lease allowed roommates, not so here 
 
In this case, Petitioner did not interact with the owner, was not screened by the owner, and the 
Petitioner proactively attempted to conceal her residency at the premises by keeping her name 
out of the addendums, forging an inaccurate Estoppel, and making the deceptive rent payment 
using someone else’s name as the purchaser. 

Petitioner next cites Cobb v. City and County of San Francisco 98 Cal.App.4th 345 (Cal. Ct. App. 
2002) 

Cobb involved a situation where an original tenant was allowed to have his children live in the 
unit.  The original tenant moved out and the landlord negotiated a rent increase with the child 

000229



 5 

of the original tenant and started accepting rent from the child.  Thereafter, the owner 
attempted to increase the rent further.  
The Court found: 
 

Cobb (Landlord) knew as of mid-May 1998 that Restoni (first original occupant) no 
longer lived in the unit. He acknowledged that he began accepting rent in the full 
amount directly from Passalacqua alone as of June 1998. He negotiated a rent increase 
with Passalacqua in October 1998, to take effect November 1, 1998; Restoni was not 
involved in the negotiation. He complained to Passalacqua in June 1999 that the rent 
was habitually delinquent and requested delinquent rent payments from him, without 
reference to any obligation on Restoni's part for the rent. He sought a rent increase 
directly from Passalacuqua in September 1999. This evidence reasonably demonstrates 
that Cole deemed Passalacqua, not Restoni, his sole tenant as of June 1998. 

 
The Court ruled:   

 
On this evidence, the Rent Board could find that Passalacqua was an existing tenant 
when Cobb notified him in September 1999 that his rent would be increased effective 
November 1, 1999. Therefore, the Costa-Hawkins Act did not provide authority for the 
amount of the increase Cobb sought. 

 
We submit Cobb has no bearing on the case at hand.  Here the landlord did not accept rent 
directly from Petitioner at any time including on April 1, 2020.  The rent payment bore Hubert 
Coleman’s name, not Petitioner’s.  Nor, as in Cobb, did the owner negotiate a rent increase 
with Petitioner and then try to raise the rent a second time. 

Finally, we reviewed Kendall v. Ernest Pestana, Inc. (1985) 40 Cal.3d 488, 492 cited by 
Petitioner.  However, that case has no bearing on this residential property dispute.  The Kendall 
Court explicitly ruled: 

We are presented only with a commercial lease and therefore do not address the question 

whether residential leases are controlled by the principles articulated in this opinion. 

Lastly, in oral argument, petitioner cited EDC Associates v Gutierrez to support her argument.  We 
will not spend a lot of time on that case.  Gutierrez involves the question of whether the landlord waives 
his right to evict when the landlord accepts rent after the date that it is due.  The instant case is not 
about evictions.  As stated repeatedly, this is a case about whether the owner could take a Costa 
Hawkins increase when a sublet occurs and all original occupants have left or when a new tenancy is 
created.   
 
In conclusion, the owner was fully entitled to take a Costa Hawkins increase on Petitioner as a 
Subtenant who remained after all original occupants have left. 

 
 

000230

https://casetext.com/case/kendall-v-ernest-pestana-inc#p492


 6 

Setting the Rent Based Upon New Tenancy 
 Costa Hawkins, Civil Code Section 1954.53 (a) 
 
The fallacy of Petitioner’s argument that she established a new tenancy on April 1, 2020, is that 
Petitioner did not pay the rent directly to the owner.  Instead, she wrote money orders where 
she forged the name of a prior tenant.  Through this deception, she must be estopped from 
claiming the landlord consented to the creation of a new tenancy with Petitioner when he 
received the April 1, 2020 rent. 
 
Moreover, the record testimony is that the landlord did not cash the money order until June of 
2020.  Property manager Weingand testified that the owners held the money orders because 
they were paid in the name of a tenant who had departed.  When they learned that Petitioner 
was in the unit when Mr. Rivera went there on April 3, they started reviewing their records and 
determined that the alleged payor on the on the Money Orders had previously departed. 
 
The record evidence is that the owners served a notice of increase which included Petitioner on 
April 16 (notwithstanding petitioner falsely claimed that Mr. Rivera served a rent increase 
notice on April 3.). The importance of this is that this is the first time Petitioner was 
acknowledged to be an occupant of the unit.   
 
Thereafter, the owners started accepting rent directly from Petitioner.  That is when the 
owners consented to the occupancy of Petitioner and can be said to have created a tenancy 
with Petitioner. 
 

In Cobb v. San Francisco Residential Rent Stabilization & Arbitration Bd. the Court ruled: 
 

A rent-controlled apartment cannot be passed on freely “from friend to friend or 
generation to generation.” Only those occupants who reside in the apartment at the 
start of the tenancy and do so with the landlord's express or implicit consent are 
protected from unregulated rent increases. Family members and friends who 
subsequently move into the apartment are not protected unless the landlord consents 
to the occupancy and accepts rent from the new occupant, thus creating a new tenancy. 
(Cobb v. San Francisco Residential Rent Stabilization & Arbitration Bd. (2002) 98 
Cal.App.4th 345, 351–353, 119 Cal.Rptr.2d 741.).  

 
In Fernandez v. Rent Board (3009 Mission - Superior Court Case No. 515670), following a 
remand from Superior Court on a Writ, the San Francisco Rent Board clarified that a landlord 
does not lose his right to a Costa Hawkins increase unless he accepts rent directly from a tenant 
before he serves a notice of rent increase.   
 

The issue in this case was whether the Rent Board properly found 
that the landlord was not entitled to impose an unlimited rent increase 
under the Costa-Hawkins Rental Housing Act. The ALJ found that 

000231

https://casetext.com/case/cobb-v-city-and-county-of-san-francisco#p351
https://casetext.com/case/cobb-v-city-and-county-of-san-francisco#p351
https://casetext.com/case/cobb-v-city-and-county-of-san-francisco


 7 

notwithstanding the absence of any direct rent payments from the tenant 
petitioner to the owner, it was reasonably inferred from the landlord’s 
conduct that the landlord intended the tenant petitioner to be jointly and 
severally liable for the rent, and that the landlord therefore intended to 
create a direct landlord-tenant relationship with the tenant petitioner. The 
petition for writ of mandate was timely filed on May 18, 2017. The 
Superior Court issued an Order on October 1, 2019, remanding the case 
to the Rent Board for further proceedings regarding the creation of a 
tenancy between the parties. On November 19, 2019, the Rent Board 
issued a Decision on Remand pursuant to the Superior Court’s Order, 
which denied the tenant’s petition based on the evidence that the 
landlord had not accepted rent directly from the tenant petitioner prior to 
serving the notice of rent increase. The Superior Court issued an Order 
granting the writ on February 11, 2020. 

 
For the above reasons, if it is concluded that Petitioner became a tenant at some point, that 
would have been after the landlord consented and accepted rent directly from the tenant.  That 
did not happen on April 1, 2020. The Petitioner deceptively paid rent under someone else’s 
name.  The landlord therefore did not consent to a new tenancy on April 1, 2020.   
 
At the earliest, the landlord consented to Petitioner’s tenancy when he cashed the Money 
Orders in June after having served the rent increase on April 16, 2020.  That would be the 
earliest Petitioner could have transitioned from a subtenant to a tenant.  The landlord had not 
accepted rent directly from the tenant prior to serving the notice of rent increase and as in 
Fernandez the owner is therefore entitled to the rent increase. 
 
NOTICES IN FOREIGN LANGUAGES 
 

Petitioner has contested the rent increase based upon a claim that the landlord had a duty to 
serve Rent Adjustment Program notices in foreign languages. Landlord set an initial rent under 
Costa Hawkins to either a remaining subtenant or a new tenant.  In either case, Costa Hawkins 
preempts local laws.  It says in clear and unequivocal terms that notwithstanding any law to the 
contrary owners may establish rent levels under Costa Hawkins.   
 
CONCLUSION 
 

For the above reasons the petition must be denied.  The landlord properly set the rent under 
the authority of Costa Hawkins and nothing in the Oakland Rent Adjustment Ordinance to the 
contrary can override the preemptive state law.  
 
Thank you, 
 

 
Gregory McConnell and JR McConnell 
Owner Representatives 

000232



000233



000234



000235



000236



000237



000238



000239



000240



000241



000242



000243



000244



000245



000246



Revised January 10, 2022 

 

APPEAL 
 
Appellant’s Name  

☐ Owner    ☐ Tenant 

Property Address (Include Unit Number) 

Appellant’s Mailing Address (For receipt of notices) Case Number 

Date of Decision appealed 

Name of Representative (if any) Representative’s Mailing Address (For 
notices) 

 
Please select your ground(s) for appeal from the list below. As part of the appeal, an explanation must 
be provided responding to each ground for which you are appealing. Each ground for appeal listed 
below includes directions as to what should be included in the explanation.  
 
1) There are math/clerical errors that require the Hearing Decision to be updated. (Please clearly 

explain the math/clerical errors.) 
2) Appealing the decision for one of the grounds below (required):  

 
a) ☐ The decision is inconsistent with OMC Chapter 8.22, Rent Board Regulations, or prior 

decisions of the Board. (In your explanation, you must identify the Ordinance section, 
Regulation or prior Board decision(s) and describe how the description is inconsistent.) 

 
b) ☐ The decision is inconsistent with decisions issued by other Hearing Officers. (In your 

explanation, you must identify the prior inconsistent decision and explain how the decision is 
inconsistent.) 

 
c) ☐ The decision raises a new policy issue that has not been decided by the Board. (In your 

explanation, you must provide a detailed statement of the issue and why the issue should be 
decided in your favor.) 

 
d) ☐ The decision violates federal, state, or local law. (In your explanation, you must provide a 

detailed statement as to what law is violated.) 
 
e) ☐ The decision is not supported by substantial evidence. (In your explanation, you must 

explain why the decision is not supported by substantial evidence found in the case record.) 
 

CITY OF OAKLAND 
RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 
(510) 238-3721 
CA Relay Service 711 
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP 

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 
 
 

 

T22-0015

315 Wayne Place #307
Oakland, CA 94606

Meridian Management / University President Associates
Jennifer Weingand (Owner Agent)

1 Embarcadero W. #168, Oakland, CA 94607
Greg McConnell
JR McConnell
The McConnell Group

August 3, 2023

1717 Powell St. #300, San Francisco, CA 94133  

000247



Revised January 10, 2022 

f) ☐ I was denied a sufficient opportunity to present my claim or respond to the petitioner’s
claim. (In your explanation, you must describe how you were denied the chance to defend your
claims and what evidence you would have presented. Note that a hearing is not required in every
case. Staff may issue a decision without a hearing if sufficient facts to make the decision are not
in dispute.)

g) ☐ The decision denies the Owner a fair return on the Owner’s investment. (You may appeal on
this ground only when your underlying petition was based on a fair return claim. You must specifically
state why you have been denied a fair return and attach the calculations supporting your claim.)

h) ☐ Other. (In your explanation, you must attach a detailed explanation of your grounds for appeal.)

Supporting documents (in addition to this form) must not exceed 25 pages, and must be received by 
the Rent Adjustment Program, along with a proof of service on the opposing party, within 15 days of 
the filing of this document. Only the first 25 pages of submissions from each party will be considered by the 
Board, subject to Regulations 8.22.010(A)(4). Please number attached pages consecutively. Number of 
pages attached: _____.   

• You must serve a copy of your appeal on the opposing parties, or your appeal may be dismissed. ●
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that on            , 20        , 
I placed a copy of this form, and all attached pages, in the United States mail or deposited it with a commercial
carrier, using a service at least as expeditious as first-class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid,
addressed to each opposing party as follows:

Name 

Address 

City, State Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State Zip 

SIGNATURE of APPELLANT or DESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVE DATE 

Christa Conry, Tenant Representative

P.O. Box 29435

Oakland, CA 94604

315 Wayne Place #307

Oakland, CA 94606

23

8/23/23

August  23

Laurie Fleurentin,  Tenant

13

000248



Revised January 10, 2022 

IMPORTANT INFORMATION: 
 
This Appeal must be received by the Rent Adjustment Program, 250 Frank Ogawa Plaza, Suite 
5313, Oakland, California 94612, not later than 5:00 P.M. on the 20th calendar day after the date 
the decision was mailed to you as shown on the proof of service attached to the decision. If the 
last day to file is a weekend or holiday, the time to file the document is extended to the next business 
day. 

 
• Appeals filed late without good cause will be dismissed. 
• You must provide all the information required, or your appeal cannot be processed and                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

may be dismissed. 
• Any response to the appeal by the responding party must be received by the Rent 

Adjustment Program, along with a proof of service on appealing party, within 15 days of 
service of the service of the appeal if the party was personally served. If the responding 
party was served the appeal by mail, the party must file the response within 20 days of the 
date the appeal was mailed to them.  

• There is no form for the response, but the entire response is limited to 25 pages or less. 
• The Board will not consider new claims.  All claims, except jurisdictional issues, must have been 

made in the petition, response, or at the hearing. 
• The Board will not consider new evidence at the appeal hearing without specific approval. 
• You must sign and date this form or your appeal will not be processed. 
• The entire case record is available to the Board, but sections of audio recordings that you want the 

Board to review must be pre-designated to Rent Adjustment Staff. 
 

000249



ATTACHMENT TO APPEAL 
T22-0015 

315 WAYNE PLACE, UNIT 307 
 FLEURENTIN v MERIDIAN MANAGEMENT GROUP 

  
 
The following explains the basis of the Property Owners Appeal as required by Rent Adjustment 
Program (RAP) Appeal Regula�on 8.22.120 (A) (1).  Addi�onally, the Property Owner (Appellant) 
reserves the right to submit addi�onal briefing within fi�een days of submital of this appeal as 
authorized by RAP Regula�on 8.22.120 (A) (2).   
 
The Appellant has requested copies of all audio tapes from the hearings as a key issue here is 
whether the Hearing Officer’s decision is supported by substan�al evidence.  On the face of the 
decision, it clearly is not.  Once the hearing tapes are delivered and reviewed, the Appellant’s 
representa�ve will cite to the recorded tes�mony on the key issue of the service of no�ce of the 
increase.  If there is delay in receiving the tapes, the Appellant reserves the right to request 
addi�onal �me to his brief. 
 
a) The decision is inconsistent with OMC Chapter 8.22, Rent Board Regula�ons, or prior 

decisions of the Board. 
 
The Hearing Officer decided that the Appellant failed to comply with a requirement to provide 
the RAP No�ce at the commencement of the tenancy.  The “tenant” was a subtenant at the 
�me the increase was served.  There was no duty to serve the RAP no�ce in mul�ple languages.  
Besides, the Costa-Hawkins Rental Housing Act is clear:  Local jurisdic�ons may not impose 
requirements as to the applica�on of this statute.  Costa-Hawkins states, in per�nent part, as 
follows: 
 

“(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, an owner of residen�al real property 
may establish the ini�al rental rate for a dwelling or unit, except where any of the 
following applies…..” 

 
Civil Code Sec�on 1954.32 (emphasis added). 

 
c) The decision raises a new policy issue that has not been decided by the Board. 
 
An owner who serves a No�ce of Increase to tenants including subtenants need not file a RAP 
No�ce in Mul�ple Languages.  That requirement only applies to new tenancies.  On appeal we 
will show that the record evidence proves that Ms. Fleuren�n was not a new tenant when the 
rent increase no�ce was filed.  In fact, she falsely tes�fied numerous �mes that she had been a 
tenant prior to the rent increase no�ce.  She was at best a subtenant. 
 
 

000250



d) The decision violates federal, state, or local law.  
 
The decision violates California law as set forth above. The Costa Hawkins Rental Housing Act 
preempts local law. Therefore, local rent boards cannot impose restric�ons/requirements like 
RAP no�ces or addi�onal language requirements on Costa Hawkins Rent increases to 
subtenants remaining when all original tenants have departed. 
 
The decision also violates state law on service of no�ce of rent increases.  The rent increase was 
served in compliance with Civil Code Sec�on 827, which is all that is required assuming, as is the 
case here, that the last original occupant no longer resided in the subject dwelling, and all 
remaining occupants were sublessees that moved in a�er December 31, 1995.  
 
 
e) The decision is not supported by substan�al evidence.  
 
The decision that the Appellant failed to comply with state rent increase no�ce requirements is 
flat wrong.  The no�ce was posted and mailed to the tenant.  A copy of the proof of service was 
also provided to the rent board and was in its possession.  The landlord tes�fied that the no�ce 
was served by a professional/registered process server. 
 
The decision states that the tenant tes�fied that the no�ce was taped to her door.  It does not 
say that the tenant tes�fied that she never received it in the mail.  The Appellant ataches a 
copy of an email from the RAP program that clearly shows the Appellant’s atorney served a 
no�ce of the rent increase with a proof of service to the RAP Program. That document clearly 
disproves the Hearing Officer’s decision that No�ce of the Rent Increase was not performed in 
accordance with California law.   
 
Moreover, the Appellant will show that the tenant was not credible as she misrepresented the 
truth on this issue and many other issues during the hearing. 
 
f) I was denied a sufficient opportunity to present my claim or respond to the pe��oner’s 

claim. 
 
Appellant requested the right to recall Ms. Fleuren�n as his own, hos�le witness, but was 
denied.  The importance of this error will be discussed further in the Appellant’s brief. 
 
h) Other 
 
We ask that the Board open its own eviden�ary hearing on the issue of service of the rent 
increase no�ce as allowed by RAP Regula�on 8.22.120 (F) et. seq.  We believe that in the 
interest of jus�ce it is only right that the Board decide this key issue rather than waste �me 
sending it back to the hearing officer. 
 

000251



We are dismayed that the Hearing Officer did not resolve issues in the lengthy proceedings in 
this case.  The Hearing Officer took over 190 days to issue a decision in a case that had 6 days of 
hearings.  If the no�ce issue was as cut and dry as the decision seeks to suggest, why did it take 
so long to reach this result? 
 
 
Gregory McConnell 
Owner Representa�ve 
  
 

000252



000253



000254



000255



000256



000257



000258



000259



T22-0015 Fleurentin v Meridian Management Group 

Appeal Addendum 

 

 

This is a supplement to our appeal.  The Hearing Officer did not resolve the underlying issue of whether 

the owner is entitled to take a Costa-Hawkins increase.  At the appropriate time we will prove that 

entitlement.  We have argued previously that the owner was not required to serve RAP Notices in 

multiple languages.  We stand by those arguments. 

 

Here, we only address the issue of the Hearing Officer’s ruling that the Owner did not properly serve a 

rent increase notice to Laurie Fleurentin.  We strongly disagree.  The Owner complied with service 

requirements by Posting and Mailing the Notice of Rent Increase and the evidence in the hearing and on 

file with the Rent Board prove that conclusively. 

 

The Hearing Officer finds that “The tenant's uncontradicted testimony established that the contested 

rent increase notice was taped to the tenant's door on April 3, 2020, and was not personally served to 

her or mailed to her via the United States Postal Service.” She also found that the Tenant’s testimony 

was credible. 

 

The Tenant never testified that the rent increase notice was not mailed to her via the United States 

Postal Service.  No one during the hearing made that claim!  The finding is therefore completely wrong. 

 

Jennifer Weingand testified that prior to the hearing she reviewed the Tenants’ file kept by the 

management company in the regular course of business and that she saw the Proof of Service that 

showed the rent increase notice was served on April 16, by placing it on the door and mailing it to the 

Tenant at her address.   

 

The manner of service testified to by Ms. Weingand is verified by the Notice of Rent Increase and Proof 

of Service on file with the Rent Adjustment Program (RAP).  (Please see the document previously 

submitted as an attachment to the appeal that showed the RAP had the Notice of Rent Increase and 

Proof of Service in its files. 

 

The Tenant’s testimony was not credible.  In fact, it was blatantly false.  The increase was not served on 

April 3 as she claimed.  It was served on April 16.  The Tenant claimed that on April 3 the Resident 

Manager made a demand that she move out and when she refused the Resident Manager left but came 

back and taped the rent increase notice on her door. (See Hearing Officer‘s Decision).  

 

The resident manager acknowledged that he visited the unit on April 3 to check on the status of the unit.  

However, he categorically denied demanding that the tenant get out.  He also categorically denied 

coming back after the alleged argument on the same day and serving a rent increase notice.  

 

The Tenant made this story up to prejudice the Hearing Officer to be bias against the Property Owner.  

Apparently, it worked. Now the Board must reverse because the facts are completely opposite the 

allegations. 

000260



 

We ask the Board to review the Hearing tapes at:   

 

• [Day2Rent Adjustment Hearing Audio_2023.1.11_T22-0015_Fleurentin v. Meridian Mgmt Grp; 

39:12-46:20]  

• [Day2.2Rent Adjustment Hearing Audio_2023.1.11_T22-0015_Fleurentin v. Meridian Mgmt Grp; 

30:58-40:00] 

 

We also ask the Board to review [Day4.2Rent Adjustment Hearing Audio_2023.1.13_T22-

0015_Fleurentin v. Meridian Mgmt Grp; 34:15-37:30]. There the Board will find the following: 

 

Jennifer Weingand testified that service of the Notice of Increase was arranged by Attorney David 

Wasserman who hired Jose Carmona of S&R services to serve the Notice of Increase on April 16, 2020, 

and that no one else, including Kevin Rivera, (Resident Manager), served a Notice of Increase to the 

Tenant prior to April 16, 2020.   

 

Kevin Rivera testified that he did approach unit 307 on April 3, but he did not engage in an argument 

with Ms. Fleurentin, nor post anything on her door that date. Please review: 

[Day4Rent Adjustment Hearing Audio_2023.1.13_T22-0015_Fleurentin v. Meridian Mgmt Grp; 53:10-

56:01] 

 

He further testified that it is not within his job duties to serve Notices of Increase and that he has never 

served a Notice of Increase to anyone.  Please review: 

[Day4Rent Adjustment Hearing Audio_2023.1.13_T22-0015_Fleurentin v. Meridian Mgmt Grp; 2:07:38- 

2:08:30] 
 

See also [Day5Rent Adjustment Hearing Audio_2023.1.18_T22-0015_Fleurentin v. Meridian Mgmt Grp; 
4:40 – 5:15] 

 

Based upon the record testimony it must be concluded that Tenant was not credible, certainly the 

conclusion that Tenant’s testimony was uncontradicted is flat wrong.   

 

The increase was properly served.  Ms. Weingand testified to that effect and the Board had a copy of the 

increase and the proof of service in its files.  To rule that the notice was not properly served would grant 

a decision contrary to record evidence and documents on file with the Rent Adjustment Program. 

 

For those reasons, we respectfully demand a reversal of the decision because the findings are not 

supported by substantial evidence. 

000261



000262



000263



000264



000265



000266



000267



000268



Form – Petition PoS – EN – 8.14.23    Page 1 of 3  

CITY OF OAKLAND 
RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 Oakland, 
CA 94612-0243 
(510) 238-3721
CA Relay Service 711
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR PETITION OR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY ADDITIONAL 
DOCUMENTS) ON THE OPPOSING PARTIES. 

 Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner in which service took place, as well as
the person(s) served.

 Provide a complete but unsigned copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the opposing parties together
with the document(s) being served.

 File the completed and signed PROOF OF SERVICE form with the Rent Adjustment Program together with the
document you are filing and copies of any attachments you served on the opposing party/parties.

 Please sequentially number all additional documents provided to the RAP.

PETITIONS FILED WITHOUT A PROOF OF SERVICE WILL BE CONSIDERED INCOMPLETE AND MAY BE 
DISMISSED. 

 a. First-Class Mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package
addressed to the person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and
deposited the sealed envelope with the United States Postal Service, with the
postage fully prepaid.

 b. Personal Service. (1) By Hand Delivery: I personally delivered the document(s)
to the person(s) at the address(es) listed below; or (2) I left the document(s) at the
address(es) with some person not younger than 18 years of age.

 c. Electronic Service (DO NOT USE THIS SERVICE METHOD TO SERVE
PETITIONS OR RESPONSES TO PETITIONS.) I electronically sent the
document(s) to the person(s) at the address(es) listed below who have previously
given written consent to receiving notices and documents in this matter from the
RAP and from the OTHER PARTY/IES electronically at the email address(es) they
provided.

PERSON(S) SERVED: 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Email Address 

I served a copy of: _____________ (insert name of document served) and 
 And Additional Documents 

(write number of attached pages)   __ attached pages (not counting the Petition or Response served 
or the Proof of Service) to each opposing party, whose name(s) and address(es) are listed below, by 
one of the following means (check one): 
 

000269

http://www.oaklandca.gov/RAP


Form – Petition PoS – EN – 8.14.23                                                                                                                                                                Page 2 of 3  

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

Email Address  

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

Email Address  

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

Email Address  

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

Email Address  

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

Email Address  

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

Email Address  

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

Email Address  

 
 
 

000270



Form – Petition PoS – EN – 8.14.23                                                                                                                                                                Page 3 of 3  

To serve more than 8 people, copy this page as many times as necessary and insert in your proof of service document. If you are 
only serving one person, you can use just the first and last page 

 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct, and the documents were served on      /     /_____ (insert date served). 

 

PRINT YOUR NAME 
 

 
       SIGNATURE        DATE 

000271



510.271.8443    |    510.868.4521 (fax)    |    inquiries@heraca.org    |    heraca.org    |    P.O. Box 29435 Oakland, CA 94604 

OAKLAND RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 

250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 

Oakland, California 94612  

Email: hearingsgunit@oaklandca.gov 

Sent via Email  

September 7, 2023 

Re: Tenant Response to Appeal of RAP Decision T22-0015 – 315 Wayne Place, Unit 307 

To the Oakland Rent Board Commissioners,  

Please accept the following in response to Landlord Meridian Management 

Group’s appeal of Hearing Officer Susan Ma’s order in Case No. T22-0015.   

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

1. The Decision Is Not Inconsistent with OMC Chapter 8.22, Rent Board

Regulations, or Prior Decisions of the Board

Landlord-Appellant argues that the Rent Adjustment Program incorrectly decided that the 

Landlord failed to provide a RAP notice at the commencement of the tenancy, making the 

subject rent increase invalid.  Landlord-Appellant alleges it had no obligation to serve a RAP 

Notice on Ms. Fleurentin because she was, in its estimation, a subtenant throughout her tenancy.  

Even if we accept as true that Ms. Fleurentin was a subtenant (which she was not) and the 

landlord had no obligation to serve a complaint RAP Notice before serving a rent increase on a 
subtenant, the landlord cannot prove that it or any predecessor ever served a compliant RAP 

notice on any tenant of the unit.  The landlord’s inability to prove it met this important notice 

requirement, which ensures all Oakland tenants are informed of their rights, makes any rent 

increase at the unit impossible under the Oakland Municipal Code Section 8.22.060(A)(2).  As 

Hearing Officer Ma outlined in her decision, “no evidence was presented during the hearing that 

the owner served any of the tenants who resided in the subject unit with the RAP Notice in any 

languages.”  (Remand Hearing Decision Page 10).  Failure to meet this proper notice 

requirement means any attempted rent increase is invalid, as the RAP correctly ruled.     

Contrary to the Landlord-Appellant’s argument, Section 8.22.060(A)(2)’s requirement 

that Oakland tenants receive a compliant RAP notice does not outright stop the landlord from 

raising the rent on a lawful subtenant.  To reiterate this important point: the Oakland law does 

not prohibit rent increases on subtenants which would be flatly preempted by Costa-Hawkins.  

The Oakland law only requires a landlord to provide proper notice of the existence of just cause 

and rent ceiling laws to vulnerable tenants.  In fact, Costa-Hawkins expressly states, “Nothing in 

000272



510.271.8443    |    510.868.4521 (fax)    |    inquiries@heraca.org    |    heraca.org    |    P.O. Box 29435 Oakland, CA 94604 
2 

this section shall be construed to affect any authority of a public entity that may otherwise exist 

to regulate or monitor the grounds for eviction.”  Cal Civ Code § 1954.53(e). 

The owners have already conceded that in this case, “there was no new tenancy; rather, 

per Costa-Hawkins, the existing tenancy continues with an adjusted rent.  Indeed, the notice in 

question here was properly served upon all occupants, both the original lessees and the 

subsequent lessees.”  See Letter from the Law Offices of Dave Wasserman, attached as Exhibit 

A.)  What was not served was a compliant RAP notice. 

Because Landlord-Appellant could not establish that it ever served a RAP compliant 

notice in all required languages to any tenant of Unit 307, this appeal should not be granted and 

the Hearing Officer’s decision should stand.   

2. The Decision Does Not Raise a New Policy Issue or Violate Federal, State or

Local Law

Landlord-Appellant concedes that a compliant RAP notice is required for new tenancies.  

As Hearing Officer Ma’s decision makes clear, Landlord-Appellant did not establish that a 

compliant RAP notice was ever served on any tenant in Unit 307.  Therefore, the owner never 

provided the RAP notice, and the contested rent increase is not valid.  

As previously stated, the decision is in keeping with state law as the RAP notice 

requirements relate only to notice and do not prohibit rent increases for lawful subtenants.  

Besides, Costa-Hawkins expressly acknowledges that local governments do still have authority 

related to certain regulations in their municipalities.  See Cal Civ Code § 1954.53(e).    

3. The Decision Is Supported by Substantial Evidence

In her authority, the Hearing Officer assessed the credibility of the tenant’s testimony that 

she only received the subject rent increase taped to her door, violating Civil Code Section 827, 

which requires a rent increase to be personally served or posted and mailed.  The tenant never 

testified to receiving the rent increase by mail.  Landlord-Appellant had the opportunity to cross-

examine on this issue to inquire whether the tenant received the rent increase by mail and show 

any perceived flaws in the tenant's testimony.  It did not do this.  The Hearing Officer based her 

decision on improper service of the rent increase “entirely on evidence placed into the record.”  

Oakland Municipal Law § 8.22.110 (D)(3).  Any extraneous evidence provided by Landlord-

Appellant in its appeal to support the allegation that it properly served the rent increase should 

not be considered.  Therefore, the decision that the rent increase was not properly served under 

Civil Code Section 827 should not be overturned. 

000273



510.271.8443    |    510.868.4521 (fax)    |    inquiries@heraca.org    |    heraca.org    |    P.O. Box 29435 Oakland, CA 94604 
3 

4. Landlord-Appellant Was Not Denied a Sufficient Opportunity to Present Its

Claim or Respond to the Tenant’s Claim

The instant hearing proceeded over four full days, where witnesses testified for multiple 

hours.  There was no limit on the time to examine and cross-examine each witness or on the 

number of witnesses each party could call.  Landlord-Appellant had ample opportunity to cross-

examine the tenant or call its own witnesses to rebut any of the tenant’s testimony.  It cannot 

now claim that it did not have an adequate opportunity to defend its rent increase.  In the 

interests of time and justice, the Hearing Officer made the appropriate decision to deny the 
Landlord's request to call again a witness who was already examined and cross-examined  at 
length over multiple days.  Accordingly, Landlord-Appellant’s appeal should not be granted on 

these grounds. 

CONCLUSION 

In sum, none of the grounds raised by Landlord-Appellant support the overturning of the 

Hearing Officer’s decision in this matter.  The appeal should be denied and the decision should 

stand.  

Sincerely, 

Christa Conry  

Senior Attorney  

Housing and Economic Rights Advocates (HERA) 

Cc: Laurie Fleurentin, Greg McConnell, JR McConnell, Jennifer Weingand 

000274



EXHIBIT A
The exhibit is part of the original record but the highlighted 
portion was added by Tenant-Appellee for ease of reference

000275



WASSERMAN 
S A N FR A N CISC O 

April 6, 2022 

Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612 
hearing unit@oaklandca.go 

Christa Conry 
Staff Attorney 
Housing and Economic Rights Advocates 
P.O. Box 29435 
Oakland, CA 94604 
cconry@heraca.org 

Re: Case Number T22-0015, 315 Wavne Place, Unit 307, Oakland 

Dear Commissioners: 

On behalf of the 315 Wayne Place housing provider ("Wayne Place"), I would like to 
submit a brief response to HERA's April 4th letter and appeal. 

With regard to the contention that the Costa-Hawkins rent adjustment is invalid, Wayne 
Place respectfully disagrees. The notice, served when Wayne Place received written 
affirmation that the last original occupant was no longer permanently residing at the 
apartment, comports with Civil Code Section 827. The adjustment to market rate rent 
was given well more than 90 days in advance; indeed, the notice was issued in mid-April 
of 2020 with an effective date of January 1, 2021. 

As you know, Section 8.22.060 speaks to a multilingual notice requirement at the 
inception or commencement of a tenancy. In this instance, there was no new tenancy; 
rather, per Costa-Hawkins, the existing tenancy continues with an adjusted rent. Indeed, 
the notice in question here was properly served upon all occupants, both the original 
lessees and the subsequent lessees. 

For ease of reference, the pertinent portion of Section 8.22.060 is reprinted on the next 
page. Again, this is not a new tenancy. As Ms. Conry notes, her client moved into the 
apartment in March of 2013 and joined an already existing tenancy. The April 2020 
noticed rent adjustment was simply just that: a rent increase for an existing and still 
existing tenancy. 

2960 Van Ness Avenue• San Francisco • California 94109 • 41 5.567.9600 

dave@wassermanoffices.com • davewasserrnansf.com 000276

cconr
Highlight



000277



000278



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

CITY OF OAKLAND 

RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 

Oakland, CA 94612-0243 

(510) 238-3721

CA Relay Service 711
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR PETITION OR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY ADDITIONAL 
DOCUMENTS) ON THE OPPOSING PARTIES. 

➢ Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner in which service took place, as well as
the person(s) served.

➢ Provide a copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the opposing parties together with the document(s)
served.

➢ File the completed PROOF OF SERVICE form with the Rent Adjustment Program together with the document
you are filing and any attachments you are serving.

➢ Please number sequentially all additional documents provided to the RAP.

PETITIONS FILED WITHOUT A PROOF OF SERVICE WILL BE CONSIDERED INCOMPLETE AND MAY BE 
DISMISSED. 

I served a copy of: 
Tenant Response to Landlord Appeal of RAP Decision in Case No. T22-0015

(insert name of document served) 
 And Additional Documents

and (write number of attached pages) ____7______ attached pages (not counting the Petition or
Response served or the Proof of Service) to each opposing party, whose name(s) and address(es) are 
listed below, by one of the following means (check one): 

❑ a. By Email Per Stipulation of the Parites. I forwarded the enclosed document to the
persons and email addresses listed below.

PERSON(S) SERVED: 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Greg/JR McConnell, The McConnell Group

By email per stipulation of parties: gmc@themcconnellgroup.com; jr@themcconnellgroup.com 

N/A

000279



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

-2- 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

To serve more than 8 people, copy this page as many times as necessary and insert in your proof of service document. If you are 

only serving one person, you can use just the first and last page. 

Jennifer Weingard, Meridian Management/ University President Associates

By email per stipulation of parties: jweingand@mmgprop.com

N/A

000280



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

-3- 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is 
true and correct and the documents were served on 09/072023 (insert date served).

________Christa Conry_______________________
PRINT YOUR NAME 

_______________________________
SIGNATURE __9/07/23_______

 DATE 

000281



CHRONOLOGICAL CASE REPORT 

 

Case No.:      T23-0058   

Case Name:      Brooks v. Campbell   

Property Address:     200 Frisbie Street, Unit 200, Oakland, CA 94611   

Parties:               Severin Campbell (Owner) 
      Cheri Brooks (Tenant) 
      Centro Legal de la Raza (Tenant Representative)   
   
 
OWNER APPEAL: 

Activity       Date 

Tenant Petition filed     May 1, 2023  

Owner Response filed     May 4, 2023 

Owner Emails & Documentation submitted  June 27, 2023 

Tenant Evidence submitted    August 10, 2023  

Administrative Decision mailed    August 24, 2023  

Owner Appeal filed     August 29, 2023  

 

000282



000283



000284



000285



000286



000287



000288



000289



Property Owner Response to Tenant Petition of Cheri Brooks received 5/2/2023 

 

Property address:  200 Frisbie St., Oakland, CA 94611 

Property owners:  Severin Campbell, Julie Moss, Leah Orloff 

Date of Response: 5/3/2023 

The history of rent increases at 200 Frisbie Street is as follows: 

▪ We hand-delivered a notice of increase in rent to Ms. Brooks on August 29, 2015, increasing the 

rent from $1105 to $1215. This increase included a CPI increase of 1.7% and a pass through for 

capital costs of 8.3%.  This was in accordance with the Rent Adjustment Program regulations at 

that time.  A RAP notice was included with the rent increase notice. 

▪ We notified Ms. Brooks on September 1, 2016 of the rent increase from $1215 to $1337, 

effective October 1, 2016. This increase included a CPI increase of 2% (applied only to the base 

rent and not the capital pass-through amount) and a pass through for capital costs of 8%. This 

was in accordance with the Rent Adjustment Program regulations at that time. A RAP notice was 

included with the rent increase notice. 

▪ We notified Ms. Brooks on May 31, 2018 of the Rent Adjustment Program decision that her rent 

could be increased to $1455. A RAP notice was included with the rent increase notice. At Ms. 

Brooks request, we agreed to keep the rent at $1337. 

▪ Ms. Brooks base rent as of October 1, 2015 was $1,123 (an increase of 1.7% from prior rent of 

$1,105). Based on annual CPI adjustments, Ms. Brooks base rent increased to $1352 as of August 

2022. We notified Ms. Brooks on January 2, 2023 that her rent would increase from $1337 to 

$1352. 

▪ The total approved capital pass through amount for Ms. Brooks was $15,919.  This amount was 

approved by the Oakland Rent Adjustment Program. Actual capital pass through paid by Ms. 

Brooks between October 2015 and August 2022 was $8,158.   

000290



Page 1 of 2 
Proof of Service 

Rev. 5/21/2021 

CITY OF OAKLAND 

RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 

Oakland, CA 94612-0243 

(510) 238-3721

CA Relay Service 711

www.oaklandca.gov/RAP

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 

PROOF OF SERVICE

NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY 
ATTACHMENTS) ON THE TENANT(S) PRIOR TO FILING YOUR RESPONSE WITH RAP. 

1) Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner of service and the person(s) served.

2) Note: Email is not a form of allowable service on a party of a petition or response pursuant to the Ordinance.
3) Provide a completed copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the person(s) being served together with the

documents being served.

4) File a completed copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form with RAP together with your Response. Your
Response will not be considered complete until this form has been filed indicating that service has occurred.

On the following date: _____/_____/_____ I served a copy of (check all that apply): 

❑ PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE TO TENANT PETITION plus ______ attached pages 
(number of pages attached to Response not counting the Response form or PROOF OF 
SERVICE) 

❑ Other: ___________________________________________

by the following means (check one): 

❑ United States Mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package addressed to the
person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the sealed envelope with the
United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid.

❑ Personal Service. I personally delivered the document(s) to the person(s) at the address(es)
listed below or I left the document(s) at the address(es) with some person not younger than 18
years of age.

PERSON(S) SERVED: 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

x

05   04     2023 

1

x

Cheri Brooks

200 Frisbie Street
Oakland, CA 94611

Gregory Ching, Centro Legal de la Raza

3400 East 12th Street

Oakland, CA 94601

000291

http://www.oaklandca.gov/RAP


Page 2 of 2 
Proof of Service 

Rev. 5/21/2021 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct. 

_______________________________________________ 

 PRINTED NAME 

__________________________________________ __________________ 

SIGNATURE DATE SIGNED

Severin Campbell

May 4, 2023

000292



Case T23-0058

Property Address 200 Frisbie Street

Parties

Party Name Address Mailing Address
Representative Gregory Ching 3400 East 12th Street

Centro Legal de la Raza
(510) 437-1554 Oakland, CA 94601
gching@centrolegal.org

Tenant Cheri Brooks 200 Frisbie Street
Unit 200

(510) 292-0644 Oakland, CA 94611
qkcam45@att.net

Owner Severin Campbell 1315 Stannage Avenue
(510) 417-0022 Berkeley, CA 94702
frisbieoakland@gmail.com

Business Information

Date of which you aquired the building 3-1-2015

Total Number of Units 4

Is there more than one street address on the parcel? Yes

Type of Unit Apartment,
Room or
Live-work

Is the contested increase a capital improvements increase? No

Business License 00173653

Have you paid your business license? Yes

Have you paid the Rent Adjustment Program Service Fee ($101 per unit)? Yes

Rent History

City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program
Owner Response

City of Oakland 

000293



The tenant moved into the rental unit on 7-1-2010

Initial monthly rent 1045

Have you (or a previous Owner) given the City of Oakland’s form entitled
Notice to Tenants of Residential Rent Adjustment Program (“RAP Notice”)
to all of the petitioning tenants?

Yes

On what date was the notice first given? 3-27-2015

Is the tenant current on the rent? Yes

City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program
Owner Response

City of Oakland 

000294



Are you claiming an Exemption? No

Owner Responses on Petition Grounds

Questions Owner Response

Tenant did not receive proper notice, was not properly served,
and/or was not provided with the required RAP form with rent
increase(s)

We provided RAP notices in March 2015,
September 2016, and May 2018

A government agency has cited the unit for serious health,
safety, fire, or building code violations.

n/a

The owner is providing tenant(s) with fewer housing services
and/or charging for services originally paid for by the owner.

n/a

Tenant(s) is/are being unlawfully charged for utilities. n/a

Rent was not reduced a�er a prior rent increase period for
capital improvements.

No rent reduction was indicated. RAP
approved an increase of

$118.37, effective July 2018, increasing
rent from $1337 to $1455. At

tenant's request, we kept the rent flat at
$1337. Please see attached for

details.

Tenant is contesting exemption based on fraud or mistake. n/a

City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program
Owner Response

City of Oakland 

000295



Tenant’s initial rent amount was unlawful because owner was
not permitted to set initial rent without limitation (O.M.C. §
8.22.080C). 

n/a

 
 

I/We declare under penalty of perjury pursuant to the laws of the State of California that
everything I/We said in this response is true and that all the documents attached to the response
are true copies of the originals.
 
 
 

Severin Campbell 6/27/2023
Signature Date

---------------END OF RESPONSE---------------

City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program
Owner Response

City of Oakland 

000296



5/2/23, 6:33 PM Gmail - Notice of Rent Increase

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/2/?ik=173946f51b&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-a:mmiai-r-3661900611048442792%7Cmsg-a:s:-8867376929… 1/1

Frisbie Oakland <frisbieoakland@gmail.com>

Notice of Rent Increase
1 message

Frisbie Oakland <frisbieoakland@gmail.com> Thu, May 31, 2018 at 3:44 PM
To: c b <qkcam45@att.net>
Bcc: juliecmoss <juliecmoss@gmail.com>, Leah Orloff <leahorloff@gmail.com>

Dear Cheri

The Rent Adjustment Program approved our petition to increase the rent.  We have attached a letter  to increase your
monthly rent to $1,445.60 effective July 1, 2018. 

Please see the attached (1) notice of rent increase, (2) notice of Rent Adjustment Program decision, and (3) Rent
Adjustment Program provisions.

We also sent these documents by certified mail on May 25, 2018.

Severin, Leah and Julie

3 attachments

Notice of Rent Incease.C Brooks.pdf
218K

RAP Notice.pdf
170K

Rent Board Decision 4-26-18.pdf
16788K

000297

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/2/?ui=2&ik=173946f51b&view=att&th=163b86000b5c383c&attid=0.1&disp=attd&realattid=f_jhv4f8l50&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/2/?ui=2&ik=173946f51b&view=att&th=163b86000b5c383c&attid=0.2&disp=attd&realattid=f_jhv4fe571&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/2/?ui=2&ik=173946f51b&view=att&th=163b86000b5c383c&attid=0.3&disp=attd&realattid=f_jhv4fi6m2&safe=1&zw


5/2/23, 6:29 PM Gmail - Rent Increase as of October 1, 2016

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/2/?ik=173946f51b&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f:1544291574225784282%7Cmsg-f:1544291574225784282&… 1/1

Frisbie Oakland <frisbieoakland@gmail.com>

Rent Increase as of October 1, 2016
1 message

Frisbie Oakland <frisbieoakland@gmail.com> Thu, Sep 1, 2016 at 10:33 AM
To: cb brooks <qkcam45@att.net>
Bcc: Leah Orloff <leahorloff@gmail.com>, "Julie C. Moss" <juliecmoss@gmail.com>

Dear Cheri

We are increasing the rent for your apartment on October 1, 2016.  Attached is the letter with the 30 day notice of the
increase, and the statement of your rights from the Oakland Rent Adjustment Program.  I also delivered a hard copy of
this notice to your apartment.

If this increase causes financial hardship because of you disability status, we are willing to work with you to adjust the
rent. Please let us know if you have any questions.

Thank you.

Severin, Leah and Julie

2 attachments

Notice of Rent Increase October 2016.Unit 200.docx
18K

Oakland Rent Adjustment Program.pdf
291K

000298

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/2/?ui=2&ik=173946f51b&view=att&th=156e6d01375b4dda&attid=0.1&disp=attd&realattid=f_iskm1f990&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/2/?ui=2&ik=173946f51b&view=att&th=156e6d01375b4dda&attid=0.2&disp=attd&realattid=f_iskm1jsx1&safe=1&zw


1/16/23, 8:12 AM Receipt

https://ltss.oaklandnet.com/Renew/Renew5 1/2

Guest Report a ProblemHome
Account # 00173653

LEAH ORLOFF SEVERIN CAMPBELL
Find Account  Registration  Calculation  Payment  Receipt

Business License Online Renewal 

PRINT THIS PAGE FOR YOUR RECORD
The business tax license renewal has been submitted. Business tax certificates will be emailed 2 to 5 days after sucessfully renewing
account. For questions, please contact the Business Tax office at (510) 238-3704 or btwebsupport@oaklandca.gov. Thank you, City
of Oakland - Business Tax

Submission Date 1/16/2023
Confirmation # 393954
 
Account Information
Account # 00173653
Expire Date 12/31/2023
Name LEAH ORLOFF SEVERIN CAMPBELL
Address 202 FRISBIE ST
City OAKLAND
Phone (510) 417-0022
 
Summary

Input Amount
Tax Calculation
Current Year Business Tax – Residential/Non-Residential Rental 89,640.48 $1,250.48
BT SB1186 (AB1379) 1 $4.00
BT Recordation and Tech 1 $4.50
Total # of Employees, Excluding Owners - report only employees that work within Oakland $0.00
Rent Adjustment Program (RAP) Calculation - only use whole numbers below
a. Total # of units per Alameda County Records: 4 $404.00
Total Due $1,662.98
 
Payment Information
Payment Amount $1,662.98

After printing or saving this page for your records, you may close this browser window/tab.

Select Language  ▼

OFFICIALSEVENTSDEPARTMENTSSERVICESNEWS

Elected Officials
Departments
Boards and Commissions
Staff Directory

Services
News & Updates
Events
Documents

#OaklandLoveLife
Oakland Library
Visit Oakland
Oakland Museum

For Assistance
Email: btwebsupport@oaklandca.go
Phone: (510) 238-3704

City of Oakland
250 Frank H Ogawa Plaza, Suite 132

000299

https://ltss.oaklandnet.com/Home/ReportProblem
https://ltss.oaklandnet.com/Home/Home/BusinessLicense
javascript:printPage();
javascript:void(0)
https://www.oaklandca.gov/officials
https://www.oaklandca.gov/events
https://www.oaklandca.gov/departments
https://www.oaklandca.gov/services
https://www.oaklandca.gov/departments/media-center
https://www.oaklandca.gov/officials
https://www.oaklandca.gov/departments
https://www.oaklandca.gov/boards-and-commissions
https://www.oaklandca.gov/staff-members
https://www.oaklandca.gov/services
https://www.oaklandca.gov/departments/media-center
https://www.oaklandca.gov/events
https://www.oaklandca.gov/documents
https://www.oaklandca.gov/issues/oaklandlovelife
https://www.oaklandlibrary.org/
https://www.visitoakland.com/
https://museumca.org/
mailto:btwebsupport@oaklandca.gov


1/16/23, 8:12 AM Receipt

https://ltss.oaklandnet.com/Renew/Renew5 2/2

Oakland, CA 94612

Hours:
8:00 AM-4:00 PM
Monday, Tuesday, Thursday ,Friday

9:30 AM-4:00 PM Wednesdays.

000300



 Apt 200 Capital Pass Through  Apt 200 
Base April 2015 1,105.00        Capital Pass Through Amount                         7,396.63 
CPI Oct 2015 18.79             Oct 2015 - Sep 2016 (1,100.58)
New Base Oct 2015 1,123.79        Oct 2016 - Jun 2017 (1,717.10)
Capital Pass Through 91.72             Jul 2017-June 2018 (1,973.10)
Total Rent Oct 2015 1,215.50        Subtotal 2,605.84

RAP Approval 8,522.64
Base Oct 2015 1,123.79        Jul 18 - Jun 19 (1,494.67)
CPI Oct 2016 22.48             Jul 19 - Jun 20 (985.43)
New Base Oct 2016 1,146.26        Jul 20 - Jun 21 (578.83)
Capital Pass Through 190.79           Jul 21 - Jul 22 (308.73)
Total Rent Oct 2016 1,337.05        Aug 22 - Jan 23

Subtotal 7,760.83
Total Rent July 2018 1,337.05        
Five-year increase 19% Total approved capital pass through 15,919.27

Total paid (8,158.44)
Revised July 2019 Balance waived 7,760.83
Base 1,254.93        
RAP Capital Pass Through 82.12             

1,337.05        

Revised July 2020
Base 1,288.81        
RAP Capital Pass Through 48.24             

1,337.05        

Revised July 2021
Base 1,313.30        
RAB CPT 23.75             

1,337.05        

Base Rent Cap
1.7% increase Oct 2015 - Sep 2016 1,123.79        1,215.50        91.71             
2% increase Oct 2016 - Jun 2017 1,146.26        1,337.05        190.79           
2.3% Increase 2017 (Jul 17 - Jun 18) 1,172.62        1,337.05        164.43           
3.4% increase 2018 (Jul 18 - Jun 19 1,212.49        1,337.05        124.56           
3.5% increase 2019 (Jul 19 - Jun 20) 1,254.93        1,337.05        82.12             
2.7% increase 2020 (Jul 20 - Jun 21) 1,288.81        1,337.05        48.24             
1.9% increase 2021 (Jul 21 - Jul 22) 1,313.30        1,337.05        23.75             
3.0% increase 2022 (Aug 22 - Jun 23) 1,352.70        1,337.05        (15.65)            

000301



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program Case Number:T23-0058
Cheri Brooks

Tenant Evidence Submission

Exhibit Document Description Page Numbers

T1 2015 Rent increase

T2 2016 Rent increase

T3 2023 Rent increase

T4 Decision in L17-0191

T5 Rent Payment Records

3-4

6

8

10-14

16-22

1 of 22000302



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program Case Number:T23-0058
Cheri Brooks

Tenant Evidence Submission

Exhibit T1

2 of 22000303



3 of 22000304



4 of 22000305



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program Case Number:T23-0058
Cheri Brooks

Tenant Evidence Submission

Exhibit T2

5 of 22000306



6 of 22000307



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program Case Number:T23-0058
Cheri Brooks

Tenant Evidence Submission

Exhibit T3

7 of 22000308



3/22/23, 6:02 PM AT&T Yahoo Mail - Rent Increase

about:blank 1/1

Rent Increase

From: Frisbie Oakland (frisbieoakland@gmail.com)

To: qkcam45@att.net

Date: Monday, January 2, 2023 at 09:32 AM PST

Cheri

Your total monthly rent of $1337.05 has two parts: base rent and the pass-through of costs for capital improvements
(capital pass-through) authorized under the Oakland Rent Adjustment Program.

The total rent of $1337.05 has been unchanged since October 2016.  In accordance with the Rent Adjustment Program,
we have increased the base rent each year by the allowed Consumer Price Index (CPI) and decreased the capital pass-
through amount to retain the total rent of $1337.05.

As of August 1, 2022, your base rent authorized by the Oakland Rent Adjustment Program increased to $1352.70. 
Although the authorized amount for the capital pass-through has not been paid, we will waive all future payments for the
capital pass-through.

Your rent will increase to $1,352.70 beginning February 1, 2023.  

Your rent will be considered for a future increase on July 1, 2023 in accordance with the CPI increase allowed by the
Oakland Rent Adjustment Program.

Please let us know if you have questions.

Leah, Severin & Julie

8 of 22000309



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program Case Number:T23-0058
Cheri Brooks

Tenant Evidence Submission

Exhibit T4

9 of 22000310



10 of 22000311



11 of 22000312



12 of 22000313



13 of 22000314



14 of 22000315



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program Case Number:T23-0058
Cheri Brooks

Tenant Evidence Submission

Exhibit T5

15 of 22000316



16 of 22000317



17 of 22000318



18 of 22000319



19 of 22000320



20 of 22000321



21 of 22000322



22 of 22000323



000324



000325



000326



000327



000328



000329



000330



000331



000332



000333



000334



000335



000336



000337



000338



000339



000340



000341



000342



000343



000344



000345



000346



000347



000348



1 
 

 

                                                        CITY OF OAKLAND   
                                 Rent Adjustment Program 

    

MEMORANDUM 

Date:     October 6, 2023 

To:     Members of the Housing, Rent Residential & Relocation     
                                  Board (HRRRB)     
 
From:    Braz Shabrell, Deputy City Attorney   

Re:  Appeal Recommendation in T23-0019, Barragan et al. v. 
Mead Holding LLC 

                          
Appeal Hearing Date:       October 12, 2023  
 

Property Address:   2031 69th Avenue, Unit C, Oakland, CA 94621 

Appellant/Owner:  Ahmed Said, Mead Holding LLC 
 
Respondent/Tenants:  Maria Barragan, Reyes Ornelas 
     

BACKGROUND 

 On January 23, 2023, tenants Maria Barragan and Reyes Ornelas filed a Tenant 
Petition contesting the following two rent increases: 

• $1,000 to $1,300, effective December 2019 
• $1,300 to $1,500, effective December 2022 

The Petition indicated that the tenants had never received a copy of the RAP Notice, 
either at the beginning of their tenancy or with either increase. The tenants submitted 22 
pages of documentation in support of their Petition, including copies of the rent increase 
notices and proof of rent payment. 

 On February 1, 2023, owner Ahmed Said of Mead Holding LLC filed a response 
to the Tenant Petition, but did not allege any defenses in the response form. The owner 
attached a copy of a business license (which was expired), but did not include any 
evidence that the owner had paid the RAP service fee. The owner also indicated on the 
response form that the owner had never provided the tenants with a copy of the RAP 
Notice.  



2 
 

 On February 28, 2023, RAP staff mailed the owner a Notice of Incomplete Owner 
Response, indicating that the owner was missing a proof of service, proof of payment of 
the business license tax, and proof of payment of the RAP fee. The Notice indicated 
that the owner had 30 days to submit a completed response.  

 On March 3, 2023, the owner submitted an email to RAP that contained 
additional narrative in support of the owner’s response. RAP responded the same day 
and again informed the owner of the incomplete response. RAP sent the owner another 
email on March 8, 2023, again instructing the owner to resubmit the response with the 
missing information.  

RULING ON THE CASE 

 On April 5, 2023, hearing officer Élan Consuella Lambert issued an 
Administrative Decision, granting the Tenant Petition without a hearing. As of the date of 
the Decision, the owner had not submitted any of the required additional documentation, 
and therefore the owner’s response remained incomplete. Any documentation 
submitted by the owner was therefore deemed inadmissible. On the merits, the rent 
increases were found to be invalid because the tenants never received the required 
RAP Notice, and because the second increase in 2022 was above CPI and did not 
include the notice language required by the Oakland rent increase moratorium. 

GROUNDS FOR APPEAL 

 On April 18, 2023, the owner filed an appeal of the Administrative Decision on 
the grounds that the owner was denied a sufficient opportunity to respond to the 
tenants’ claims. Among other things, the owner alleged that the increase from $1,000 to 
$1,300 was not an increase, but rather the tenants’ initial rent was $1,300 and was 
discounted to $1,000 in exchange for the tenants taking out the garbage and cleaning 
around the property. The owner also alleged increased housing service costs and other 
claims not related to the tenant petition.  

ISSUES 

1. Was the owner denied a sufficient opportunity to respond to the tenants’ 
claim?  

2. Does the Administrative Decision err as a matter of law? 

 

APPLICABLE LAW AND PAST BOARD DECISIONS 

I.  Administrative Decisions  

 An administrative decision may be issued when petition or response forms have 
not been properly completed, were untimely, or filing prerequisites have not been met, 



3 
 

where the petition and response forms raise no genuine dispute as to any material facts 
and the petition may be decided as a matter of law, or where the property was 
previously issued a certificate of exemption and is not challenged by the tenant. OMC 
8.22.110F.  

II. Owner Filing Requirements   

 In order to file a response to a tenant petition or file a petition seeking a rent 
increase, an owner must submit the following: evidence of possession of a current 
business license, evidence of payment of the RAP fee, evidence of service of the RAP 
notice on covered units, a completed response form, documentation supporting the 
owner’s claim of exemption or justification for the rent increase, and proof of service of 
the response on the tenant. OMC 8.22.090B. Failure to submit a completed response 
may result in the response being dismissed.  

III. Service of RAP Notice 

 Owners are required to serve tenants with a copy of the RAP Notice at the 
beginning of the tenancy and together with any rent increase. Failure to do so renders a 
rent increase invalid. O.M.C. 8.22.060, 8.22.070H, 8.22.090A(1)(c)-(d). 

IV. Rent Increase Moratorium 

 Oakland’s rent increase moratorium, which was in effect as of December 2022, 
limits rent increases to CPI and requires certain language to be included in rent 
increase notices. 

 

RECOMMENDED OUTCOME 

 The office of the City Attorney recommends that the Hearing Officer’s decision be 
upheld. The owner’s response was incomplete and remained incomplete after the 
owner was provided with notice and 30 days to submit the required documentation. 
Owner filing requirements—and the risk that failure to comply may result in the 
response being dismissed—is indicated in the notice served together with the petition, 
in the response form itself, and in the “Notice of Incomplete Owner Reponse.” The 
owner in this case was also instructed on filing requirements via staff emails on March 3 
and March 8, 2023. The response was incomplete on numerous grounds, which the 
owner failed to correct despite several notices to do so. An Administrative Decision was 
therefore justified, as was disregarding the owner’s evidence.  

 Even if the owner’s response was considered filed, the same result could be 
reached. Both the Tenant Petition and the owner response indicate that the tenants 
were not provided with a RAP Notice. Therefore, failure to provide a RAP Notice is 
undisputed. Additionally, the December 2022 increase from $1,300 to $1,500 exceeds 
the allowable CPI and does not comply with Oakland’s rent increase moratorium. It is 
therefore invalid on its face.  



4 
 

 The owner’s claims of capital improvements and increased housing service costs 
are misguided. In order to impose a rent increase based on capital improvements or 
increased costs, an owner must first file a petition and be granted approval by RAP. 
That was not done in this case. The other claims raised on appeal are irrelevant to the 
issue of whether the challenged rent increases were valid, and the appeal does not 
provide any explanation or justification (i.e. good cause) as to why the owner’s response 
was incomplete.  

 
 



1 
 

                                 Rent Adjustment Program 

    

MEMORANDUM 

Date:     October 10, 2023 

To:     Members of the Housing, Rent Residential & Relocation     
                                  Board (HRRRB)     
 
From:    Braz Shabrell, Deputy City Attorney 

Re:     Appeal Summary and Recommendation in T22-0015, 
    Fleurentin v. Meridian Management Group  
                          
Appeal Hearing Date:       October 12, 2023 
 

Property Address:   315 Wayne Place, Unit #307, Oakland, CA 

Appellants/Tenant:  Laurie Fleurentin 
 
Respondent/Owner:  University President Associates LP (Property Manager –  

Meridian Management Group) 
                             
 

BACKGROUND 

 On January 3, 2022, the tenant filed a petition contesting a monthly rent increase 
from $1,178 to $2,800, noticed on April 15, 2020, and effective January 1, 2021. The 
owner filed a response on February 9, 2022. 

On March 15, 2022, the Hearing Officer issued an Administrative Decision, 
dismissing the petition as untimely. The tenant appealed, and the case came before the 
Board on May 26, 2022. The Board voted to remand the case back to the Hearing 
Officer for a hearing. A hearing was held over multiple days, in September 2022 and 
January 2023. Both parties submitted additional briefing.  
 

RULING ON THE CASE 
 

 On August 3, 2023, the Hearing Officer issued a Remand Hearing Decision, 
granting the tenant’s petition. The Hearing Officer found that although the rent increase 
notice had been served with a RAP Notice, the owner had never served a RAP Notice 
in all three languages, which is required at the commencement of a tenancy. Although 
petitioner’s tenancy commenced in 2013, the evidence established that the first time the 



2 
 

RAP Notice was served on the tenant was in April 2020. Because that Notice was only 
provided in English, and there was no evidence demonstrating that the Notice had ever 
been provided to any tenant in all three languages, the owner had not complied with 
RAP Notice service requirements prior to the petition being filed. Any notice of rent 
increase or change in terms of tenancy is invalid until the owner serves the tenant with a 
RAP Notice in three languages.  
 
 The Hearing Officer also held that the rent increase notice had not been properly 
served. The evidence established that the notice had been served by it being taped to 
the tenant’s door on April 3, 2020. The owner did not establish that the notice had been 
mailed, nor could the owner identify the person who had served the notice. The notice 
was neither personally served nor mailed via US mail, as required by Civil Code 827. 
Therefore, the notice was also invalid on the grounds that it violated Civil Code 827. 
 

GROUNDS FOR APPEAL 

 The owner filed a timely appeal on the following grounds:  

 The decision is inconsistent with O.M.C. Chapter 8.22, Rent Board 
Regulations, or prior decisions of the Board; 

 The decision raises a new policy issue that has not been decided by the 
Board;  

 The decision violates federal, state or local law; 
 The decision is not supported by substantial evidence; 
 The owner was denied a sufficient opportunity to present their claim or 

response; and 
 Other. 

The owner contends that the tenant was a subtenant at the time the rent increase 
notice was served and there was no duty to serve the RAP Notice in multiple 
languages. The increase was allowed under Costa-Hawkins. The tenant was not a new 
tenant when the rent increase notice was served, so the requirement to serve the RAP 
Notice in three languages did not apply. The decision violates Costa-Hawkins because 
service of a RAP Notice and language requirements do not apply to Costa-Hawkins rent 
increases on subtenants. The notice was served in compliance with Civil Code 827 
because it was served by a process server and the owner submitted a proof of service.  

The owner also argues that the tenant is not credible, and it was an error to deny 
the owner’s request to recall the tenant as a witness during the hearing. The owner 
requests that the Board open its own evidentiary hearing on the issue of service. The 
tenant testified that she received the notice taped to her door on April 3, but she did not 
testify that she never received the notice in the mail.  

 
 

ISSUES 



3 
 

1. When an owner serves a rent increase notice pursuant to Costa-Hawkins (Civil 
Code 1954.53(d)), does failure to comply with “commencement of tenancy” 
notice requirements under OMC 8.22.060 render the rent increase invalid? �
�

2. Is the rent increase in this case a rent adjustment of a “continuously occupied 
covered unit” (under OMC 8.22.070) or a rent increase following a vacancy of a 
covered unit (under OMC 8.22.080)?    
 

3. Is the Hearing Officer’s finding that owner did not establish proper service of the 
rent increase notice supported by substantial evidence? �

 
 

APPLICABLE LAW AND PAST BOARD DECISIONS 

 

RAP NOTICE REQUIREMENTS 

Service of RAP Notice at Inception of Tenancy  

 “The owner of any covered unit” is required to provide tenants with a RAP Notice 
“at the commencement of any tenancy… on or before the date of 
commencement of a tenancy.” O.M.C. Section 8.22.060A.  
 

 “The Owner must give the initial notice in three languages: English, Spanish, and 
Chinese.” O.M.C. Section 8.22.060A2. This requirement took effect on 
September 21, 2016 and “only applies to new tenancies that commenced on or 
after that date.” Rent Regulations, sec. 8.22.060A1. 
 

 If an owner fails to provide the RAP Notice at the inception of tenancy as 
required by OMC 8.22.060, the deadline for contesting a rent increase is 90 days 
from “the date the tenant first receives written notice of the existence and scope 
of this Chapter as required by Section 8.22.060.” Therefore, if an owner has 
never complied with OMC 8.22.060, the tenant may contest a rent increase at 
any time.  

Evidence of Giving Notice 

 “When filing an owner’s response to a tenant petition or an owner’s petition for a 
rent increase, the owner must submit evidence that the owner has given the 
notice required by this section to the affected tenants in the building under 
dispute in advance of the filing. When responding to a tenant petition, the owner 
may allege that the affected dwelling units are exempt in lieu of providing 
evidence of complying with the notice requirement. If an owner fails to submit the 
evidence and the subject dwelling unit is not exempt, then the owner’s petition or 
response to a tenant’s petition must be dismissed. This evidence can be a 
statement of compliance given under oath, however, the tenant may controvert 
this statement at the hearing. An owner’s filing the notice in advance of petition or 



4 
 

response prevents the owner’s petition or response from being dismissed, but 
the owner may still be subject to the rent increase forfeiture if the notice was not 
given at the commencement of the tenancy or within the cure period set out 
in Section 8.22.060C.” OMC 8.22.060B. 

Curing Failure to Give Initial Notice  

 “Failing to Give Notice. An owner who fails to give notice of the existence and 
scope of the Rent Adjustment Program at the commencement of a tenancy, but 
otherwise qualifies to petition or respond to a petition filed with the Rent 
Adjustment Program, will forfeit six months of the rent increase sought unless the 
owner cured the failure to give the notice. An owner may cure the failure to give 
the notice at the commencement of a tenancy required by this section and not be 
subject to a forfeiture of a rent increase if the owner gives the notice at least six 
months prior to serving the rent increase notice on the tenant or, in the case of 
an owner petition, at least six months prior to filing the petition.” OMC 8.22.060C. 

 

RENT INCREASE BASED ON COSTA-HAWKINS 

Generally: Exemption vs. Vacancy De-control  

 Generally speaking, Costa-Hawkins impacts rent increases in two ways. First, it 
exempts certain types of properties from local rent control regulations. These 
units—such as single-unit dwellings and new construction—are exempt from the 
Rent Adjustment Ordinance entirely. This means that the owner can increase the 
rent on these units to whatever amount they want, and owners are not required 
to file a petition first or comply with RAP Notice requirements. OMC 8.22.030, 
Civil Code 1954.52.  
 

 The second way Costa-Hawkins impacts rent increases is that, for units that are 
covered by rent control, owners are permitted to set the “initial rental rate” to 
whatever amount they want. This prohibits something referred to as vacancy 
control. This means that although cities can impose rent control restrictions on 
non-exempt units while they are occupied, once a tenant vacates, the owner can 
then set the rent to whatever amount they want at the beginning of the next 
tenancy. OMC 8.22.080, Civil Code 1954.53. After setting the initial rent amount, 
subsequent increases are thereafter subject to rent restrictions. OMC 8.22.080E. 
Civil Code 1954.53 also allows landlords to increase rents when a unit is sublet 
or assigned, and the original occupant no longer permanently reside there.  
 

 The instant case involves the latter scenario.  

Setting the “Initial” Rent Amount Under Civil Code 1954.53: Rent Increase Following 
Vacancy and/or Rent Increase Based on Subletting  



5 
 

 “Setting Initial Rents to Tenants Without Restriction. Costa-Hawkins provides that 
owners may set an initial rent to a new tenant without restriction except in certain 
circumstances.” OMC 8.22.080B. 
 

 “Sublets and Assignments. Under specified conditions, Costa-Hawkins permits 
an owner to set initial rents without restriction when a covered unit is sublet or 
assigned and none of the original occupants permanently reside in the covered 
unit. (California Civil Code § 1954.53(d)).” OMC 8.22.080D. 
 

 Civil Code 1954.53(d): 
 

(1) Nothing in this section or any other provision of law shall be construed 
to preclude express establishment in a lease or rental agreement of the 
rental rates to be applicable in the event the rental unit subject thereto is 
sublet. Nothing in this section shall be construed to impair the obligations 
of contracts entered into prior to January 1, 1996. 
 
(2): If the original occupant or occupants who took possession of the 
dwelling or unit pursuant to the rental agreement with the owner no longer 
permanently reside there, an owner may increase the rent by any amount 
allowed by this section to a lawful sublessee or assignee who did not 
reside at the dwelling or unit prior to January 1, 1996. 
 
(3) This subdivision does not apply to partial changes in occupancy of a 
dwelling or unit where one or more of the occupants of the premises, 
pursuant to the agreement with the owner provided for above, remains an 
occupant in lawful possession of the dwelling or unit, or where a lawful 
sublessee or assignee who resided at the dwelling or unit prior to January 
1, 1996, remains in possession of the dwelling or unit. Nothing contained 
in this section shall be construed to enlarge or diminish an owner’s right to 
withhold consent to a sublease or assignment. 
 

 Therefore, an owner may impose an unlimited rent increase pursuant to Civil 
Code 1954.53 if either (a) initial occupancy by a new tenant commenced as of 
the date of the rent increase notice, or (b) the occupant whose rent is being 
increased is a subtenant or assignee. Cobb v. San Francisco Residential Rent 
Stabilization & Arb. Bd. (2002) 98 Cal. App. 4th 345, 352. 
 

 An owner is not entitled to this type of Costa-Hawkins rent increase where the 
occupant in possession has established their own tenancy with the landlord, as 
opposed to being a subtenant of the previous occupant. Whether an occupant is 
considered a tenant in their own right or a subtenant subject to unlimited rent 
increase is a question of fact and depends on the nature of the landlord-tenant 
relationship. 



6 
 

 
RENT INCREASE NOTICE SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 

 
 Civil Code 827: 

 
(a) Except as provided in subdivision (b), in all leases of lands … the 
landlord may, upon giving notice in writing to the tenant, in the manner 
prescribed by Section 1162 of the Code of Civil Procedure, change the 
terms of the lease to take effect… 
 
…The notice, when served upon the tenant, shall in and of itself operate 
and be effectual to create and establish, as a part of the lease, the terms, 
rents, and conditions specified in the notice, if the tenant shall continue to 
hold the premises after the notice takes effect. 

(b) (1) In all leases of a residential dwelling, or of any interest therein… the 
landlord may increase the rent provided in the lease or rental agreement, 
upon giving written notice to the tenant, as follows, by either of the 
following procedures: 

(A) By delivering a copy to the tenant personally. 

(B) By serving a copy by mail under the procedures prescribed in 
Section 1013 of the Code of Civil Procedure. 

 “A rent increase is not permitted unless the notice meets the requirements of 
California Civil Code Section 827.” OMC 8.22.070H5. 

 

RECOMMENDED OUTCOME 
 
 The office of the City Attorney recommends that the matter be remanded to the 
Hearing Officer to making a finding as to whether the petitioner was a tenant in her own 
right when the rent increase notice was served, or if she is a subtenant or assignee of 
previous tenants. The Hearing Decision finds the rent increase invalid based on failure 
to comply with RAP Notice requirements and service requirements; it does not make a 
finding regarding whether the petitioner is a tenant or a subtenant. If the petitioner was 
already a tenant when the rent increase notice was served, the requirement to provide a 
RAP Notice in three languages would not apply since the tenancy commenced prior to 
September 2016. That being said, if petitioner was already a tenant, the rent increase 
would still be invalid on a number of other grounds, such as exceeded the allowable 
increase amount without prior RAP approval and violating the Rent Increase 
Moratorium. The outcome would therefore be the same (granting the tenant’s petition), 
but on different grounds. 
 
 On the other hand, if the petitioner was a subtenant or assignee of a previous 
tenant as opposed to a tenant in her own right at the time the rent increase notice was 



7 
 

served, it is not clear that failure to serve a RAP Notice in three languages would render 
the increase invalid. If the rent increase notice constituted the commencement of a new 
tenancy with the petitioner, the requirement to serve the RAP Notice in all three 
languages under OMC 8.22.060 would apply. However, the result of an owner’s failure 
to provide the required notice at the commencement of tenancy under OMC 8.22.060 
would be to dismiss the owner’s response and forfeit six months of the increase. OMC 
8.22.060 does not provide independent grounds to invalidate an otherwise valid 
increase. It is not clear whether failure to comply with commencement of tenancy 
requirements under OMC 8.22.060 would prohibit a landlord from setting the rent 
without limitation pursuant to Civil Code 1954.53. The provisions of OMC 8.22.070 do 
not apply to Costa-Hawkins increases; rather, OMC 8.22.080 would apply. OMC 
8.22.080 does not include any provisions regarding notice requirements or the effect of 
not complying with commencement of tenancy requirements under OMC 8.22.060. 
 
 There appears to be sufficient evidence in the record to support the finding that 
the petitioner was already a tenant at the time the rent increase notice was served, as 
opposed to being a sublessor or an assignee, and therefore this would not be a valid 
increase under Civil Code 1954.53.1 The order contained within the Hearing Decision 
would be the same (granting the tenant petition and setting the base rent to $1,178.00). 
However, the findings and conclusion supporting that order would need to be adjusted.  
 
 By not making a finding regarding the underlying substantive issue of whether 
the owner is entitled to a Civil Code 1954.53 increase, the Hearing Decision also leaves 
the door open for the owner to simply re-serve the same notice. The tenant could then 
once again file a petition contesting the increase, bringing us back to this same point. 
Therefore, it is advisable to amend the findings to address this issue.  

 
 

                                                            
1 This would be consistent with Cobb v. San Francisco Residential Rent Stabilization & Arb. Bd. (2002) 98 Cal. App. 
4th 345, 352. 



1 
 

                                 Rent Adjustment Program 

    

MEMORANDUM 

Date:     October 6, 2023 

To:     Members of the Housing, Rent Residential & Relocation     
                                  Board (HRRRB)     
 
From:    Braz Shabrell, Deputy City Attorney   

Re:  Appeal Memo and Recommendation in T23-0058, Brooks v. 
Campbell 

                          
Appeal Hearing Date:       October 12, 2023  
 

Property Address:   200 Frisbie Street #200, Oakland CA 

Appellant/Owner:  Severin Campbell 
 
Respondent/Tenant:  Cheri Brooks 
     

BACKGROUND 

 On May 1, 2023, tenant Cheri Brooks filed a petition contesting three rent 
increases:  

 $1105 to $1215.50, effective 10/1/15 
 $1215 to $1337.05, effective 10/1/16 
 $1337.05 to $1352.70, effective 2/1/23 

The petition alleged that the increases were above the allowable amount, were not 
properly served or lacked proper notice, and/or the tenant’s rent was not reduced after a 
prior increase period for capital improvements. The petition indicated that the tenant first 
received a RAP Notice in March 2015, and that the tenant received a RAP Notice with 
the rent increases in 2015 and 2016, but not 2023.  

 On May 4 and June 27, 2023, owner Severin Campbell filed a property owner 
response. Regarding the 2015 increase, the owner alleged that this was based on a 
1.7% CPI increase and a pass-through for capital improvement costs of 8.3%. The 2016 
increase was based on a 2% CPI increase and a pass through for capital improvement 



2 
 

costs of 8%. Both increases were served with a RAP Notice. In 2018, the owner 
received approval from RAP to increase the rent to $1,455, but the owner agreed to 
keep the rent at $1,337. On January 2, 2023, the owner notified the tenant that rent 
would increase to $1,352 based on CPI adjustments. The owner alleged that a total of 
$15,919 was approved for capital pass through, but that actual pass through paid by the 
tenant between October 2015 and August 2022 was $8,158. 

 The case was scheduled for a hearing on August 22, 2023. On August 21, 2023, 
the parties were notified that the hearing was cancelled because the Hearing Officer 
issued an Administrative Decision. 

RULING ON THE CASE 

 The Hearing Officer issued an Administrative Decision on August 22, 2023, 
granting the tenant’s petition in part. The 2023 increase was invalid because it was 
served without a RAP Notice, which was corroborated by the owner’s response.  

 The October 2015 increase from $1,105 to $1,215 was valid because it did not 
exceed 10%, and because the laws in effect at that time allowed owners to pass on 
capital improvement costs without needing prior approval from RAP. The 10% rent 
increase combined a 1.7% CPI increase ($18.79) with an 8.3% increase ($91.72) based 
on capital improvements. Although the increase was valid, the portion of the increase 
that was based on capital improvements ($91.72) should have expired after 60 months, 
which was September 30, 2020. Therefore, the Hearing Officer found that the tenant 
was entitled to restitution of $91.211 per month from October 2020 to August 2023, 
totaling $3,192.35.    

 The October 2016 increase was invalid because it exceeded 10%. In October 
2016, the tenant’s base rent increased from $1,123.79 to $1,146.26 due to a 2% CPI 
increase and a capital improvement pass through of $190.79 (16.98%), for a total rent 
increase of 18.98%. Therefore, the tenant is entitled to restitution for overpayments. 
Additionally, the 2016 pass-through ($190.79) should have expired after 60 months, 
which was September 30, 2021. Therefore, the Hearing Officer found the tenant was 
entitled to restitution of $190.79 per month from October 2021 to August 2023, totaling 
$4,388.17.  

 The Hearing Officer determined that the total restitution owed to the tenant due to 
overpayments was $13,742.93, dating back to 2016.    

GROUNDS FOR APPEAL 

 The owner filed a timely appeal. The owner claims that the Administrative 
Decision erred in three ways. First, the 2016 capital improvement pass-through was 

                                                            
1 This figure of $91.21 that was included in the calculation chart appears to have been a clerical error, since the 
actual pass‐through amount was $91.72. 



3 
 

only $99.07, not $190.79, and therefore the rent increase was only 10%, not 18.98%. 
Furthermore, the 2016 pass-through was reviewed by the Hearing Officer in L17-0191, 
when the owner filed a petition seeking a third capital improvement pass-through in 
2017 and was considered compliant with the rules in effect at that time. Since the 2016 
pass-through amount was only $99.07 and the total 2016 increase did not exceed 10%, 
$6,052.86 of the restitution award is not warranted.  

 Second, the Administrative Decision erred by assuming that the 2016 pass-
through continued between October 2021 and August 2023. The owner contends that it 
actually ended in June 2019. The tenant was advised of this in an email in October 
2020. Therefore, $4,388.17 of the restitution amount was not warranted.  

 Third, the Administrative Decision erred by assuming that the 2015 pass-through 
of $91.72 continued between October 2020 and August 2023. The owner contends that 
the 2015 pass-through ended in May 2018. The tenant was advised of this in an email 
in October 2020. This erroneous assumption resulted in an award of $3,192.35 in 
restitution that was not warranted. 

 Because the Hearing Officer did not hold a hearing, the owner did not have an 
opportunity to provide clarifying information or correct factual errors. In total, $13,633.38 
of the $13,742.93 restitution award was based on incorrect information. The owner 
submitted a spreadsheet summarizing the rental history with their response. However, 
because capital improvement costs were passed through in three different amounts, the 
spreadsheet may have been difficult to follow.   

 The owner does not deny that the 2023 rent increase was issued without a RAP 
Notice, and agrees that the tenant is owed $109.55 in restitution for overpayments 
between February 2023 and August 2023 based on the 2023 increase. 

ISSUES 

1. Is there substantial evidence to support the Hearing Officer’s calculations:  
a. The 2016 rent increase was $100.88 above the allowable amount of 

10%? 
b. The owner continued to charge the tenant for the 2015 pass-through 

after the amortization period ended, between October 2020 and 
August 2023?  

c. The owner continued to charge the tenant for the 2016 pass-through 
after the amortization period ended, between October 2021 and 
August 2023? 

2. Was the owner denied a sufficient opportunity to address the tenant’s claims 
and provide their response prior to the issuance of the Administrative 
Decision? 

 



4 
 

APPLICABLE LAW AND PAST BOARD DECISIONS 

Capital Improvement Pass-Throughs (2015-2016) 

 A landlord can pass on a percentage of costs spent on capital improvements to a 
tenant through a rent increase. Prior to 2017, owners were not required to file a 
petition prior to imposing capital improvement pass-throughs, and pass-through 
amounts were subject to a 60-month (5-year) amortization period2. Rent 
Regulations, Appendix A (effective 2015).  
 

 At the end of the 60-month period, the pass-through should expire. “The dollar 
amount of the rent increase justified by Capital Improvements shall be removed 
from the allowable rent in the sixty-first month or at the end of the extended 
amortization period.” Rent Regulations, Appendix A, sec. 10.2.3 (effective 2015). 
 

 Capital improvement pass-throughs are differently from other types of rent 
increases in that they do not adjust the tenant’s base rent, but rather are treated 
separately. Any CPI adjustments that are made during the amortization period 
should be calculated using the tenant’s base rent, exclusive of the capital 
improvement pass-through.  
 

 The total amount of any single rent increase cannot exceed 10%. OMC 
8.22.070A2. 

Expiration of Amortization Period 

 The Ordinance and Regulations do not specify exactly how the pass-through 
expires at the end of the amortization period—meaning, they do not require 
owners to provide a particular type of notice. The Regulations state that “[t]he 
dollar amount of the rent increase justified by Capital Improvements shall be 
removed from the allowable rent in the sixty-first month or at the end of the 
extended amortization period.” Regulations, Appendix A, 10.2.3.2 (effective 
2015).  
 

 “If an Owner fails to reduce a Capital Improvement Rent increase in the month 
following the end of the amortization period for such improvement and the Tenant 
pays any portion of such Rent increase after the end of the amortization period, 
the Tenant may recover interest on the amount overpaid.”  Regulations, Appendix 
A, 10.2.5.1 (effective 2015).  

 

 

                                                            
2 Now, capital improvement pass‐throughs are amortized over the useful life of the improvement, as set out in the 
amortization schedule included in the Regulations. 



5 
 

Tenant Petition Filing Requirements  

 A tenant may file a petition with RAP on the grounds that “[t]he owner fail[ed] to 
reduce rent on the month following the expiration of the amortization period for 
capital improvements[.]” OMC 8.22.090A1g. 
 

 The Ordinance is silent on the filing deadline for challenging an owner’s failure to 
reduce rent at the end of an amortization period. However, the deadline for 
challenging the rent increase itself is subject to OMC 8.22.090A2, which states 
that a tenant must file the petition within 60 or 120 days after receiving the rent 
increase notice (if the owner provided a RAP Notice at the inception of the 
tenancy), or within 90 days after the owner first serves a RAP Notice if one was 
not provided at the inception of the tenancy. 
  

RECOMMENDED OUTCOME 

 The office of the City Attorney recommends that the Board remand the case to 
the Hearing Officer for recalculation of the restitution amount and a hearing on the issue 
of the expiration of the pass-throughs. It appears that the Administrative Decision 
contains calculation errors, particularly regarding the 2016 increase. It is also unclear 
from the record whether the owner failed to reduce the rent following expiration of the 
2015 and 2016 capital improvement pass-throughs, and if this resulted in overpayment 
by the tenant.  

 The 2015 increase from $1,105 to $1,215 was an increase of $110, or 9.95%3. 
Of the 9.95%, 1.7% ($18.79) was based on CPI, with the remaining 8.25% ($91.72) 
based on capital improvement pass-through. The 1.7% CPI ($18.79) raised the base 
rent—exclusive of CI pass-through—from $1,105 to $1,123.79.  

 The 2016 increase from $1,2154 to $1,337.05 was an increase of $122.05, or 
10%. The CPI at the time was 2%, which permitted a CPI increase of $22.48.5 The 
remaining $99.57 of the increase ($122.05 - $22.48= $99.57) could be attributed to a 
capital improvement pass-through. The 2% CPI increase ($22.48) raised the base 
rent—exclusive of CI pass-through—from $1,123.79 to $1,146.27.  

 The Administrative Decision appears to calculate the 2016 increase incorrectly. 
The Decision states that the 2016 increase was 18.98%, rather than 10%. It also states 
that the capital improvement pass-through was $190.79, rather than $99.57. It appears 
that the Hearing Officer got the number $190.79 from the owner’s excel spreadsheet. 
However, the petition, rent increase notice, and rent ledger submitted by the tenant all 
indicate that the 2016 increase was from $1,215 to $1,337.05, which is an increase of 
                                                            
3 The Administrative Decision rounds this up to 10%. However, the increase was technically 9.95%.  
4 The rent increase notice states that the rent was being increased from $1,215.50. However, the tenant’s rent at 
the time was actually $1,215.  
5 CPI increases are calculated using base rent, exclusive of any CI pass‐through. Since the base rent was $1,123.79, 
2% amounted to $22.48.   



6 
 

$122.05, or 10%, which would have been permissible. It is unclear how the Hearing 
Officer arrived at $190.79 and 18.98%, rather than $99.57 and 10%, respectively. Since 
the 2016 increase does not exceed 10%, it appears to be valid.6 Furthermore, the 
tenant is likely time-barred from contesting a rent increase from 2016. 

 The Administrative Decision also assumes that the 2015 and 2016 captial 
improvement pass-throughs ($91.72 and $99.57, respectively) remained in effect 
through August 2023. It appears that the tenant’s rent remained $1,337.05 between 
October 2016 and January 2023. During this time, the owner received RAP approval for 
a $118.37 per month pass-through in 2018 and appears to have forgone any yearly 
increase based on CPI. It is not clear from the record whether the owner continued 
charging the tenant for the 2015 and 2016 pass-throughs after they expired, what the 
impact was of the 2018 hearing decision, and if the parties came to an agreement 
regarding the rental rate as suggested by the owner. 

 The City Attorney’s office recommends that the matter be remanded for 
recalculation and a hearing, unless the Board finds that there is sufficient evidence in 
the record to issue an amended decision without a hearing. Given the complexity and 
differing or incomplete information contained in the petition and response alone, it is a 
good idea to at least allow a limited scope hearing to address the issue of overpayment 
and to determine the impact, if any, of the capital improvement pass-through approved 
in 2018. 

   
 

                                                            
6 Furthermore, a petition contesting a rent increase must be filed within 90 days after service of the rent increase 
notice. OMC 8.22.090A2.   


	HRRRB Agenda & Packet- Full Board Special Meeting 10.12.2023.pdf
	Board Agenda 10.12.2023
	Board Minutes Full Board Special Meeting 9.28.2023.pdf
	T23-0019, Barragan et al v. Mead Holding LLC_Chron Case Report & Case Docs.pdf
	Tenant Petition.pdf
	Owner Response.pdf
	Tenant Evidence.pdf
	owner.pdf
	Admin Decision.pdf
	Owner Appeal.pdf
	Tenant Respondent Brief.pdf

	Chron. Case Report and Case Docs_T22-0015.pdf
	Chron. Case Report_T22-0015.pdf
	T22-0015_Tenant Petition&POS_2022.01.03.pdf
	T22-0015-PropertyOwner-Response_Proof of Service_2022.02.09.pdf
	FILING YOUR RESPONSE
	Although RAP normally does not accept filings by email or fax, RAP is temporarily accepting Responses via email during the COVID-19 local state of emergency. You may also fill out and submit your Response online through the RAP website or deliver the ...
	Rent Adjustment Program
	City of Oakland
	Use Rent Adjustment date-stamp to stamp your documents to verify timely delivery and place them in RAP self-service drop box.

	AFTER RESPONSE IS FILED
	FILE/DOCUMENT REVIEW

	T22-0015_Fleurentin v. MeridianMgt.Group_Admin._DecisionPOS_2022.03.16.pdf
	Laurie Fleurentin_Appeal Form_2022.4.4.pdf
	Laurie Fleurentin_Attachment to Appeal Form_2022.4.4.pdf
	Appeal Decision and POS_T22-0015 2022.06.30.pdf
	T22-0015_OwnerResponseAttachment_2022.02.09.pdf
	Email.pdf
	Exh A Lease Addendum 1-28-2013_T22-0015 2022.09.05
	Exh AA Guerrier letter (1 page) - 30 day intent to vacate 2-28-20_T22-0015 2022.09.05
	Exh AA Guerrier letter (1 page)_T22-0015 2022.09.05
	Exh B Rental Estoppel 8-28-18_T22-0015 2022.09.05
	Exh BB-1 Guerrier letter - 30 day intent to vacate 2-28-20_T22-0015 2022.09.05
	Exh BB-1 Guerrier letter_T22-0015 2022.09.05
	Exh CC MoneyGram 3-31-20_T22-0015 2022.09.05
	Exh D Email - Fleurentin 3-10-21_T22-0015 2022.09.05
	Exh DD N to Change Terms of T
	T22-0015_PetitionerExhibit_2022.01.03 7.pdf
	T22-0015_PetitionerExhibit_2022.01.03 9.pdf
	T22-0015_PetitionerExhibit_2022.01.03 8.pdf
	T22-0015_PetitionerExhibit_2022.01.03 10.pdf
	T22-0015_PetitionerExhibit_2022.01.03 11.pdf
	T22-0015_PetitionerExhibit_2022.01.03 12.pdf

	Exh EE Guerrier Notice of Intent to Vacate 2-28-20_T22-0015 2022.09.05
	Exh F Coleman Letter of Intent to Vacate 12-4-18_T22-0015 2022.09.05
	Exh FF email from Weingand to F Ledger
	T22-0015_PetitionerExhibit_2022.01.03 20.pdf
	T22-0015_PetitionerExhibit_2022.01.03 21.pdf
	T22-0015_PetitionerExhibit_2022.01.03 22.pdf
	T22-0015_PetitionerExhibit_2022.01.03 23.pdf

	Exh G Lease Addendum 12-9-13 B_T22-0015 2022.09.05
	Exh H Outstanding Rent Bal Owed
	Tenant Closing Brief_T22-0015 2023.01.25.pdf
	Landlord Closing Brief T22-0015 2023.01.25.pdf
	T22-0015__Remand Hearing Decision_2023.8.4.pdf
	Owner Appeal_T22-0015_ 2023.08.23.pdf
	Owner Appeal_T22-0015_ 2023.08.23.pdf
	ATTACHMENT TO APPEAL T22-0015 8.23.23.pdf

	Appeal Addendum_T22-0015_2023.09.07.pdf
	T22-0015 Appeal Addendum 9.7.23.pdf
	Notice of Rent Increase with POS to tenant & RAP 2020.04.16.pdf
	POS 9.7.23.pdf

	Tenant Petitioner Laurie Fleurentin Response to Landlord Appeal_T22-0015_2023.09.07.pdf
	1.pdf
	T22-0015_Business LicenseRenewalReceipt 2021_2022.02.09.pdf
	Business License Renewal 2022_T22-0015 2022.09.02.pdf
	T22-0015_Business LicenseProof of Service_2022.02.09 (1).pdf


	Chron. Case Report and Case Docs_T23-0058.pdf
	Chron. Case Report_T23-0058.pdf
	Tenant Petition T23-0058.pdf
	PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE TO TENANT PETITION T23-0058 2023.06.27.pdf
	CORRECTED PROOF OF SERVICE_Owner Response T23-0058 2023.05.04.pdf
	Online Submission_Owner Response T23-0058 2023.06.27.pdf
	Owner Submission_200 FRISBIE STREET RENTS & CAPITAL PASS THROUGH_T23-0058 2023.06.27.pdf
	Owner Submission_GMAIL - NOTICE OF RENT INCREASE MAY 2018_T23-0058 2023.06.27.PDF
	Owner Submission_GMAIL - RENT INCREASE OCT 1 2016_T23-0058 2023.06.27.PDF
	RECEIPT_2023 RAP PAYMENT_T23-0058 2023.06.27.PDF
	Tenant Evidence Submission_T23-0058 2023.08.10.pdf
	Administrative Decision_T23-0058_2023.8.24.pdf
	Owner Appeal_T23-0058_2023.08.29.pdf


	Appeal Recommendation_T23-0019, Barragan v. Mead Holding.pdf
	Appeal Recommendation_T23-0058, Brooks v. Campbell.pdf

	a FirstClass Mail I enclosed the documents in a sealed envelope or package: 
	0: Off
	1: On

	b: Off
	c Electronic Service DO NOT USE THIS SERVICE METHOD TO SERVE: On
	Name: Christa Conry
	Address: 
	City State Zip: 
	Email Address: cconry@heraca.org
	Text2: T22-0015 Appeal Addendum
	Text5: 7
	Name_2: Laurie Fleurentin
	Address_2: 
	City State Zip_2: 
	Email Address_2: loyfle10@gmail.com
	Name_3: 
	Address_3: 
	City State Zip_3: 
	Email Address_3: 
	Name_4: 
	Address_4: 
	City State Zip_4: 
	Email Address_4: 
	Name_5: 
	Address_5: 
	City State Zip_5: 
	Email Address_5: 
	Name_6: 
	Address_6: 
	City State Zip_6: 
	Email Address_6: 
	Name_7: 
	Address_7: 
	City State Zip_7: 
	Email Address_7: 
	Name_8: 
	Address_8: 
	City State Zip_8: 
	Email Address_8: 
	PRINT YOUR NAME: JR McConnell
	undefined: 
	Date3_af_date: September 7, 2023
	Date4_af_date: 9    7  23


